
  Planning Committee 
 Agenda 

 
 
Date: 
Wednesday 10 September 2025 at 1.30 pm 
 
Venue: 
Coucil Chamber, Dunedin House, Columbia Drive, Thornaby, TS17 6BJ 
 
 
Cllr Mick Stoker (Chair) 
Cllr Michelle Bendelow (Vice-Chair) 
 
Cllr Carol Clark, Cllr Dan Fagan, Cllr Lynn Hall, Cllr Elsi Hampton, Cllr Shakeel Hussain, 
Cllr Eileen Johnson, Cllr Tony Riordan, Cllr Andrew Sherris, Cllr Norma Stephenson OBE, 
Cllr Jim Taylor, Cllr Sylvia Walmsley and Cllr Barry Woodhouse 
 
 

Agenda 
 

1.  Evacuation Procedure (Pages 7 - 10) 
 

2.  Apologies for Absence  
 

3.  Declarations of Interest  
 

4.  Planning Protocol (Pages 11 - 12) 
 

5.  25/0672/FUL Land East Of Durham Lane, Eaglescliffe, Stockton On Tees(Pages 13 - 
56) 
 
Hybrid planning application comprising; 1. Full application for access and infrastructure 
works including provision of part of internal estate road and earthworks associated with re-
profiling of existing site levels for creation of development plateaus, drainage works, 
utilities infrastructure and temporary top soil storage.  2, Outline application with all matters 
reserved other than access for erection of employment buildings (Use Class E(g)(ii & iii), 
B2/B8 including ancillary offices Use Class E(g)(i)) and service yard areas, ancillary 
railway sidings and associated works. 
 

6.  24/0977/OUT  Little Maltby Farm, Low Lane, High Leven (Pages 57 - 96) 
 
Outline Planning Application (with all matters reserved except access) comprising a 
convenience foodstore and a parade of 4no convenience facilities (Use Class E) and 
associated outdoor terrace area.  Erection of retirement living apartments (use class C3) 
or residential care accommodation (use class C2) of approx. 60 bed spaces. Erection of 
4no self build residential plots (Use Class C3). Highway access to/from the A1104 Low 
Lane via Welwyn Road and Melandra Road connecting to northeast boundary, with 
associated landscaping, open space and associated works. 
 

7.  23/1111/COU  9 Portchester Close, Ingleby Barwick, Stockton-on-Tees(Pages 97 - 
116) 

Page 1



  Planning Committee 
 Agenda 

 
 
 
Change of use from residential (C3) to mixed use Commercial and Residential to 
allow for home business 
 

8.  25/1665/LA  Sponsored Roundabout Junction Council of Europe Boulevard, 
University Boulevard, Thornaby (Pages 117 - 130) 
 
Erection of a 1.50 metre brick/concrete base including placement of a Coffee Pot 
Engine atop (Planting of perimeter boundary hedge) 
 

9.  Appeals (Pages 131 - 146) 
 
1. Appeal - Julie Henderson - Land West of Woodland View - 24/1609/FUL - Appeal 
Dismissed 
2. Appeal - Mr David Grange - 25 St Brides Court - 24/2143/RET - Appeal Allowed 
3. Appeal - Mr and Mrs Kansal - Viewley Hill Farm - 22/1653/FUL - Appeal Dismissed 
 

Page 2



  Planning Committee 
 Agenda 

 
 
Members of the Public - Rights to Attend Meeting 
 
With the exception of any item identified above as containing exempt or confidential information under the 
Local Government Act 1972 Section 100A(4), members of the public are entitled to attend this meeting 
and/or have access to the agenda papers. 
 
Persons wishing to obtain any further information on this meeting, including the opportunities available   for 
any member of the public to speak at the meeting; or for details of access to the meeting for disabled people, 
please. 
 
Contact: Democratic Services Officer Sarah Whaley on email sarah.whaley@stockton.gov.uk 

Page 3



  Key – Declarable interests are :- 
  

●  Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI’s) 
●  Other Registerable Interests (ORI’s) 
●  Non Registerable Interests (NRI’s) 
 

Members – Declaration of Interest Guidance 

 

 
 

Page 4



   
 
 

Table 1 - Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Subject Description 

Employment,  
office, trade,  
profession or  
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain 

Sponsorship 

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the council) 
made to the councillor during the previous 12-month period for expenses incurred by 
him/her in carrying out his/her duties as a councillor, or towards his/her election 
expenses. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning 
of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts 

Any contract made between the councillor or his/her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/civil partners (or a 
firm in which such person is a partner, or an incorporated body of which such person 
is a director* or  
 
a body that such person has a beneficial interest in the securities of*) and the council 
—  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; 
and  
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land and 
property 

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the council.  
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does 
not give the councillor or his/her spouse or civil partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were spouses/ civil partners (alone or jointly with another) 
a right to occupy or to receive income. 

Licences 
Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the council for a 
month or longer. 

Corporate 
tenancies 

Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s knowledge)—  
(a) the landlord is the council; and  
(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor, or his/her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/ civil partners is a 
partner of or a director* of or has a beneficial interest in the securities* of. 

Securities 

Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body where—     
(a) that body (to the councillor’s   knowledge) has a place of business or   land in the 
area of the council; and     
(b) either—     
(i) the total nominal value of the   securities* exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that body; or     
(ii)      if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which the councillor, or his/ her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/civil 
partners have a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class. 

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident society. 
 
* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment 
scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any 
description, other than money deposited with a building society. 
 
 
 

Page 5



   
 
 

 

Table 2 – Other Registerable Interest 

You must register as an Other Registrable Interest: 
 
a) any unpaid directorships 
 
b) any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control or management and to which 
you are nominated or appointed by your authority  
 
c) any body  
 
(i) exercising functions of a public nature  
 
(ii) directed to charitable purposes or  
 
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy (including any political 
party or trade union) of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management 

Page 6



 

Council Chamber, Dunedin House 
Evacuation Procedure & Housekeeping 
 
Entry 
 
Entry to the Council Chamber is via the Council Chamber entrance indicated on the map 
below.  
 

 
 

In the event of an emergency alarm activation, everyone should immediately start to leave 
their workspace by the nearest available signed Exit route.  
 
The emergency exits are located via the doors on either side of the raised seating area at 
the front of the Council Chamber.  
 
Fires, explosions, and bomb threats are among the occurrences that may require the 
emergency evacuation of Dunedin House. Continuous sounding and flashing of the Fire 
Alarm is the signal to evacuate the building or upon instruction from a Fire Warden or a 
Manager.  
 
The Emergency Evacuation Assembly Point is in the overflow car park located across the 
road from Dunedin House.  
 
The allocated assembly point for the Council Chamber is: D2 
 
Map of the Emergency Evacuation Assembly Point - the overflow car park: 

Page 7

Agenda Item 1



 

 
All occupants must respond to the alarm signal by immediately initiating the evacuation 
procedure. 
 
When the Alarm sounds: 
 

1. stop all activities immediately. Even if you believe it is a false alarm or practice 
drill, you MUST follow procedures to evacuate the building fully. 
 

2. follow directional EXIT signs to evacuate via the nearest safe exit in a calm and 
orderly manner. 
 

o do not stop to collect your belongings 
o close all doors as you leave 

 
3. steer clear of hazards. If evacuation becomes difficult via a chosen route because 

of smoke, flames or a blockage, re-enter the Chamber (if safe to do so). Continue 
the evacuation via the nearest safe exit route. 
 

4. proceed to the Evacuation Assembly Point. Move away from the building. Once 
you have exited the building, proceed to the main Evacuation Assembly 
Point immediately - located in the East Overflow Car Park. 
 

o do not assemble directly outside the building or on any main roadway, to 
ensure access for Emergency Services. 
 

Page 8



 

5. await further instructions. 
 

o do not re-enter the building under any circumstances without an “all 
clear” which should only be given by the Incident Control Officer/Chief Fire 
Warden, Fire Warden or Manager. 

o do not leave the area without permission. 
o ensure all colleagues and visitors are accounted for. Notify a Fire Warden 

or Manager immediately if you have any concerns 
 
Toilets 
 
Toilets are located immediately outside the Council Chamber, accessed via the door at 
the back of the Chamber.  
 
Water Cooler 
 
A water cooler is available at the rear of the Council Chamber. 
 
Microphones 
 
During the meeting, members of the Committee, and officers in attendance, will have 
access to a microphone. Please use the microphones, when invited to speak by the Chair, 
to ensure you can be heard by the Committee and those in attendance at the meeting. 
 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

Planning Committee Procedure 

1. Officers present the report to Members 

2. Members of the public, applicants and agents speak for/against the application, 3 minutes 

each 

3. Officers respond to any queries/misinformation which may have been raised as a result of 

public speaking  

4. Members discuss the application in general and seek clarification from Officers/agents if 

necessary 

5. Officers respond to any points raised by Members and give a brief summary of the 

proposal in view of comments raised 

6. If it looks as if the application may go contrary to officer recommendation, Members 

debate and propose the possible reasons for the decision and the lead planning and legal 

representatives and other officers will advise which reasons are acceptable or not. Members 

respond on whether they wish to vary the reasons accordingly  

7. Following the discussion, Members will be asked to confirm and then agree the reasons 

upon which they will rely if they vote for refusal of the application 

8. Members vote on the officer recommendation or any alternative motion successfully 

carried 

9. If the decision taken is contrary to officer recommendation, the Planning Officer, and Legal 

Representative are given the appropriate amount of time to discuss whether the protocol for 

decisions contrary to officer recommendation should be invoked and that the committee and 

members of the public be informed of the outcome of that decision 

10. The next application is then debated 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 

 

DELEGATED AGENDA NO 

 PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 10 September 2025 

 REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF 

INCLUSIVE GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT  

 
 
25/0672/FUL 
Land East Of Durham Lane, Eaglescliffe, Stockton On Tees 
Hybrid planning application comprising; 
1. Full application for access and infrastructure works including provision of part of internal 
estate road and earthworks associated with re-profiling of existing site levels for creation of 
development plateaus, drainage works, utilities infrastructure and temporary top soil storage.  
2, Outline application with all matters reserved other than access for erection of employment 
buildings (Use Class E(g)(ii & iii), B2/B8 including ancillary offices Use Class E(g)(i)) and 
service yard areas, ancillary railway sidings and associated works.  
 
Expiry Date:   4 July 2025 
Extension of Time Date: 12 September 2025 
 
SUMMARY 
 
This application is a Hybrid planning application which will secure the access and infrastructure 
works to unlock the site for development.  The Full application includes the provision of part of an 
internal estate road and earthworks associated with re-profiling of existing site levels to create the 
development plateaus along with the associated drainage works, utilities infrastructure and 
temporary top soil storage.  
 
One the works are undertaken the site will be marketed for future Developers to come forward and 
this is the outline aspect for the erection of employment buildings (Use Class E(g)(ii & iii), B2/B8 
including ancillary offices Use Class E(g)(i)) and service yard areas, ancillary railway sidings and 
associated works.  
 
The application site is allocated in the local plan for B2/B8 development and therefore the proposal 
fully accords with planning policy.  There have been a number of objections which have been 
considered in full and there are no planning policy reasons to refuse the application.  
 
The proposal is considered to be acceptable in planning terms in all other regards and is 
recommended for approval subject to those conditions detailed within the report.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
That planning application 25/0672/FUL be approved subject to the following conditions and 
informatives; 
 
CONDITIONS RELEVANT TO THE FULL APPLICATION  
 
01 Time Limit 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date 
of this permission. 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Reason: By virtue of the provision of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended). 
 
02 Approved Plans 
The development hereby approved shall be in accordance with the following approved plan(s);  
 
Plan Reference Number Date Received  Details 

7280-055B 2 April 2025  Location Plan 

7280-057B 2 April 2025  Area A Boundary Plan 

7280-058D 2 April 2025  Proposed Area A Masterplan   

7280-059D 2 April 2025 Proposed Surface Treatment 

   

Reason:  To define the consent. 
 
03 Site Levels  
Notwithstanding the submitted plans. Other than site preparation works shall not commenced until 
details of the existing and proposed levels of the site and any earth retention measures (including 
calculations where such features support the adopted highway) shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure that earth-moving operations, retention features and the final landforms resulting 
are structurally sound, compliment and not detract from the visual amenity or integrity of existing 
natural features and habitats. 
 
04 Retained Habitat  
Notwithstanding the submitted plans, plans shall be updated to show the retained landscaping 
around the western development plot.    Where landscaping is to be removed this shall be replaced 
in accordance with a scheme to be submitted and approved in writing with the local planning 
authority.  The scheme shall be implemented in full in the first planting season following the 
completion of the infrastructure works. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 
 
05 Ecology and Biodiversity  
Works shall be undertaken in accordance with the mitigation and recommendations of the 
documents; 

• Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA)  Report Ref. ER-7553-05.3  dated 06/02/2025 

• Bat Activity Survey Report (Ref ER-7553-04.2 ) dated 06/02/2025   

• Climbing Survey (ref: SI-7553-02)  
Any works on site that require clearing areas of scrub and vegetation in advance of any proposed 
development should be completed during the period September to February to avoid any disturbance 
to breeding birds between 1st March and 31st August.  
 
Where clearance does take place during the bird breeding season, a pre-clearance check of the 
area should be carried out by a suitability qualified ecologist. 
 
Reason: To conserve protected species and their habitat where necessary 
 
06 Ecology Survey 
If work does not commence within 2 years from the date of the submitted ecology survey, a maximum 
of three months before works commencing on site a suitably qualified ecologist shall undertake a 
checking survey to ensure that no protected species or their habitat are present on site.  The results 

Page 14



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

of the survey shall be submitted and approved in writing by the local planning authority and identify 
any additional or revised mitigation measures required  
 
Reason: To conserve protected species and their habitat where necessary 
 
07 Construction Environmental Management Plan 
Other than site preparation works, no part of the development hereby approved shall commence 
until a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP shall set out, as a minimum, site specific 
measures to control and monitor impact arising in relation to noise and vibration, dust and air 
pollutants, land contamination and ecology.  The CEMP shall include measures to effectively control 
dust emissions from the site works, this shall address earth moving activities, control and treatment 
of stock piles. It shall also set out arrangements by which the developer shall maintain 
communication with businesses and residential premises in the vicinity of the site, and by which the 
developer shall monitor and document compliance with the measures set out in the CEMP. The 
development shall be carried out in full accordance with the approved CEMP at all times. 
 
Reason: In the interests of protecting the environment. 
 
08 BNG  
Prior to the commencement of work an Overall Biodiversity Gain Plan must be submitted to and 
approved by the planning authority before the development can begin; and thereafter a Phase 
Biodiversity Gain Plan for each phase must be submitted to and approved by the planning authority 
before the development of that phase can begin. 
 
Reason: In the interests of ensuring measurable net gains to biodiversity 
 
09 Means of Enclosure 
Prior to installation of any means of enclosure, full details shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason:  In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality. 
 
10 Lighting  
Prior to commencement of works, other than site clearances and preparation works, details of the 
external appearance of all external lighting of roads and, including colour and luminance shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority before such lighting is erected. 
The lighting shall be installed in accordance with the agreed details and be in place prior to 
occupation.  
 
Reason: To avoid light pollution in the interests of the visual amenities of the area  
 
11 Construction Traffic Management Plan  
Other than site preparation works, prior to the commencement of development, a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan shall be submitted and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority (in 
consultation with the Highway Authority for the A66) and shall provide details of  the routing of all 
HGVs movements associated with the construction phases, parking for use during construction and 
measures to protect any existing footpaths and verges, vehicle movements, wheel cleansing, 
sheeting of vehicles, offsite dust/odour monitoring and communication with local residents.   Work 
shall be undertaken in accordance with the agreed details. 
 
Reason: To ensure the impact of the development is sufficiently controlled and to mitigate any 
adverse impact from the development on the A66 in accordance with DfT Circular 01/2022.” 
 
12 Maintenance and management of a Sustainable Surface Water Drainage Scheme  

Page 15



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Other than site preparation works, the development hereby approved shall not be commenced on 
site, until a scheme for ‘the maintenance and management of a Sustainable Surface Water Drainage 
Scheme has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall be implemented and thereafter managed and maintained in accordance with the 
approved details, the scheme shall include but not be restricted to providing the following details; 
I.   A build programme and timetable for the provision of the critical surface water drainage 
infrastructure;  
II.   A management plan detailing how surface water runoff from the site will be managed during 
the construction phase; 
 
Reason:  To ensure the site is developed in a manner that will not increase the risk of surface 
water flooding to site or surrounding area, in accordance with the Local Plan Policies SD5 & ENV4 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
13 Drainage: Environment Agency  
No drainage systems for the infiltration of surface water to the ground are permitted other than with 
the written consent of the local planning authority. Any proposals for such systems must be 
supported by an assessment of the risks to controlled waters. The development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reasons: To ensure that the development does not contribute to and is not put at unacceptable risk 
from or adversely affected by unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by mobilised 
contaminants. This is in line with paragraph 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
14 Construction/ Demolition Noise 
No construction/building works or deliveries shall be carried out except between the hours of 
8.00am and 6.00pm on Mondays to Fridays and between 9.00am and 1.00pm on Saturdays. There 
shall be no construction activity including demolition on Sundays or on Bank Holidays.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development does not prejudice the enjoyment of neighbouring 
occupiers of their properties. 
 
15 Unexpected Land Contamination  
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved development 
that was not previously identified, works must be halted on that part of the site affected by the 
unexpected contamination and it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning 
Authority.  An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken to the extent specified by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to resumption of the works. Following completion of measures 
identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification report must be submitted in writing and 
approval by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure any unknown contaminative features encountered during the development are 
investigated and remediated to an acceptable standard. 
 
CONDITIONS RELEVANT TO THE OUTLINE APPLICATION  
 
01 Reserved Matters - Time Period for submission  
Application for the approval of reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning Authority before 
the expiration of 10 years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: By virtue of the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
02 Period for Commencement 

Page 16



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of 8 years from the 
date of this permission, or before the expiration of 2 years from the date of approval of the last of the 
reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the latest. 
 
Reason: By virtue of the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
03 Reserved Matters – Details 
Notwithstanding the submitted plans, approval of the details of the Appearance, Landscaping, Layout 
and Scale of the development known as the ‘Reserved Matters’ shall be obtained in writing from the 
Local Planning Authority before the development is commenced. The development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved plans 
 
Reason: To reserve the rights of the Local Planning Authority with regard to these matters   
 
04 Approved Plans 
The development hereby approved shall be in accordance with the following approved plan(s);  
 

Plan Reference Number Date Received  

7280-055B 2 April 2025  

   

Reason:  To define the consent 
 
05 Ecology and Biodiversity  
Works shall be undertaken in accordance with the mitigation and recommendations of the submitted 
Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA)  Version 3 dated 06/02/2025 

• Bat Activity Survey Report (Ref ER-7553-04.2 ) dated 06/02/2025   

• Climbing Survey (ref: SI-7553-02)  
Any works on site that require clearing areas of scrub and vegetation in advance of any proposed 
development should be completed during the period September to February to avoid any disturbance 
to breeding birds between 1st March and 31st August.  
 
Where clearance does take place during the bird breeding season, a pre-clearance check of the 
area should be carried out by a suitability qualified ecologist. 
 
Reason: To conserve protected species and their habitat where necessary 
 
06 Ecology Survey 
If work does not commence on each phase within 2 years from the date of the submitted ecology 
survey, a maximum of three months before works commencing on site a suitably qualified ecologist 
shall undertake a checking survey to ensure that no protected species or their habitat are present 
on site.  The results of the survey shall be submitted and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority and identify any additional or revised mitigation measures required  
 
Reason: To conserve protected species and their habitat where necessary 
 
07 BNG  
Prior to the commencement of work an Overall Biodiversity Gain Plan must be submitted to and 
approved by the planning authority before the development can begin; and thereafter a Phase 
Biodiversity Gain Plan for each phase must be submitted to and approved by the planning authority 
before the development of that phase can begin. 
 
Reason: In the interests of ensuring measurable net gains to biodiversity 
 
08 Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP)  

Page 17



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Prior to commencement of each phase a Habitat Management Monitoring Plan (HMMP) for that 
phase shall be prepared in accordance with the approved Phase Biodiversity Gain Plan and shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The HMMP shall include  
(a) a non-technical summary; 
(b) the roles and responsibilities of the people or organisation(s) delivering the HMMP;  
(c) the planned habitat creation and enhancement works to create or improve habitat to achieve the 
biodiversity net gain in accordance with the approved Biodiversity Gain Plan;  
(d) the management measures to maintain habitat in accordance with the approved Biodiversity Gain 
Plan for a period of 30 years from the practical completion of the development or the first occupation 
of the development, whichever is the sooner; and  
(e) the monitoring methodology and frequency in respect of the created or enhanced habitat to be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority. Monitoring reports should be submitted to the Council 
during years 2,5, 7, 10, 20 and 30 from commencement of development unless otherwise stated in 
the Biodiversity Management Plan, demonstrating how the BNG is progressing towards achieving 
its objectives, evidence of arrangements and any rectifying measures needed. 
 
Reason: To ensure the proposed habitat creation and/or enhancements are suitably managed and 
monitored to ensure development delivers a biodiversity net gain in accordance with Schedule 7A of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
 
09 Construction Environmental Management Plan 

No part of the development of each phase hereby approved shall commence until a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) for that phase has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP for each phase shall set out, as a minimum, site 
specific measures to control and monitor impact arising in relation to noise and vibration, dust and 
air pollutants, land contamination and ecology.  The CEMP shall include measures to effectively 
control dust emissions from the site works, in accordance with an impact assessment undertaken in 
accordance with the IAQM guidance, this shall address earth moving activities, control and treatment 
of stockpiles. It shall also set out arrangements by which the developer shall maintain communication 
with businesses and residential premises in the vicinity of the site, and by which the developer shall 
monitor and document compliance with the measures set out in the CEMP. The development shall 
be carried out in full accordance with the approved CEMP at all times.  The CEMP shall be updated 
for each phase if appropriate. 

Reason: In the interests of protecting the environment. 

10 Construction Traffic Management Plan  
Other than site preparation works, prior to the commencement of each phase of development, a 
Construction Traffic Management Plan for that phase shall be submitted and agreed in writing with 
the Local Planning Authority (in consultation with the Highway Authority for the A66) and shall 
provide details of  the routing of all HGVs movements associated with the construction phases, 
parking for use during construction and measures to protect any existing footpaths and verges, 
vehicle movements, wheel cleansing, sheeting of vehicles, offsite dust/odour monitoring and 
communication with local residents.   Work shall be undertaken in accordance with the agreed 
details.   
 
Reason: To ensure the impact of the development is sufficiently controlled and to mitigate any 
adverse impact from the development on the A66 in accordance with DfT Circular 01/2022.” 
 
11 Submission of Landscaping Scheme 
Prior to commencement of works on each phase, a soft landscaping scheme shall be submitted as 
part of any reserved matters application which includes landscaping.  Development which includes 
the eastern boundary shall include planting along the eastern edge of the site adjacent to the railway.  
The scheme must comply with CAST Advice Note 3, 'Wildlife Hazards' available at CAST Advice 

Page 18



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Note 3- Wildlife Hazards Around an Aerodrome.  These details shall include the species, number 
and spacing of trees and shrubs.  Thereafter no subsequent alterations to the approved landscaping 
scheme are to take place unless submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 
 
Reason: To avoid endangering the safe movement of aircraft and the operation of Teesside 
International Airport through the attraction of birds and an increase in the bird hazard risk of the 
application site. 
 
12 Maintenance – Softworks 
Prior to occupation of the first unit/building in each phase full details of proposed soft landscape 
management for that phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The soft landscape management plan shall include maintenance access routes to 
demonstrate operations can be undertaken from publicly accessible land, long term design 
objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscape areas/ 
retained vegetation, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
and implemented in accordance with the approved plan prior to the occupation of each phase of the 
development.  
Any vegetation within a period of 5 years from the date of completion of the total works in that phase 
that is dying, damaged, diseased or in the opinion of the Local planning Authority is failing to thrive 
shall be replaced by the same species of a size at least equal to that of the adjacent successful 
planting in the next planting season.  
Landscape maintenance shall be detailed for the initial 5 year establishment from date of completion 
of the total scheme regardless of any phased development period followed by a long-term 
management plan for a period of 20 years. The landscape management plan shall be carried out as 
approved. 
 
Reason:  To ensure satisfactory landscaping to improve the appearance of the site in the interests 
of visual amenity. 
 
13 Cycle Storage 
Prior to the occupation of each building, a scheme for cycle parking, in broad accordance with SPD3 
(Parking Provision for New developments) shall be submitted and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented in full and retained for the life of the 
development. 
 
Reason: in the interests of providing sustainable travel options for the site. 
 
14 Electric Vehicle Charging 
A scheme for the provision of electrical charging points for the charging of electrical motor vehicles, 
shall be submitted and approved in writing by the local planning authority for each phase of 
development.  The charging points shall be in place prior to the occupation of the building in each 
phase. 
 
Reason:-to ensure a satisfactory form of development 
 
15 Waste Storage 
Prior to the occupation of each building/unit, a scheme for secure refuse storage shall be submitted 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority for each building/unit. The scheme shall be 
implemented in full and retained for the life of the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development. 
 
16 Glint and Glare  

Page 19



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

No solar photovoltaic panels shall be fixed in place until the developer has completed a "Glint and 
Glare Assessment" which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Installation, operation, and maintenance of the solar photovoltaic panels shall thereafter 
be in accordance with the approved "Glint and Glare Assessment. 
 
The glint and glare study shall also consider the effect the proposal will have on the operation of the 
adjacent railway particularly in terms of signal sighting and driver distraction.  This shall include glint 
and glare from solar PV as well as glazing and reflective surfaces in adjacent buildings that could 
distract train drivers and/or obscure and conflict with rail signals.  Thereafter, the development shall 
be completed in accordance with the any recommendations and mitigation in the approved Glint and 
Glare Assessment. 
 
Reason: To ensure to safe operation of the railway and Air Traffic Control facilities and pilots. 
 
17 Lighting;  
Prior to commencement of works on each phase of development, other than site clearances and 
preparation works, details of the external appearance of all external lighting, including colour and 
luminance shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority before such 
lighting is erected. The lighting shall be installed in accordance with the agreed details and be in 
place prior to occupation.  
 
Reason: To avoid light pollution in the interests of the visual amenities of the area and to ensure 
the safe operation of the railway  
 
18 Means of Enclosure 
Prior to installation, details of the means of enclosure shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority for each phase of development.  Such means of enclosure shall be 
erected before the development hereby approved is occupied.   This shall include a suitable trespass 
proof fence adjacent to Network Rail’s boundary (minimum 1.8m high) and make provision for its 
future renewal and maintenance. Network Rail’s existing fencing/wall must not be removed or 
damaged 
 
Reason:  In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality and to ensure the safety of the railway 
is maintained  
 
19 Vehicle Incursion Measures  
Each phase of development shall include a risk assessment to the railway and where appropriate 
that phase shall include the detailed design and a timetable for the installation of suitable vehicle 
incursion measures (An Armco or similar barrier).  The measures shall be implemented in 
accordance with the agreed timetable. 
 
Reason: To ensure the ongoing safety, operational needs and integrity of the railway are secured. 
 
20 Energy Efficiency  
Prior to the erection of any building in each phase, an Energy Statement shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for each phase of development. The statement 
shall identify the predicted energy consumption, the associated CO2 emissions and how the energy 
hierarchy has been applied to the development, including an investigation into the feasibility and 
viability of connection to decentralised energy networks for heat and power and the achievement of 
a “Very Good” BREEAM rating for the scheme. The statement shall set out the feasibility and viability 
of achieving a minimum 10% reduction in CO2 emissions from the development, over and above 
current Building Regulations Part L requirements, or a minimum of 10% of the total predicted energy 
requirements of the development will be generated from renewable energy sources. Development 
shall be carried out thereafter in a manner that incorporates any feasible and viable measures 
identified. 

Page 20



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Reason: Reason: In the interests of promoting sustainable development in accordance with the 
requirements of Local Plan Policies ENV1 and ENV3. 
 
21 Noise disturbance from New Plant  
The rating level of sound emitted from any fixed plant, associated with each phase of the 
development shall not exceed background sound levels by more than 5dB (A) between the hours of 
0700-2300 (taken as a 1-hour LA90 at the nearest residential sound sensitive premises) and shall 
not exceed the background sound level between 2300-0700 (taken as a 15 minute LA90 at the 
nearest residential sound sensitive premises). All measurements and/or calculations shall be made 
in accordance with the methodology of BS4142: 2014 (Methods for rating and assessing industrial 
and commercial sound) and/or its subsequent amendments.  
 
The rating level of sound emitted from any fixed plant shall not exceed 50 dB in the daytime at The 
Tees Valley Community Church as presented in Table 4.11 of the BWB noise impact assessment 
(reference: DLE-BWB-ZZ-XX-T-YA-0001_NIA), unless agreed with the local authority. All 
measurements and/or calculations shall be made in accordance with the methodology of BS4142: 
2014 (Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound) and/or its subsequent 
amendments. 
 
Where measurements are required, and access to the nearest sound sensitive property is not 
possible, measurements shall be undertaken at an appropriate location, to be agreed with the local 
authority.  
 
Any deviations from the LA90 time interval stipulated above shall be agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. 

  

Reason: To protect the amenities of nearby residents.  
  
Reason: To protect the amenities of nearby residents.  
 
22 Noise  
Prior to the erection of any buildings in each phase , a noise assessment, including low frequency 
noise (where relevant) shall be submitted and approved for each phase and shall include an 
assessment for:  
- The increased use of railway movements to the proposal as well as any loading/ unloading or 

vibration associated with such activities should they be proposed. Vibration levels should not 
exceed levels detailed in Vibration from Railway condition 24 ‘ 

- Noise breakout of the proposed units and yard areas should be assessed assuming a worst case 
noise scenario for internal noise associated with the planning use classification sought.  
Operational noise shall not exceed background levels by more than 5dB(A) during the day 0700-
2300hrs or exceed the background level at all during the night 2300- 0700hrs. Where necessary 
mitigation measures should be proposed and thereafter implemented in accordance with the 
agreed scheme. 

- An assessment should be made to determine the sound level change in the area and how much 
the proposal will cause an increase on existing LAeq levels. This should be included within the 
assessment for the full site and railway.  

-  
Reason:  In the interest of protecting the residents and businesses from noise and disturbance  
 
 
23 Construction Noise Report  
A noise report for construction noise should be undertaken by a noise consultant and should be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to construction work 

Page 21



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

commencing in each phase.  As part of the noise report for each phase the existing ambient noise 
levels at the nearest residential properties should be obtained and the noise levels of each proposed 
construction activity to be undertaken in that phase should be calculated to the nearest residential 
properties.  The assessment and impact of the construction noise should be undertaken in 
accordance with the ABC method and table E.1 of BS5228 where the ambient noise level should be 
rounded to the nearest 5dB to determine the appropriate threshold value.  Suitable mitigation 
measures should be implemented where the construction noise is predicted to exceed the 
appropriate threshold value. 
 
Reason:  In the interest of protecting the residents and businesses from noise and disturbance during 
construction. 
 
24 Vibration from Railway  
Prior to the construction of the new railways sidings and the delivery of freight via rail, a vibration 
impact assessment should be undertaken in accordance with BS6472:2008 ‘Guide to valuation of 
human exposure to vibration in buildings’ to assess the impact on the nearby residential properties.  
The levels of vibration should not exceed the values of ‘low probability of adverse comment’ in 
Section 6, Table 1.  Should these levels be exceeded then mitigation measures will be required to 
reduce the levels of vibration to within these values.  The report and any mitigation measures should 
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority, approved in writing, and implemented prior to 
occupation of the development.  

 
Reason:  In the interest of protecting the residents and businesses from noise and disturbance  

 
25 Paint spraying 
No paint spraying shall be carried out except in a properly constructed part of the building to which 
suitable filtration equipment has been fitted in accordance with a scheme to be submitted and 
approved in writhing by the Local Planning Authority.   
 
Reason:  In the interest of protecting the residents and businesses from odour  
 
26 Odour Assessment Report   
Prior to the erection of any building within each phase, if odour emitting uses are proposed, a detailed 
report in accordance with ‘IAQM: Guidance on the Assessment of Odour for Planning’ shall be 
submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The assessment should detail odour 
generating activities/ sources and suitable mitigation/ management measures to reduce the level of 
odour. Should mitigation measures be proposed these should be retained for the lifetime of the 
development 
 
Reason:  In the interest of protecting the residents and businesses from adverse odour impacts 
 
27 Contaminated Land Gas Risk Assessment. 
Other than site clearance works, no development of each phase approved by this outline planning 
permission shall take place until a scheme for that phase that includes the following components to 
deal with the gas identified in site investigation has been submitted and approved, in writing, by the 
local planning authority: 
A further gas risk assessment of ground gas for each phase based on the submitted Site 
Investigation (Northpoint, Ref NP230612, May 2024). It is advised the assessment is a localised 
assessment and is based on the specific land use and plot. 
The results of the assessment for each phase referred to above shall be submitted with an options 
appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures required and how 
they are to be undertaken. 
A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to demonstrate that the 
works set out in the remediation strategy in (2) are complete 

Page 22



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The gas risk assessment for any phase shall be carried out in accordance with the Environment 
Agencies “Land Contamination Risk Management" Guidance (2023) and CIRIA C665: “Assessing 
Risks Posed by Hazardous Ground Gases to Buildings” with a minimum of at least two sets of 
readings as low and falling atmospheric pressure, and at least six ground gas-monitoring rounds 
over a three-month period. Any changes to these components require the express written consent 
of the local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development does not  contribute to or be adversely affected by 
unacceptable levels of water and land pollution.  
 
28 Discharge of Surface Water  
Prior to the commencement of each phase  a scheme for 'the implementation, maintenance and 
management of a Sustainable Surface Water Drainage Scheme for that phase shall first be   
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Details must comply with CAST Advice Note 3 'Wildlife Hazards around an Aerodrome'.  The scheme 
shall be implemented and thereafter managed and maintained in accordance with the approved 
details, the scheme shall include but not be restricted to providing the following details for each 
phase; 
I. Detailed design of the surface water management system; (for each phase of the 
development). Including Attenuation times; Profiles & dimensions of water bodies and details of 
marginal planting  
II. A build programme and timetable for the provision of the critical surface water drainage 
infrastructure;  
III. A management plan detailing how surface water runoff from the site will be managed during 
the construction phase; 
IV. Details of adoption responsibilities-  
No subsequent alterations to the approved SUDS scheme are to take place unless first submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented as 
approved. 
 
Reason: To ensure the site is developed in a manner that will not increase the risk of surface water 
flooding to site or surrounding area including Network Rail assets, and to avoid endangering the safe 
movement of aircraft and the operation of Teesside International Airport through the attraction of 
Birds and an increase in the bird hazard risk of the application site.  
 
29 Drainage Masterplan 
The development hereby approved shall not be commenced on site, until a suitable Drainage 
Masterplan for the SuDS scheme for any phase has first been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason:  To ensure the site is developed in a manner that will not increase the risk of surface water 
flooding to site or surrounding area, in accordance with the Local Plan Policies SD5 & ENV4 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
30 Drainage: Environment Agency 
No drainage systems for the infiltration of surface water to the ground are permitted for any phase 
other than with the written consent of the local planning authority. Any proposals for such systems 
must be supported by an assessment of the risks to controlled waters. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reasons: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at unacceptable risk 
from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by mobilised 
contaminants. This is in line with paragraph 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
31 Discharge of Surface Water  

Page 23



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

No building(s) in each phase shall be brought into use until:- 
 
I. Requisite elements of the approved surface water management scheme for that phase or 
the relevant part of that phase  are in place and fully operational to serve said building 
II. The drawings of all Suds features for that phase have been submitted and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority, the drawings should highlight all site levels, including the 30year 
and 100year+cc flood levels and confirmation of storage capacity    
III. A Management and maintenance plan of the approved Surface Water Drainage scheme for 
that phase has been submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, this should 
include the funding arrangements and cover the lifetime of the development 
 
Reason:  To reduce flood risk and ensure satisfactory long-term maintenance are in place for the 
lifetime of the development. 
 
32 Submission of a Bird Hazard Management Plan 
Development shall not commence on each phase until a Bird Hazard Management Plan for that 
phase  has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted 
plan shall include details of the  management of any flat/shallow pitched/green roofs on buildings 
within the site which may be attractive to nesting, roosting and "loafing" birds. The management plan 
shall comply with CAST Advice Note 3 'Wildlife Hazards Around Aerodromes'  
 
The Bird Hazard Management Plan shall be implemented as approved, on completion of the 
development and shall remain in force for the life of the building(s). No subsequent alterations to the 
plan are to take place unless first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  
 
Reason: It is necessary to manage and flat shallow pitched roofs in order to minimise its 
attractiveness to birds which could endanger the safe movement of aircraft and the operation of 
Teesside International Airport 
 
33 Construction/ Demolition Noise 
No construction/building works or deliveries shall be carried out except between the hours of 8.00am 
and 6.00pm on Mondays to Fridays and between 9.00am and 1.00pm on Saturdays. There shall be 
no construction activity including demolition on Sundays or on Bank Holidays.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development does not prejudice the enjoyment of neighbouring 
occupiers of their properties. 
 
34 Unexpected Land Contamination  
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved development 
that was not previously identified, works must be halted on that part of the site affected by the 
unexpected contamination and it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning 
Authority.  An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken to the extent specified by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to resumption of the works. Following completion of measures 
identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification report must be submitted in writing and 
approval by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure any unknown contaminative features encountered during the development are 
investigated and remediated to an acceptable standard. 
 
35 Use of the Units  
The premises hereby permitted shall be used only for general employment uses falling within use 
classes B2 and B8 Use Class E(g)(ii and iii)) (and ancillary offices )of the Town and Country Planning 
Act (Use Classes) Order as subsequently amended.  
 

Page 24



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to satisfactorily control the development. 
 
36 Photovoltaic cells (Glint & Glare) – PD rights 
Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 14 (Renewable energy) no solar panels shall be installed or 
erected without the prior written approval of the local planning Authority, Any applications shall be 
accompanied by a Glint and Glare Assessment to assess the aviation and railway impacts of the 
development.  Thereafter development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason:  To ensure the safe operation of aviation and railway traffic.  
 
INFORMATIVE OF REASON FOR PLANNING APPROVAL 
 
Informative: Working Practices 
The Local Planning Authority has worked in a positive and proactive manner and sought solutions 
to problems arising in dealing with the planning application by gaining additional information required 
to assess the scheme and by the identification and imposition of appropriate planning conditions. 
 
Informative: Reserved matters  
When submitting the application(s) for reserved matters; the reserved matters should include the 
following details 
"access", means the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms 
of the positioning and treatment of access and circulation routes and how these fit into the 
surrounding access network; where "site" means the site or part of the site in respect of which outline 
planning permission is granted or, as the case may be, in respect of which an application for such a 
permission has been made; 
"layout" means the way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within the development are 
provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other and to buildings and spaces outside the 
development;  
"appearance" means the aspects of a building or place within the development which determines 
the visual impression the building or place makes, including the external built form of the 
development, its architecture, materials, decoration, lighting, colour and texture;  
"scale" means the height, width and length of each building proposed within the development in 
relation to its surroundings; 
"landscaping", in relation to a site or any part of a site for which outline planning permission has been 
granted or, as the case may be, in respect of which an application for such permission has been 
made, means the treatment of land (other than buildings) for the purpose of enhancing or protecting 
the amenities of the site and the area in which it is situated and includes— 
(a) screening by fences, walls or other means; 
(b) the planting of trees, hedges, shrubs or grass; 
(c) the formation of banks, terraces or other earthworks; 
(d) the laying out or provision of gardens, courts, squares, water features, sculpture or public art; 
and 
(e) the provision of other amenity features; 
 
Informative: Bird Hazard Management Plan 
The Bird Hazard Management Plan must ensure that flat/shallow pitched roofs be constructed to 
allow access to all areas by foot using permanent fixed access stairs ladders or similar. The 
owner/occupier must not allow gulls, to nest, roost or loaf on the building. Checks must be made 
weekly or sooner if bird activity dictates, during the breeding season. Outside of the breeding season 
gull activity must be monitored and the roof checked regularly to ensure that gulls do not utilise the 
roof.  Any gulls found nesting, roosting or loafing must be dispersed by the owner/occupier when 
detected or when requested by Teesside International Airport. In some instances it may be 
necessary to contact Teesside International Airport before bird dispersal takes place. The 
owner/occupier must remove any nests or eggs found on the roof.  The breeding season for gulls 

Page 25



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

typically runs from March to June. The owner/occupier must obtain the appropriate licences where 
applicable from Natural England before the removal of nests and eggs 
 
Informative: Teesside Airport Crane advice: 
Due to the site being within 6km of Teesside International Airport the crane operator is required to 
submit all crane details such as maximum height, operating radius, name and phone number of site 
manager along with installation and dismantling dates to the CAA Airspace Coordination and 
Obstacle Management Service (ACOMS) system.  For notification, please follow the link via CAA 
website: Crane notification | Civil Aviation Authority (caa.co.uk) 
Once crane notification has been received from the CAA, Teesside International Airport safeguarding 
team will assess and issue the necessary crane permit. No cranes should operate on site until a 
crane permit has been issued. Specific CAA guidance for crane lighting/marking is given in 
CAP1096: Guidance to crane users on the crane notification process and obstacle lighting and 
marking (caa.co.uk) 
 
Informative: Network Rail Requirements 
The Developers attention is drawn to the response from network Rail and their specific requirements 
in relation to development adjacent to the railway. In particular attention is drawn to Network Rail 
Standard Drainage Requirements appended to this decision notice.  The developer is asked to 
ascertain with Network Rail the existence of any existing railway drainage assets or systems in the 
vicinity of the development area before work starts on site. Please contact Asset Protection 
(assetprotectioneastern@networkrail.co.uk) for further information and assistance. 
 
Informative: Northern Powergrid 
To ensure the protection of Northern Powergrid Assets, the developer shall have regard to the Health 
Safety Executive's publication HS(G)47 "Avoiding Danger From Underground Services and GS6 
"Avoidance of Danger from Overhead Electric Lines 
 
SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 
1. The application site is approximately 22.22 hectares located to the north of the Durham Lane 

Industrial Estate. The site is an allocated employment site in the adopted local plan.  
 
2. To the east is Eaglescliffe Railway Station and the associated railway line, beyond which are 

residential areas, whilst to the north are further employment uses.  To the West is Durham 
Lane, beyond which is open countryside.  

 
3. The site wraps around the Tees Valley Community Church (Oakwood Centre), which is located 

immediately north off Cleasby Way and extends eastwards towards the Railway Line.  
 
4. The site is accessed off Durham Lane, via Cleasby Way. Cleasby Way also provides access 

to RPS Pallets and runs south into Durham Lane Industrial Estate. Cleasby Way has recently 
been extended to serve the new station car park. 

 
5. There is also a stretch of highway running north along the western boundary of the Oakwood 

Centre, providing access to the car park. This road terminates at a turning head and would 
form part of the internal estate road for the proposed development with the full application 
element of the submitted application including an extension east to serve a first future phase 
of development within the wider site.  

 
6. Improvements at Eaglescliffe Train Station include a new pedestrian bridge from the train 

station to a new station car park which also connects to the proposed development site.  
 
PROPOSAL 
 

Page 26



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

7. This is a Hybrid Application which includes the following elements; 
 

Full application for access and infrastructure works including provision of part of internal estate 
road and earthworks associated with re-profiling of existing site levels for creation of 
development plateaus, drainage works, utilities infrastructure and temporary top soil storage.  

 
Outline application with all matters reserved other than access for erection of employment 
buildings (Use Class E(g)(ii & iii), B2/B8 including ancillary offices Use Class E(g)(i)) and 
service yard areas, ancillary railway sidings and associated works.  
 

8. The full element is to provide the infrastructure for the development such as access roads 
drainage and a development plateau and does not include any actual buildings, these will be 
considered at the reserved matters stage  
 

9. The development proposals would assist delivery of the wider employment allocation, as part 
of a joint venture with Stockton on Tees Borough Council as landowner. It would deliver an 
allocated employment site in the local plan that the Applicant states could lead to the creation 
of up to 1,000 new employment opportunities. 

 
Procedure: EIA Regulations 

10. The development does not fall within Schedule 1 of the Regulations. The development is 
Schedule 2 Development falling within the description of Part 3(a), It is the opinion of the Local 
Planning Authority that taking into account the characteristics of the development, its location, 
and the characteristics of the potential impacts, there are unlikely to be any significant impacts 
that would warrant an EIA, when considering the proposal against the criteria in Schedule 3. It 
is therefore concluded that the proposed development does not constitute EIA development 

 
CONSULTATIONS 

 
11. Consultees were notified and the following comments were received. 
 
12. Highways Transport & Design Manager 

Subject to the conditions set out below the Highways, Transport and Design Manager raises 
no issues with the proposals. 
Highways Comments: The proposed application comprises a Full and Outline element and 
comments have been provided in respect of both. 
The Full element of the proposals is in relation to access and infrastructure works including 
provision of part of internal estate road and earthworks associated with re-profiling of existing 
site levels for creation of development plateaus, drainage works, utilities infrastructure and 
temporary topsoil storage.  Subject to a construction traffic management plan being secured 
by condition there are no highways objections to this element of the proposal as shown on 
drawing 7280-058 Rev D 'Proposed Area A Masterplan'. 
The Outline element of the proposals is for the erection of employment buildings (Use Class 
E(g)(ii & iii), B2/B8 including ancillary offices Use Class E(g)(i)) and service yard areas, 
ancillary railway sidings and associated works and is support by a TA. 
A Transport Assessment (TA) and subsequent TA Addendum have been submitted in support 
of the Outline element of the proposals which consider the impact of the overall development 
on the local and strategic highway network.  As set out in the TA Addendum the proposals 
would have a negligible effect on journey times on the local highway network with the largest 
report increase being less than 30 seconds in all 'reasonable future scenarios'. 
The local junction assessment undertaken on the Durham Lane / Cleasby Way junction also 
demonstrates that it would operate withing capacity in all 'reasonable future scenarios'. 
It is therefore possible to demonstrate that 'the residual cumulative impacts on the road 
network, following mitigation, would not be severe, taking into account all reasonable future 

Page 27



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

scenarios'. Subject to a construction traffic management plan being secured by condition the 
Highways, Transport and Design Manager raises no objections to the proposals. 
 

13. National Highways  
No objections but recommend that conditions should be attached to any planning permission 
that may be granted – travel plan and construction management plan  

 
14. Lead Local Flood Authority 

The applicant has provided sufficient information to satisfy the Local Lead Flood Authority that 
a surface water runoff solution can be achieved without increasing existing flood risk to the site 
or the surrounding area. However the applicant has not provided a detailed design for the 
management of surface water runoff from the proposed development and this information 
should be secured by condition.  

 
15. PADHI Health & Safety Executive 

Does Not Cross Any Consultation Zones – no objection  
 
16. Parish Council 

We have consulted with some nearby residents and the sum of their concerns seems to be:- 

• What effect will this have on our lives?  If the development removes the green screen from 
the railway line as the recent development of the Station, then the quality of life, which has 
already been belittled, will be further harmed. The noise and light from an industrial estate 
would be completely detrimental to residents' lives. 

• We have a good many residents who have no internet capabilities, so it would be good to 
have some hard copy of plans so that our Members can better obtain responses for you. 

• We would hope that any accepted plans would be conditional on minimum disturbance to 
residents on the other side of the railway plus proper and effective screening both visual 
and auditory throughout the development and lifetime phases of the site. 

• A minor, pedantic point, the development as shown is EAST of Durham Lane. 
 
17. Environmental Health Unit (summarised) 

I have reviewed the information and recommend a number of conditions. 
 
18. Contaminated Land Officer  

Further to my previous comments dated 10.4.2025, due to the sensitivity of the area and 
historical contamination, it was recommended that the Environment Agency are consulted for 
their opinion on the risk to controlled waters and to ensure the testing complies with their 
requirements.  I support the Environment Agency recommendations regarding the drainage 
systems for surface water on the site. It is recommended that any proposals for such systems 
are supported by an assessment of the risks to controlled waters. Further localized 
assessments of the groundwater level data from the monitoring boreholes are recommended 
to assist the assessment.   
 
Further gas risk assessment was recommended by the Site Investigation (Northpoint, Ref 
NP230612, May 2024) to confirm the results (CS2/CS3 gas characterisation) and it is 
recommended that this is a localised assessment depending on the specific land use of the 
plot. I would therefore confirm that part 1 (desk top study) is complete, and part 2 (site 
investigation) is partially complete pending submission of the gas assessment. 

 
19. Northern Gas Networks 

Regarding planning application at site location 25/0672/FUL there are no National Gas assets 
affected in this area. 

 
20. Northern Powergrid (summarised)  

Page 28



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Thank you for your recent enquiry regarding the above location. The enclosed Mains Records 
only give the approximate location of known Northern Powergrid apparatus in the area. Great 
care is therefore needed, and all cables and overhead lines must be assumed to be live. 
Please note that while all efforts are made to ensure the accuracy of the data provided, no 
guarantee can be given. We would refer you to the Health Safety Executive's publication 
HS(G)47 "Avoiding Danger From Underground Services" and GS6 "Avoidance of Danger from 
Overhead Electric Lines"  

 
21. National Grid 

Regarding planning application 25/0672/FUL, there are no National Grid Electricity 
Transmission assets affected by the proposal. 

 
22. Natural England 

Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed development will 
not have significant adverse impacts on statutorily protected nature conservation sites or 
landscapes. Natural England’s generic advice on other natural environment issues is provided. 

 
23. Tees Archaeology 

The archaeological potential of the site has been established as low, and no further 
archaeological work is necessary for this application. 

 
24. Network Rail 

Network rail own, operate and develop Britain’s railway infrastructure. Our role is to deliver a 
safe and reliable railway. All consultations are assessed with the safety of the operational 
railway in mind and responded to on this basis.  Following assessment of the details provided 
to support the above application, Network Rail has no objection in principle to the development, 
but below are some requirements which must be met.  It is recognised that much of the detail 
here is more appropriate for the outline element of the hybrid application.  
Freight: We note the proposal mentions ancillary railway sidings to support proposed B2/B8 
units. Naturally, the developer must engage Network Rail in the development of this scheme 
with respect to any proposed interface with railway assets. This would be subject to the 
developer seeking the relevant consent and entering into any licenses and agreements 
required, to develop as outlined.  
Eaglescliffe Railway Station has recently been upgraded to include a new pedestrian bridge, 
providing access from the west, and linking the station to a newly constructed car park. We 
note that this improvement also establishes a direct connection to the proposed development 
site. It is therefore appropriate that the developer engages with Network Rail with respect 
access arrangements, namely how the development will align with the pedestrian bridge.  
Works in Proximity to the Operational Railway Environment 
Development Construction Phase and Asset Protection: Due to the proximity of the proposed 
development to the operational railway boundary, it will be imperative that the developer liaise 
with our Asset Protection Team (contact details below) prior to any work taking place on site 
to ensure that the development can be undertaken safely and without impact to operational 
railway safety. Details to be discussed and agreed may include construction methodology, 
earthworks and excavations, use of crane, plant and machinery, drainage and boundary 
treatments. It may be necessary for the developer to enter into a Basic Asset Protection 
Agreement (BAPA) with Network Rail to ensure the safety of the operational railway during 
these works. We would also like to advise that where any damage, injury or delay to the rail 
network is caused by construction works or future maintenance (related to the application site), 
the applicant or developer will incur full liability. This could also include police investigation as 
it is a criminal offence to endanger the railway or obstruct the passage of rail traffic. It should 
also be noted that any damage that requires a line closure or repairs can result in costs which 
could exceed hundreds of thousands of pounds.  All new enquiries will need to be submitted 
via the Asset Protection and Optimisation - Customer Portal (ASPRO Network Rail 
Implementation (oraclecloud.com)). From there, the outside party can create an account and 

Page 29

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ferjy-odcsvbcs-11211655-1568-cacctnetworkrail.builder.ocp.oraclecloud.com%2Fic%2Fbuilder%2Frt%2FCustomerPortal%2Flive%2FwebApps%2Fdcs%2F&data=05%7C02%7Celaine.atkinson%40stockton.gov.uk%7C390f4fc379e74175a59a08ddd8d0d039%7Cc947251d81c44c9b995df3d3b7a048c7%7C0%7C0%7C638905113567808556%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=6n%2FhFwOQ6M11ehFtwp8FXkLa5GC%2B1oQVBTkpeYG1DgY%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ferjy-odcsvbcs-11211655-1568-cacctnetworkrail.builder.ocp.oraclecloud.com%2Fic%2Fbuilder%2Frt%2FCustomerPortal%2Flive%2FwebApps%2Fdcs%2F&data=05%7C02%7Celaine.atkinson%40stockton.gov.uk%7C390f4fc379e74175a59a08ddd8d0d039%7Cc947251d81c44c9b995df3d3b7a048c7%7C0%7C0%7C638905113567808556%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=6n%2FhFwOQ6M11ehFtwp8FXkLa5GC%2B1oQVBTkpeYG1DgY%3D&reserved=0


 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

submit their enquiry. The enquiry will then be assigned to one of the Asset Protection team to 
progress. Alternative contact details for Asset Protection are supplied below and we would 
draw the developers’ attention to the attached guidance on Network Rail requirements. 
The application must be supported by a site-specific Construction Methodology should it not 
possible to satisfy Network Rail’s requirements recommended in the attached. The council 
should satisfy itself, without consulting Network Rail, that there are good reasons why the 
recommended requirements cannot be adhered to.  
Drainage: It is imperative that drainage associated with the site does not impact on or cause 
damage to adjacent railway assets. Surface water must flow away from the railway, there must 
be no ponding of water adjacent to the boundary and any attenuation scheme within 30m of 
the railway boundary must be approved by Network Rail in advance. There must be no 
connection to existing railway drainage assets without prior agreement with Network Rail. 
Please note, further detail on Network Rail requirements relating to drainage and works in 
proximity to the railway infrastructure is attached for your reference. 
Condition: We expect a condition regarding the disposal of surface water to be included as 
part of any consent 
Mining: The proposed application site falls within Network Rail’s Landfill Gas Reporting area. 
Should this application move forward, we would require the developer to work closely with our 
Asset Protection Team to ensure that the scheme did not adversely impact the railway 
infrastructure. The applicant may be required to provide ground investigation/monitoring to 
confirm there will be no detrimental effect on earthwork stability. Additionally, any works should 
comply with Network Rail guidance NR L2 CIV 191 Mod 5 (requirements for managing the risk 
from mining in design and construction), which will need to be managed through our Asset 
Protection Team. 
Boundary Treatments, Landscaping and Lighting: Trespass onto the railway is a criminal 
offence. It can result in costly delays to rail traffic, damage to the railway infrastructure and in 
the worst instances, injury and loss of life. Due to the nature of the proposed development, we 
consider that there will be an increased risk of trespass onto the railway. 
Condition: The developer must provide a suitable trespass proof fence adjacent to Network 
Rail’s boundary (minimum 1.8m high) and make provision for its future renewal and 
maintenance. Network Rail’s existing fencing/wall must not be removed or damaged. 
Vehicle Incursion Measures: An Armco or similar barrier should be located in positions where 
vehicles may be in a position to drive into or roll onto the railway or damage the lineside fencing. 
Network Rail’s existing fencing / wall must not be removed or damaged. Given the considerable 
number of vehicle movements likely provision should be made at each turning 
area/roadway/car parking area adjacent to the railway. This is in accord with the new guidance 
for road/rail vehicle incursion NR/LV/CIV/00012 following on from DfT advice issued in 2003, 
now updated to include risk of incursion from private land/roadways. 
Condition: Given the nature of the proposals and location of turning areas/car parking, we 
would expect that a condition securing the design and installation of suitable vehicle incursion 
measures by the developer is included in any consent. This is for the safety, operational needs 
and integrity of the railway. 
Landscaping - It is imperative that planting and landscaping schemes near the railway 
boundary do not impact on operational railway safety. Where trees and shrubs are to be 
planted adjacent to boundary, they should be position at a minimum distance greater than their 
height at maturity from the boundary. Certain broad leaf deciduous species should not be 
planted adjacent to the railway boundary. Any hedge planted adjacent to the railway boundary 
fencing for screening purposes should be placed so that when fully grown it does not damage 
the fencing, provide a means of scaling it, or prevent Network Rail from maintaining its 
boundary fencing. Below is a list of species that are acceptable and unacceptable for planting 
in proximity to the railway boundary; 
Acceptable: Birch (Betula), Crab Apple (Malus Sylvestris), Field Maple (Acer Campestre), Bird 
Cherry (Prunus Padus), Wild Pear (Pyrs Communis), Fir Trees – Pines (Pinus), Hawthorn 
(Cretaegus), Mountain Ash – Whitebeams (Sorbus), False Acacia (Robinia), Willow Shrubs 
(Shrubby Salix), Thuja Plicatat “Zebrina” 

Page 30



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Not Acceptable:  Acer (Acer pseudoplantanus), Aspen – Poplar (Populus), Small-leaved Lime 
(Tilia Cordata), Sycamore – Norway Maple (Acer), Horse Chestnut (Aesculus Hippocastanum), 
Sweet Chestnut (Castanea Sativa), Ash (Fraxinus excelsior), Black poplar (Populus nigra var, 
betulifolia), Lombardy Poplar (Populus nigra var, italica), Large-leaved lime (Tilia platyphyllos), 
Common lime (Tilia x europea) 
Condition: Landscaping detail should be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and 
approved in conjunction with Network Rail. 
Lighting: Where lighting is to be erected adjacent to the operational railway, the potential for 
train drivers to be dazzled must be eliminated. In addition, the location and colour of lights must 
not give rise to the potential for confusion with the signalling arrangements on the railway.  
Condition: Detail of any external lighting should be provided to the Local Planning Authority to 
be approved in conjunction with Network Rail. 
Additional Requirements 
Railway Noise Mitigation: The Developer should be aware that any development for residential 
or noise sensitive use adjacent to an operational railway may result in neighbour issues arising. 
Consequently, every endeavour should be made by the developer to provide adequate 
soundproofing for each dwelling. Please note that in a worst-case scenario there could be 
trains running 24 hours a day and the soundproofing should take this into account.  
Glint and Glare: The application does not include a specific glint and glare study to ascertain 
the effect the proposal will have on the operation of the adjacent railway particularly in terms 
of signal sighting and driver distraction. The applicant should supply further details on this point 
before we can comment further. 
Reason for above conditions: The safety, operational needs and integrity of the railway. 
Please see attached standard railway requirements to be included as informatives. 

 
25. Teesside Airport 

I refer to your consultation letter dated 07th April 2025.  Given this application is a hybrid 
application, we have concluded the following 
Full Application - The airport safeguarding team has assessed the proposal in accordance with 
the UK Reg (EU) No 139/2014 (the UK Aerodromes Regulation) and it does not conflict with 
the safeguarding criteria for the airport.  Accordingly, we have no aerodrome safeguarding 
objection to the proposal based on the information provided.  
Outline -  The airport safeguarding team has assessed the proposal in accordance with the UK 
Reg (EU) No 139/2014 (the UK Aerodromes Regulation) and it does conflict with the 
safeguarding criteria for the airport. Therefore we will need to object to these proposals unless 
the conditions highlighted below are applied to any planning permission. 

• Submission of a Bird Hazard Management Plan 

• Submission of Landscaping Scheme 

• Submission of SUDS Details 

• Photovoltaic cells (Glint & Glare) 

• Crane advice: 

• Wind Turbines 
 
26. Cleveland Police 

With regards to your recent planning application 25/0672/FUL for developing of land, Durham 
Lane, Eaglescliffe.  Cleveland Police encourages applicants to build/refurbish developments 
incorporating the guidelines of Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED). 
I would like to make you aware that Cleveland Police operate the "Secured by Design" 
initiative. This is a scheme which promotes the inclusion of architectural crime prevention 
measures into new projects and refurbishments. 
I recommend any future applicant when construction of building detail is known  actively seek 
Secured by Design accreditation; full information is available within the SBD Non-Residential 
Guide 2025 Guide at www.securedbydesign.com 

Page 31



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

I encourage contact from applicant/agent at earliest opportunity, if SBD Certification is not 
achievable you may incorporate some of the measures to reduce the opportunities for crime 
and anti-social behaviour. 
Once a development has been completed the main opportunity to design out crime has gone. 
The local Designing Out Crime Officer should be contacted at the earliest opportunity, prior to 
submission and preferably at the design stage. 

• The National Planning Policy Framework 2024 paragraph 96(b), which states that Planning 
policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive, and safe places which are 
safe and accessible, so that crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the 
quality of life or community cohesion… 

• The National Planning Policy Framework 2024, paragraph 135(f) which states that "Planning 
policies and decisions should ensure that developments create places that are safe, inclusive 
and accessible… and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the 
quality of life or community cohesion and resilience". 

• Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council Local Plan, Policy SD8 includes the following... All 
proposals will be designed with public safety and the desire to reduce crime in mind, 
incorporating, where appropriate, advice from the Health and Safety Executive, Secured by 
Design, or any other appropriate design standards. 

• Supplementary Planning Guide, Local Design Guide Section 3.6 and Sustainable Design 
Guide Section 4.9 also refer to Security & Safety.  

• Another material consideration is Section 17 of The Crime and Disorder Act 1998. 
Further information on the Secured By design initiative can be found on 
www.securedbydesign.com    

 
27. Chief Fire Officer (Cleveland Fire Brigade) 

Cleveland fire Brigade offers no representations regarding the development as proposed. 
However, Access and Water Supplies should meet the requirements as set out in Approved 
Document B Volume 2 :2019, Section B5 for buildings other than Dwellings  
It should be noted that Cleveland Fire Brigade now utilise a Magirus Multistar Combined Aerial 
Rescue Pump (CARP) which has a vehicle weight of 18 tonnes.  This is greater than the 
specified weight in AD B Vol 2 Section B5 Table 15.2.  
Cleveland Fire Brigade also utilise Emergency Fire Appliances measuring 3.5m from wing 
mirror to wing mirror. This is greater than the minimum width of gateways specified in AD B 
Vol 2 Section B5 Table 15.2. 
Recommendations: Cleveland Fire Brigade is fully committed to the installation of Automatic 
Fire Suppression Systems (AFSS) in all premises where their inclusion will support fire safety, 
we therefore recommend that as part of the submission the client consider the installation of 
sprinklers or a suitable alternative AFS system.  Further comments may be made through the 
building regulation consultation process as required. 

 
28. Northern Gas Networks 

We do not object  
 
29. The Environment Agency 

Thank you for consulting us on the additional submitted information in respect of the above 
planning application, which we received on 16 July 2025.  We have assessed the additional 
submitted information (Factual Report) and this is sufficient for us to remove our previous 
objection of 2 July 2025 subject to the inclusion of the planning condition detailed below. 
Environment Agency position The previous use of the land adjacent to the proposed 
development site as a landfill presents a high risk of contamination that could be mobilised by 
surface water infiltration from the proposed sustainable drainage system (SuDS). This could 
pollute controlled waters. Controlled waters are particularly sensitive in this location because 
the proposed development site is located upon the Sherwood Sandstone principal aquifer 

Page 32



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

In light of the above, we do not believe that the use of infiltration SuDS is appropriate in this 
location. We therefore request that the following planning condition is included as part of any 
permission granted. Without this condition we would object to the proposal in line with 
paragraph 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework because it cannot be guaranteed 
that the development will not be put at unacceptable risk from, or be adversely affected by, 
unacceptable levels of water pollution. Condition No drainage systems for the infiltration of 
surface water to the ground are permitted other than with the written consent of the local 
planning authority. Any proposals for such systems must be supported by an assessment of 
the risks to controlled waters. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. Reason(s) To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not 
put at unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution 
caused by mobilised contaminants. This is in line with paragraph 187 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
Informative: Following further assessment, SuDs may be acceptable in some areas of the 
proposed development. We recommend collecting groundwater level data from the monitoring 
boreholes within the proposed development site to aid further assessment. 
We also have the following advice to offer. 
We recommend that developers should: 
1.Follow the risk management framework provided in 'Land contamination: risk management' 
when dealing with land affected by contamination 
2.Refer to our Guiding principles for land contamination for the type of information that we 
require in order to assess risks to controlled waters from the site - the local authority can advise 
on risk to other receptors, such as human health 
3.Consider using the National Quality Mark Scheme for Land Contamination Management 
which involves the use of competent persons to ensure that land contamination risks are 
appropriately managed 
4.Refer to the contaminated land pages on gov.uk for more information 

 
PUBLICITY 
 
30. Neighbours were notified and 18 letters of objection were received and 3 letters of general 

representation with the main objections summarised below.  The full details of the objections 
can be viewed online at http://www.developmentmanagement.stockton.gov.uk/online-
applications/ 

 
1. Mr Daniel Butchart 8 Railway Terrace Eaglescliffe 
2. Mr Paul Smitheringale 17 Dunottar Avenue Eaglescliffe 
3. Mrs Ann Wan 47 Royal George Drive Eaglescliffe 
4. Mr Adam Potter 35 Pinewood Road Eaglescliffe 
5. N Mejia 28 Hartburn Lane Stockton-on-Tees 
6. Mr David Hodgson 19 Dunottar Avenue Eaglescliffe 
7. Miss Lauren Tindale 6 Talisman Close Eaglescliffe 
8. Mr Richard Joyce 11 Railway Terrace Eaglescliffe 
9. Mrs Hilary Kay-Evans 23 Railway Terrace Eaglescliffe 
10. Mrs Helen Gardiner 47 Beechwood Road Eaglescliffe 
11. Mrs Anne Rolfe 22 Railway Terrace Eaglescliffe 
12. Ms Nicola Wrightson 7 Railway Terrace Eaglescliffe 
13. Luke Harding 1 Beechwood Road Eaglescliffe  
14. J N Tarn 19 Beechwood Road Eaglescliffe - See Document 
15. Mr Michael Clarke  51 Beechwood Road Eaglescliffe 
16. Kay Ross 11 Dunottar Avenue Eaglescliffe 
17. Mrs Beth Wright 7 Beechwood Road Eaglescliffe 
18. David Fretter 25 Railway Terrace Eaglescliffe  
19. Jenny Harding 1 Dunottar Avenue Eaglescliffe TS16 0AB  
20. Emma Trotter 1A Dunottar Avenue Eaglescliffe 

Page 33



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

21. Mr Paul Watson Oakwood Centre Tees Valley Community Church 1 Cleasby Way 
 
The main objections relate to following; 

• Site suitability 

• The land is well used for recreation and dog walking 

• Impact on traffic   

• There are plenty of sites and brownfield land which can be developed 

• The Noise Impact Assessment Validation Report (completed in January 2025) should be 
rerun as noise has increased. 

• Visual Impact of the proposed development – worse due to the loss of trees/ vegetation from 
the Railway works.  If approved, a screen shall be provided 

• Loss of mature trees and loss of vegetation  

• Noise and Light pollution (units S)  

• Is there a need when many are standing empty 

• Natural habitats for wildlife being disturbed and destroyed.  

• The pond maybe be left for such wildlife but without any habitat this seems a PR move. The 
ponds have always been resident with newts, frogs etc. Is this sufficient? 

• Railway sidings - what is the plan for this, what would the train movements be? We are used 
to trains as neighbours but the unloading of freight would inevitably create noise  

• Devaluation 

• Restrictions to operational hours, noise levels, night lighting and implementing a monitoring 
system to ensure compliance is required should it be approved 

• Further Air Quality tests should be undertaken 

• Positioning of the Proposed Industrial Buildings – site plans show huge buildings dominating 
the church 

• Concerns the proposed levels will affect the Oakwood Centre 

• Noise due to construction work 
 

• The new cycleway, the associated junction work at the entrance to the industrial park, and 
the works providing car parking/access to Eaglescliffe Station is most welcome. This will 
increase accessibility to the Industrial Park, including Tees Valley Community Church at the 
Oakwood Centre. 

• Comments and suggestions for the cycleway and a bus stop which do not form part of this 
application 

 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
32. Where an adopted or approved development plan contains relevant policies, Section 38(6) of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that an application for planning 
permissions shall be determined in accordance with the Development Plan(s) for the area, 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  In this case the relevant Development Plan 
is the Stockton on Tees Borough Council Local Plan 2019. 

 
33. Section 143 of the Localism Act came into force on the 15 January 2012 and requires the Local 

Planning Authority to take local finance considerations into account, this section s70(2) Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended requires in dealing with such an application the 
authority shall have regard to a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to 
the application, b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application and c) 
any other material considerations. 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 

34. The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development. Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three 

Page 34



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

overarching objectives, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually 
supportive ways. These are economic social and environmental objectives. 
So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the heart of the Framework 
is a presumption in favour of sustainable development (paragraph 11) which for decision 
making means approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 
plan without delay; or where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies 
which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission 
unless the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.  

 
Local Planning Policy 

35. The following planning policies are considered to be relevant to the consideration of this 
application. 

 
Strategic Development Strategy Policy 1 (SD1) - Presumption in favour of Sustainable 
Development 
1. In accordance with the Government's National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), when 
the Council considers development proposals it will take a positive approach that reflects the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the NPPF. It will always work 
proactively with applicants jointly to find solutions which mean that proposals for sustainable 
development can be approved wherever possible, and to secure development that improves 
the economic, social and environmental conditions in the area. 
2. Planning applications that accord with the policies in this Local Plan (and, where relevant, 
with polices in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
3. Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of date at 
the time of making the decision then the Council will grant permission unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise - taking into account whether: 
- Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole; or, 
- Specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be restricted. 
 
Strategic Development Strategy Policy 2 (SD2) - Strategic Development Needs 
1. The following strategic growth needs have been identified for the period 2017/18 to 2031/32, 
which will be met through new sustainable development and infrastructure provision that 
integrates positively with the natural, built and historic environment of the Borough. 
Economic Growth 
5. In order to provide sufficient employment sites to meet the needs of existing businesses, 
new start-ups and major inward investment there is a requirement to allocate sufficient land 
for specialist industries, business, general industry and warehousing, as follows: 
a. 120 hectares of land for specialist uses including, the chemical and process industry, energy 
generation, waste processing, port related uses and other uses, which demonstrate 
operational benefits to the North and South Tees Cluster. 
b. 70 hectares of land at Durham Tees Valley Airport of which 50ha is for airport related use 
and 20 hectares of general employment land. 
c. 110 hectares of land for general employment uses. 
Other Development Needs 
7. Where other needs are identified, new developments will be encouraged to meet that need 
in the most sustainable locations having regard to relevant policies within the Local Plan. 
 
Strategic Development Strategy Policy 4 (SD4) - Economic Growth Strategy 
1. Economic development needs will be directed to appropriate locations within the Borough 
to ensure the delivery of sustainable economic growth. 

Page 35



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

2. Proposals for the redevelopment of previously developed land, in particular prominent sites 
which have been derelict for a significant period of time, will be supported. 
5. Economic growth proposals which attract significant numbers of people will be permitted in 
the vicinity of a hazardous installation only where there is no significant threat to public safety. 
9. Belasis, Cowpen Lane, Durham Lane, Preston Farm, Portrack Lane and Teesside Industrial 
Estate are the main locations for new light industrial, general industrial and logistics related 
development. 
Employment and Training Opportunities 
19. Support will be given to the creation of employment and training opportunities for residents.  
Major development proposals will demonstrate how opportunities arising from the proposal will 
be made accessible to the Borough's residents, particularly those in the most deprived areas 
and priority groups. 
 
Strategic Development Strategy Policy 5 (SD5) - Natural, Built and Historic Environment 
To ensure the conservation and enhancement of the environment alongside meeting the 
challenge of climate change the Council will: 
1. Conserve and enhance the natural, built and historic environment through a variety of 
methods including: 
a) Ensuring that development proposals adhere to the sustainable design principles identified 
within Policy SD8. 
b) Protecting and enhancing designated sites (including the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast 
Special Protection Area and Ramsar) and other existing resources alongside the provision of 
new resources. 
c) Protecting and enhancing green infrastructure networks and assets, alongside the 
preservation, restoration and re-creation of priority habitats, ecological networks and the 
protection and recovery of priority species. 
d) Enhancing woodlands and supporting the increase of tree cover where appropriate. 
j) Ensuring development proposals are responsive to the landscape, mitigating their visual 
impact where necessary. Developments will not be permitted where they would lead to 
unacceptable impacts on the character and distinctiveness of the Borough's landscape unless 
the benefits of the development clearly outweigh any harm. Wherever possible, developments 
should include measures to enhance, restore and create special features of the landscape. 
l) Preventing both new and existing development from contributing to or being put at 
unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of ground, air, 
water, light or noise pollution or land instability. Wherever possible proposals should seek to 
improve ground, air and water quality. 
m) Encouraging the reduction, reuse and recycling of waste, and the use of locally sourced 
materials. 
2. Meet the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change through a variety of 
methods including: 
a. Directing development in accordance with Policies SD3 and SD4. 
b. Delivering an effective and efficient sustainable transport network to deliver genuine 
alternatives to the private car. 
c. Supporting sustainable water management within development proposals. 
d. Directing new development towards areas of low flood risk (Flood Zone 1), ensuring flood 
risk is not increased elsewhere, and working with developers and partners to reduce flood risk. 
e. Ensuring development takes into account the risks and opportunities associated with future 
changes to the climate and are adaptable to changing social, technological and economic 
conditions such as incorporating suitable and effective climate change adaptation principles. 
f. Ensuring development minimises the effects of climate change and encourage new 
development to meet the highest feasible environmental standards. 
g. Supporting and encouraging sensitive energy efficiency improvements to existing buildings. 
h. Supporting proposals for renewable and low carbon energy schemes including the 
generation and supply of decentralised energy. 
 

Page 36



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Strategic Development Strategy Policy 6 (SD6) - Transport and Infrastructure Strategy 
1. To provide realistic alternatives to the private car, the Council will work with partners to 
deliver a sustainable transport network. This will be achieved through improvements to the 
public transport network, routes for pedestrians, cyclists and other users, and to local services, 
facilities and local amenities. 
2. To ensure the road network is safe and there are reliable journey times, the Council will 
prioritise and deliver targeted improvements at key points on the local road network and work 
in conjunction with Highways England to deliver improvements at priority strategic locations on 
the strategic road network. 
3. The Council will work with partners to deliver community infrastructure within the 
neighbourhoods they serve. Priority will be given to the provision of facilities that contribute 
towards sustainable communities, in particular the growing populations at Ingleby Barwick, 
Yarm, Eaglescliffe, Wynyard Sustainable Settlement and West Stockton Sustainable Urban 
Extension. 
4. To ensure residents needs for community infrastructure are met, where the requirement is 
fully justified and necessary, the Council will support planning applications which: 
a. Provide for the expansion and delivery of education and training facilities. 
b. Provide and improve health facilities. 
c. Provide opportunities to widen the Borough's cultural, sport, recreation and leisure offer. 
5. Proposals will be encouraged where they provide for the expansion of communications 
networks, including telecommunications and high speed broadband; especially where this 
addresses gaps in coverage. 
 
Strategic Development Strategy Policy 8 (SD8) - Sustainable Design Principles 
1. The Council will seek new development to be designed to the highest possible standard, 
taking into consideration the context of the surrounding area and the need to respond positively 
to the: 
a. Quality, character and sensitivity of the surrounding public realm, heritage assets, and 
nearby buildings, in particular at prominent junctions, main roads and town centre gateways; 
b. Landscape character of the area, including the contribution made by existing trees and 
landscaping; 
c. Need to protect and enhance ecological and green infrastructure networks and assets; 
d. Need to ensure that new development is appropriately laid out to ensure adequate 
separation between buildings and an attractive environment; 
e. Privacy and amenity of all existing and future occupants of land and buildings; 
f. Existing transport network and the need to provide safe and satisfactory access and parking 
for all modes of transport; 
g. Need to reinforce local distinctiveness and provide high quality and inclusive design 
solutions, and 
h. Need for all development to be designed inclusively to ensure that buildings and spaces are 
accessible for all, including people with disabilities. 
2. New development should contribute positively to making places better for people. They 
should be inclusive and establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to 
create attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit. 
3. All proposals will be designed with public safety and the desire to reduce crime in mind, 
incorporating, where appropriate, advice from the Health and Safety Executive, Secured by 
Design, or any other appropriate design standards. 
4. New development will seek provision of adequate waste recycling, storage and collection 
facilities, which are appropriately sited and designed. 
5. New commercial development will be expected to provide appropriately designed signage 
and shop fronts. 
 
Natural, Built and Historic Environment Policy 1 (ENV1) - Energy Efficiency 

Page 37



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1. The Council will encourage all development to minimise the effects of climate change 
through meeting the highest possible environmental standards during construction and 
occupation.  
The Council will: 
a. Promote zero carbon development and require all development to reduce carbon dioxide 
emissions by following the steps in the energy hierarchy, in the following sequence: 
    i. Energy reduction through 'smart' heating and lighting, behavioural changes, and use of 
passive design measures; then, 
    ii. Energy efficiency through better insulation and efficient appliances; then, 
    iii. Renewable energy of heat and electricity from solar, wind, biomass, hydro and 
geothermal sources; then 
    iv. Low carbon energy including the use of heat pumps, Combined Heat and Power and 
Combined Cooling Heat and Power systems; then 
    v. Conventional energy. 
b. Require all major development to demonstrate how they contribute to the greenhouse gas 
emissions reduction targets set out in Stockton-on-Tees' Climate Change Strategy 2016; and 
c. Support and encourage sensitive energy efficiency improvements to existing buildings. 
2. Proposals are encouraged where development: 
a. Incorporates passive design measures to improve the efficiency of heating, cooling and 
ventilation; and 
b. Includes design measures to minimise the reliance on artificial lighting through siting, design, 
layout and building orientation that maximises sunlight and daylight, passive ventilation and 
avoids overshadowing. 
Non domestic 
4. All new non-residential developments up to and including 499 sq m of gross floor space will 
be completed to a Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method 
(BREEAM) minimum rating of 'very good' (or any future national equivalent). 
5. All new non-residential developments of 500 sq m and above of gross floor space will be 
required to: 
a. Submit an energy statement demonstrating how the energy hierarchy has been applied to 
make the fullest contribution to CO2 reduction; and 
b. Be completed to a Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method 
(BREEAM) minimum rating of 'very good' (or any future national equivalent). 
 
Natural, Built and Historic Environment Policy 4 (ENV4) - Reducing and Mitigating Flood Risk 
1. All new development will be directed towards areas of the lowest flood risk to minimise the 
risk of flooding from all sources, and will mitigate any such risk through design and 
implementing sustainable drainage (SuDS) principles. 
2. Development on land in Flood Zones 2 or 3 will only be permitted following: 
a. The successful completion of the Sequential and Exception Tests (where required); and 
b. A site specific flood risk assessment, demonstrating development will be safe over the 
lifetime of the development, including access and egress, without increasing flood risk 
elsewhere and where possible reducing flood risk overall. 
3. Site specific flood risk assessments will be required in accordance with national policy. 
4. All development proposals will be designed to ensure that: 
a. Opportunities are taken to mitigate the risk of flooding elsewhere; 
b. Foul and surface water flows are separated; 
c. Appropriate surface water drainage mitigation measures are incorporated and Sustainable 
Drainage Systems (SuDS) are prioritised; and 
d. SuDS have regard to Tees Valley Authorities Local Standards for Sustainable Drainage 
(2015) or successor document. 
5. Surface water run-off should be managed at source wherever possible and disposed of in 
the following hierarchy of preference sequence: 
a. To an infiltration or soak away system; then, 
b. To a watercourse open or closed; then, 

Page 38



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

c. To a sewer. 
6. Disposal to combined sewers should be the last resort once all other methods have been 
explored. 
7. For developments which were previously developed, the peak runoff rate from the 
development to any drain, sewer or surface water body for the 1-in-1 year rainfall event and 
the 1-in-100 year rainfall event should be as close as reasonably practicable to the greenfield 
runoff rate from the development for the same rainfall event, but should never exceed the rate 
of discharge from the development prior to redevelopment for that event. For greenfield 
developments, the peak runoff rate from the development to any highway drain, sewer or 
surface water body for the 1-in-1 year rainfall event and the 1-in-100 year rainfall event should 
never exceed the peak greenfield runoff rate for the same event. 
8. Within critical drainage areas or other areas identified as having particular flood risk issues 
the Council may: 
a. Support reduced run-off rates. 
b. Seek contributions, where appropriate, towards off-site enhancements directly related to 
flow paths from the development, to provide increased flood risk benefits to the site and 
surrounding areas. 
9. Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) should be provided on major development 
(residential development comprising 10 dwellings or more and other equivalent commercial 
development) unless demonstrated to be inappropriate. The incorporation of SuDS should be 
integral to the design process and be integrated with green infrastructure. Where SuDS are 
provided, arrangements must be put in place for their whole life management and 
maintenance. 
10. Through partnership working the Council will work to achieve the goals of the Stockton-on-
Tees Local Flood Risk Management Strategy and the Northumbria Catchment Flood 
Management Plan. This will include the implementation of schemes to reduce the risk of 
flooding to existing properties and infrastructure. Proposals which seek to mitigate flooding, 
create natural flood plains or seek to enhance and/or expand flood plains in appropriate 
locations will be permitted. 
11. To reduce the risk of flooding the Council is working in partnership with the Environment 
Agency to deliver a Flood Alleviation Scheme on Lustrum Beck. 
 
Natural, Built and Historic Environment Policy 5 (ENV) - Preserve, Protect and Enhance 
Ecological Networks, Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
. The Council will protect and enhance the biodiversity and geological resources within the 
Borough. Development proposals will be supported where they enhance nature conservation 
and management, preserve the character of the natural environment and maximise 
opportunities for biodiversity and geological conservation particularly in or adjacent to 
Biodiversity Opportunity Areas in the River Tees Corridor, Teesmouth and Central Farmland 
Landscape Areas.  
2. The Council will preserve, restore and re-create priority habitats alongside the protection 
and recovery of priority species. 
3. Ecological networks and wildlife corridors will be protected, enhanced and extended. A 
principal aim will be to link sites of biodiversity importance by avoiding or repairing the 
fragmentation and isolation of natural habitats. 
4. Sites designated for nature or geological conservation will be protected and, where 
appropriate enhanced, taking into account the following hierarchy and considerations: 
a. Internationally designated sites - Development that is not directly connected with or 
necessary to the management of the site, but which is likely to have a significant effect on any 
internationally designated site, irrespective of its location and when considered both alone and 
in combination with other plans and projects, will be subject to an Appropriate Assessment. 
Development requiring Appropriate Assessment will only be allowed where: 
    i. It can be determined through Appropriate Assessment, taking into account mitigation, the 
proposal would not result in adverse effects on the     site's integrity, either alone or in 
combination with other plans or projects; or ii. as a last resort, where, in light of negative 

Page 39



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Appropriate     Assessment there are no alternatives and the development is of overriding 
public interest, appropriate compensatory measures must be secured. 
b. Nationally designated sites - Development that is likely to have an adverse effect on a site, 
including broader impacts on the national network of Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
and combined effects with other development, will not normally be allowed. Where an adverse 
effect on the site's notified interest features is likely, a development will only be allowed where: 
    i. the benefits of the development, at this site, clearly outweigh both any adverse impact on 
the sites notified interest features, and any broader     impacts on the national network of 
SSSI's; 
    ii. no reasonable alternatives are available; and 
    iii. mitigation, or where necessary compensation, is provided for the impact. 
c. Locally designated sites: Development that would have an adverse effect on a site(s) will 
not be permitted unless the benefits of the development clearly outweigh the harm to the 
conservation interest of the site and no reasonable alternatives are available. All options 
should be explored for retaining the most valuable parts of the sites interest as part of the 
development proposal with particular consideration given to conserving irreplaceable features 
or habitats, and those that cannot readily be recreated within a reasonably short timescale, for 
example ancient woodland and geological formations.  Where development on a site is 
approved, mitigation or where necessary, compensatory measures, will be required in order to 
make development acceptable in planning terms. 
5. Development proposals should seek to achieve net gains in biodiversity wherever possible. 
It will be important for biodiversity and geodiversity to be considered at an early stage in the 
design process so that harm can be avoided and wherever possible enhancement achieved 
(this will be of particular importance in the redevelopment of previously developed land where 
areas of biodiversity should be retained and recreated alongside any remediation of any 
identified contamination). Detrimental impacts of development on biodiversity and geodiversity, 
whether individual or cumulative should be avoided. Where this is not possible, mitigation and 
lastly compensation, must be provided as appropriate. The Council will consider the potential 
for a strategic approach to biodiversity offsetting in conjunction with the Tees Valley Local 
Nature Partnership and in line with the above hierarchy. 
6. When proposing habitat creation it will be important to consider existing habitats and species 
as well as opportunities identified in the relevant Biodiversity Opportunity Areas. This will assist 
in ensuring proposals accord with the 'landscape scale' approach and support ecological 
networks. 
7. Existing trees, woodlands and hedgerows which are important to the character and 
appearance of the local area or are of nature conservation value will be protected wherever 
possible. Where loss is unavoidable, replacement of appropriate scale and species will be 
sought on site, where practicable. 
 
Natural, Built and Historic Environment Policy 6 (ENV6) - Green Infrastructure, Open Space, 
Green Wedges and Agricultural Land 
1. Through partnership working, the Council will protect and support the enhancement, 
creation and management of all green infrastructure to improve its quality, value, multi-
functionality and accessibility in accordance with the Stockton-on-Tees Green Infrastructure 
Strategy and Delivery Plan. 
2. Where appropriate, development proposals will be required to make contributions towards 
green infrastructure having regard to standards and guidance provided within the Open Space, 
Recreation and Landscaping SPD or any successor. Green infrastructure should be integrated, 
where practicable, into new developments. This includes new hard and soft landscaping, and 
other types of green infrastructure. Proposals should illustrate how the proposed development 
will be satisfactorily integrated into the surrounding area in a manner appropriate to the 
surrounding townscape and landscape setting and enhances the wider green infrastructure 
network. 

Page 40



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

3. The Council will protect and enhance open space throughout the Borough to meet 
community needs and enable healthy lifestyles. The loss of open space as shown on the 
Policies Map, and any amenity open space, will not be supported unless: 
a. it has been demonstrated to be surplus to requirements; or 
b. the loss would be replaced by equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality 
in a suitable location; or 
c. the proposal is for another sports or recreational provision, the needs for which, clearly 
outweigh the loss; or 
d. the proposal is ancillary to the use of the open space; and 
e. in all cases there would be no significant harm to the character and appearance of the area 
or nature conservation interests. 
 
Natural, Built and Historic Environment Policy 7 (ENV7) - Ground, Air, Water, Noise and Light 
Pollution 
1. All development proposals that may cause groundwater, surface water, air (including odour), 
noise or light pollution either individually or cumulatively will be required to incorporate 
measures as appropriate to prevent or reduce their pollution so as not to cause unacceptable 
impacts on the living conditions of all existing and potential future occupants of land and 
buildings, the character and appearance of the surrounding area and the environment. 
2. Development that may be sensitive to existing or potentially polluting sources will not be 
sited in proximity to such sources. Potentially polluting development will not be sited near to 
sensitive developments or areas unless satisfactory mitigation measures can be 
demonstrated. 
3. Where development has the potential to lead to significant pollution either individually or 
cumulatively, proposals should be accompanied by a full and detailed assessment of the likely 
impacts. Development will not be permitted when it is considered that unacceptable effects will 
be imposed on human health, or the environment, taking into account the cumulative effects 
of other proposed or existing sources of pollution in the vicinity. Development will only be 
approved where suitable mitigation can be achieved that would bring pollution within 
acceptable levels. 
4. Where future users or occupiers of a development would be affected by contamination or 
stability issues, or where contamination may present a risk to the water environment, proposals 
must demonstrate via site investigation/assessment that: 
a. Any issues will be satisfactorily addressed by appropriate mitigation measures to ensure 
that the site is suitable for the proposed use, and does not result in unacceptable risks which 
would adversely impact upon human health and the environment; and 
b. Demonstrate that development will not cause the site or the surrounding environment to 
become contaminated and/or unstable. 
5. Groundwater and surface water quality will be improved in line with the requirements of the 
European Water Framework Directive and its associated legislation and the Northumbria River 
Basin Management Plan. Development that would adversely affect the quality or quantity of 
surface or groundwater, flow of groundwater or ability to abstract water will not be permitted 
unless it can be demonstrated that no significant adverse impact would occur or mitigation can 
be put in place to minimise this impact within acceptable levels. 
6. To improve the quality of the water environment the Council will: 
a. Support ecological improvements along riparian corridors including the retention and 
creation of river frontage habitats; 
b. Avoid net loss of sensitive inter-tidal or sub-tidal habitats and support the creation of new 
habitats; and 
c. Protect natural water bodies from modification, and support the improvement and 
naturalisation of heavily modified water bodies (including de-culverting and the removal of 
barriers to fish migration). 
 
 
Economic Growth Policy 1 (EG1) - General Development Sites 

Page 41



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1. New general employment proposals will be directed to existing premises and allocated sites 
in the following locations: 
 
Site                           Area (ha) Gross            Uses Permitted 
g. Durham Lane         30 ha                )         General employment development focusing on  
h. Teesside                31 ha                )          logistics (B8 Use Class) manufacturing and  
i. Cowpen                   4 ha                  )         engineering (B2 Use Class). 
 
j. DTVA                      20 ha                           General employment land providing large-scale  
                                                                       opportunities including logistics (B8 Use Class). 
3. In order to maintain an adequate supply of land and premises for economic growth, all 
allocated sites, and all existing land and buildings last used for employment purposes, will be 
protected from alternative uses, unless it can be demonstrated through the submission of 
proportionate evidence that: 
a. The development does not lead to the loss of a key strategic site that would undermine 
economic growth across the Borough and/or the wider Tees Valley; and, 
b. The site or premises is no longer required for employment purposes, as demonstrated by 
an appropriate period of marketing extending to at least 12 months; and, 
c. The loss of the site, or part of the site, does not result in a negative impact on existing 
businesses prejudicing further commercial expansion in the area, when considered against 
policies SD8 and ENV7; and, 
d. Where appropriate, it has been demonstrated that redevelopment or refurbishment of the 
site is not viable for continued employment uses, or continued employment use would result 
in unacceptable traffic or environmental problems which would be significantly alleviated by 
the proposed use. 
 
Transport and Infrastructure Policy 1 (TI1) - Transport Infrastructure 
Delivering A Sustainable Transport Network 
1. To support economic growth and provide realistic alternatives to the private car, the Council 
will work with partners to deliver an accessible and sustainable transport network. This will be 
achieved through improvements to the public transport network and routes for pedestrians, 
cyclists and other users. 
2. A comprehensive, integrated and efficient public transport network will be delivered by: 
a. Retaining essential infrastructure that will facilitate sustainable passenger movements by 
bus, rail and water; 
b. Supporting proposals for the provision of infrastructure which will improve the operation, 
punctuality and reliability of public transport services; 
c. Supporting upgrades to railway stations within the Borough to improve access and safety; 
d. Improving public transport interchanges to allow integration between different modes of 
transport; 
e. Working with public transport operators to maintain and enhance provision wherever 
possible; 
f. Working with partners to promote the provision of accessible transport options for persons 
with reduced mobility; and 
g. Ensuring appropriate provision is made for taxis and coaches. 
3. Accessible, convenient, and safe routes for pedestrians, cyclists and other users will be 
delivered by: 
a. Improving, extending and linking the Borough's strategic and local network of footpaths, 
bridleways and cycleways; and 
b. Improving the public realm and implementing streetscape improvements to ensure they 
provide a safe and inviting environment. 
4. Sites and routes which will play a role in developing infrastructure to widen transport choice 
will be safeguarded from development which would impact negatively on their delivery or 
attractiveness to potential users; routes include: 

Page 42



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

a. Bridge and footway/cycleway link across the Rivers Tees between Ingleby Barwick and 
Egglescliffe; 
b. Cycleway/footway from Durham Road, Thorpe Thewles to Wynyard Woodland Park; 
c. Cycleway/footway to the north of Mill Lane, Long Newton; 
d. Cycleway/footway from Elton Interchange to Durham Lane Industrial Estate; 
e. Cycleway/footbridge across the A689 (via a bridge) to connect with the wider cycleway 
network at Wynyard Road; and 
f. Car parking to the west of Eaglescliffe Station and footbridge over the railway line. 
5. Essential infrastructure that will facilitate sustainable freight movements by rail and water 
will be retained. 
Highways Infrastructure 
6. To support economic growth, it is essential that the road network is safe and that journey 
times are reliable. The Council will seek to provide an efficient and extensive transport network 
which enables services and facilities to be accessible to all, accommodate the efficient delivery 
of goods and supplies, whilst also minimising congestion and the environmental impact of 
transport. 
7. Targeted improvements will be delivered at the following priority locations (routes are 
safeguarded where identified): 
a. Strategic road network: 
    i. A66 (including A66 Elton Interchange); 
    ii. A19 Widening Norton to A689 (route safeguarded); 
    iii. A19/A689 Interchange; and 
    iv. A19/A67 Interchange (Crathorne). 
b. Local road network: 
    i. Junctions associated with the West Stockton Sustainable Urban Extension; 
      1. Darlington Back Lane and Yarm Back Lane junction. 
      2. Horse and Jockey Roundabout (Durham Road, Junction Road and Harrowgate Lane). 
3. Harrowgate Lane and Leam Lane. 
    ii. Junction of A1027, Junction Road and Norton High Street, Stockton; and 
    iii. Junction of Durham Road, A1027 and Bishopton Avenue, Stockton. 
    iv. A689 at Wynyard: 
      1. Improvements at five roundabouts on A1185 Seal Sands Link Road- Wolviston Services- 
Wynyard Business Park- Wynyard East- Wynyard West. 
      2. Additional Lane on the northern carriageway of the A689/A19 junction to provide 3 lanes 
(removing existing footway) and a replacement separate cycle/footbridge over the A19. 
8. The Council and its partners will support the development of the Key Route Network which 
through continual assessment of the strategic and local road network, will help identify and 
ensure appropriate improvements are delivered. 
Aviation 
9. The Councils approach to development at Durham Tees Valley Airport is outlined in Policy 
EG5. 
New Development 
10. Existing sustainable transport and public transport infrastructure will be protected from 
development which would impair its function or attractiveness to users. 
11. To assist consideration of transport impacts, improve accessibility and safety for all modes 
of travel associated with development proposals, the Council will require, as appropriate, a 
Transport Statement or Transport Assessment and a Travel Plan. 
12. The Council and its partners will seek to ensure that all new development, where 
appropriate, which generate significant movements are located where the need to travel can 
be minimised, where practical gives priority to pedestrian and cycle movements, provides 
access to high quality public transport facilities and offers prospective residents and/or users 
with genuine sustainable transport options. This will be achieved by seeking to ensure that: 
a. Transport choices are widened and the use of sustainable transport modes are maximised. 
New developments provide access to existing sustainable and public transport networks and 
hubs. Where appropriate, networks are extended and new hubs created. When considering 

Page 43



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

how best to serve new developments, measures make best use of capacity on existing bus 
services before proposing new services and consideration is given to increasing the frequency 
of existing services or providing feeder services within the main network. 
b. Suitable access is provided for all people, including those with disabilities, to all modes of 
transport. 
c. Sufficient accessible, and convenient operational and non-operational parking for vehicles 
and cycles is provided, and where practicable, incorporates facilities for charging plug-in and 
other ultra-low emission vehicles. Any new or revised parking provision is of sufficient size and 
of a layout to facilitate it's safe and efficient operation. 
d. Appropriate infrastructure is provided which supports Travel Demand Management to 
reduce travel by the private car and incentivises the use of sustainable transport options. 
e. New development incorporates safe and secure layouts which minimises conflict between 
traffic, cyclists or pedestrians. 
13. The Council's approach to transport infrastructure provision is set out in Policy SD7. 
 
MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 

 
Principle of Development  

 
36. The application is an allocated in the local plan under policy SD4 and EG1(1g) for General 

employment development focusing on logistics (B8 Use Class) manufacturing and engineering 
(B2 Use Class).   

 
37. The proposed use is for of employment buildings (Use Class E(g)(ii & iii), B2/B8 including 

ancillary offices Use Class E(g)(i)) and service yard areas, ancillary railway sidings and 
associated works.  

 
38. E(g)(ii) is for the research and development of products or processes, and (iii) any industrial 

process, being a use, which can be carried out in any residential area without detriment to the 
amenity of that area by reason of noise, vibration, smell, fumes, smoke, soot, ash, dust or grit. 

 
39. The NPPF general theme supports the ‘Building a strong, competitive economy’ and planning 

decisions should help create the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. 
Significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity, 
taking into account both local business needs and wider opportunities for development.  

 
40. Whilst comments have been made questioning the suitability of the site and the availability of 

other land/units.  This is an allocated site and this would not be a reason to refuse the 
application as the development is generally policy compliant. 

 
41. Given the above, the principle of development is therefore considered acceptable and in broad 

compliance with the local plan. 
 

Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area 
 
42. The scheme is a hybrid scheme with the full aspect covering the infrastructure works and the 

outline covering the erection of employment buildings and associated works.  
 
43. The proposed infrastructure works include the creation of development plateaus in the western 

part of the overall site as the initial area where future units could come forward (Area A), an 
extension to the internal estate road, inclusion of drainage to serve Area A with features 
including the swale connecting east to the existing pond, inclusion of an area for storage of 
topsoil and diversion of an existing public sewer.   

 

Page 44



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

44. The development plateaus will be graded with levelled earth material. The new access will 
comprise of tarmac construction, including both the roads and as well as the footpaths. The 
applicant states that as part of these proposals, as much of the perimeter habitat will be 
retained as possible. The area of habitat that will be retained will be largely along the northern 
boundary and round the Oakwood Centres northern boundary. 

 
45. It is considered that the implementation of these works will not adversely affect the character 

and appearance of the area. 
 
46. In terms of the outline application, whilst comments from residents and the Oakwood Centre 

are noted there are no details to consider.  Once the reserved matters application(s) are 
submitted the details in terms of design, siting, scale and appearance will be considered.  The 
consideration will include securing the landscaping aspects of the development as well as the 
materials. Neighbouring properties will be consulted and offered the chance to comment. 
Conditions will control details such as lighting and means of enclosure. 

 
47. The retained habitat plans show significant areas of Landscaping removed particularly around 

the western plot.  The Appliant states this maybe due to easements, however a condition has 
been recommended to ensure the plan is updated so that only the landscaping that is essential 
to be removed is removed and the condition will secure its replacement.   

 
48. Overall it is not considered that the full application will have an adverse impact on the character 

and the appearance of the area with these conditions and actual built form can be considered 
as part of the reserved matters schemes. 

 
Impact on Neighbours  

 
49. The application site is located to the south of Nifco, an automotive component manufacturing 

business and Marshalls, a Concrete factory.  The site wraps around the Oakwood Centre which 
is home to the Tees Valley Community Church. 

 
50. To the east across the railway line are residential properties approximately 80 metres away 

from the boundary of the site.  Some of the houses fall within the boundaries of Eaglescliffe 
with Preston Conservation Area.   

 
51. The full proposal will not adversely affect these uses other than during construction which can 

be controlled via a construction management plan and limiting the hours in which the 
construction works can take place. 

 
52. In terms of the operational part of the development, whilst these details are not known the, 

noise odour and amenity considerations can be controlled and managed through the use of 
conditions.  In addition, whilst it is noted that significant landscaping has been removed by 
Network Rail, a condition has been recommended to ensure appropriate landscaping to the 
eastern boundary is provided which will provide additional screening of the proposal to the 
neighbours.  

 
Amenity Considerations – Noise  

 
53. Noise: A Noise Impact Assessment accompanies the application which has been assessed by 

the Environmental Health Team.  The Noise assessment has demonstrated that the 
development can be implemented without impacts on amenity.   
 

54. However as this is a phased development a condition has been recommended to ensure 
updated noise assessments are undertaken for each phase of development.   

 

Page 45



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

55. In addition, given the scheme may include the delivery of freight, a requirement for a noise an 
vibration assessment has been conditioned.  This will provide mitigation necessary should the 
report demonstrate an adverse impact. 
 
 

 
Impact on Heritage Assets  
 

56. A heritage statement and archaeological desk-based assessment is included in the application 
and trial trenching has taken place. 

 
57. Designated and non-designated built heritage assets within the vicinity of the site were 

identified and their significance defined which included Eaglescliffe with Preston Conservation 

Area to the east of the site and nearby listed buildings. The development will not result in any 

direct impact on the assets as they are not situated on the site. The potential for the 

development to impact on the setting of the assets was assessed, and in each instance, no 

impact on the significance of the assets was identified.    

 

58. In terms of Archaeology, there is no direct evidence for prehistoric or Roman activity within the 

proposed development area, but the presence of activity in the wider study area indicates that 

an as yet unidentified resource has the potential to exist on the site and at the request of Tees 

Archaeology trial trenching has been undertaken.  The results identified  remains of medieval 

or post-medieval ploughing, and a layer of silty clay likely from the demolition of the nearby 

Witham Hall farmstead and construction of an attenuation pond.   No other archaeological 

features or deposits were identified.  

  
59. Tees Archaeology have reviewed the information and confirmed that no further archaeological 

works are recommended in relation to the development of the area. 

 
Air Quality  
 

60. An Air Quality Assessment has been submitted which includes the findings of a construction 
phase dust assessment and operational phase road traffic emissions assessment  

 
61. In terms of dust during construction this will be subject to a CEMP and it is considered that 

with the implementation of the recommended mitigation measures the impact of construction 
phase dust emissions is considered to be ‘not significant’ in accordance with Institute of Air 
Quality Management guidance.  

 
62. In terms of road traffic, emissions were modelled using the dispersion model ADMS-Roads 

and concentrations of nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5) were 

predicted at identified sensitive receptor locations. The development was not predicted to 

result in any exceedances of the current relevant air quality objectives and the impact of the 

development with regard to these objectives was predicted to be ‘negligible’ in accordance 

with guidance.  

 
63. Based on the assessment results, the impact of the proposed development with regards to the 

current relevant air quality objectives was considered to be not significant and this view was 

supported by the Environmental Health Team. No further mitigation is required, however, 

development measures which may be considered beneficial to air quality include cycle parking 

provision, Electric Vehicle charging and a Sustainable Travel Plan all of which will be secured 

by condition. 

Page 46



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Traffic and Transport  

 
64. The Application is accompanied by a Transport Assessment and subsequent addendums; 

Traffic modelling indicates the proposed development is expected to generate up to 238 two-
way trips in the AM peak and 249 in the PM peak under the core assessment scenario.  Further 
information was sought during the course of the application to enable a robust assessment of 
the impact to be considered 

 
65. Comments from neighbours have raised concerns over traffic in particular the A66 Elton 

interchange.  The greatest increase in journey times in the morning peak period scenarios is 
expected to be on the Yarm Back Lane (southbound) approach but is not replicated in modelled 
queue lengths; suggesting a negligible delay through this route and the greatest increase in 
journey times in the pm scenario is expected to be on the Durham Lane (northbound) 
approach. However, the queue length would not change as a result of the proposed 
development.   

 
66. A negligible impact to journey times have been recorded on all slip roads at the Elton 

Interchange; the greatest increase of any route is recorded at 3 seconds on the westbound 

diverge in the PM scenario; and modelled queue lengths displayed negligible difference in a 

Do Minimum scenario compared to a Do Nothing, with very minimal queues identified on all 

slip roads, which would be contained within the existing stacking space and avoid impacting 

the A66 mainline. It is therefore considered that the proposed scheme will not have a significant 

adverse impact to warrant refusal of the application  

 
67. In terms of the Durham Lane / Cleasby Way Junction this will still operate within complete 

capacity within the current configuration and the A66 Preston Interchange assessment 

indicates a negligible impact on the operation of the merge and diverges at this interchange in 

a Do Minimum scenario.  

 
68. The report highlights several existing active travel and public transport routes in the vicinity of 

the site, along with committed and planned schemes to enhance cycling and walking 
connections to key public transport interchanges. These improvements align with the 
development’s objective of promoting sustainable infrastructure and reducing reliance on 
single-occupancy car journeys.   Comments have been submitted regarding the cycle route 
and a potential bus stop.  These comments have been noted and whilst the scheme does not 
form part of this application the comments have been passed to the Applicant for consideration. 

 
69. Comments from the Oakwood Centre were passed to the HTDM fore review and it was 

confirmed that restrictions on the access road to the west of the community church are not 
necessary as it is currently a dead end that serves the Oakwood Centre and is therefore being 
utilised as additional parking. Should this application be approved, it will become a through 
route which in itself will discourage vehicles from parking on the section beyond the access to 
the Oakwood Centre car park.  In terms of pedestrian access from Cleasby Way to the church 
the current junction already has a dropped crossing which is on the pedestrian desire line for 
people walking from Durham Lane to the Oakwood Centre so providing an additional dropped 
crossing further north along the access road would be of no benefit. 

 
70. A Travel Plan submitted with the application outlines the proposed targets and measures 

aimed at managing and reducing car travel for staff at the proposed development through the 
promotion of sustainable alternatives. It acts as a preliminary report that can be built on and 
adapted as the Travel Plan process develops once units are constructed on site and occupiers 
take space.  A condition has been recommended for the TP. 

 

Page 47



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

71. The Highways Transport and Design Manager and National Highways have considered the 
information and raise no objections subject to the submission of a construction management 
plan which has been secured by condition. 

 
72. Tees Valley Community Church may be willing to offer car parking spaces in its large main car 

park, Monday to Friday, as the works progress, subject to discussions and mutually agreeable 
terms and conditions. This information has been passed to the Applicant for consideration  

 
73. Overall, it is considered that the proposed scheme Is in accordance with the NPPG and local 

plan policies and would have a negligible highway impact on the surrounding roads and no 

mitigation is required  

 
Impact on the Railway 

 
74. The application is within close proximity to the railway and accordingly Network Rail have 

commented on the application.   
 
75. The outline element (Area B) is closest to the railway and further considerations will be required 

when the reserved matters application for these areas are submitted.   
 
76. The response from Network Rail has been sent to the Applicants and conditions have been 

recommended which will ensure no adverse impact on the railway or associated assets 
 

77. The application is proposing railway sidings to support proposed B2/B8 units.. This would be 
subject to the developer seeking the relevant consent and entering into any licenses and 
agreements required,  This information has been sent to the applicant for consideration and 
will be included in the reserved matters application. 

 
Aviation  
 

78. The application site sites within the Airport Consultation zone and accordingly the Aviation 
Consultees were notified.  Teesside Airport responded with no objection subject to a number 
of conditions which have been recommended 

 
Flood Risk 
 

79. The Application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and Drainage Statement.  

The Site is located entirely within Flood Zone 1 which is land defined as being at a low 

probability of flooding from rivers or seas and the site is predominantly at a very low risk of 

flooding from surface water.    

 
80. The information has been considered by the Lead Local Flood Authority and the Environment 

Agency who are satisfied that a suitable drainage scheme can be achieved and raise no 
objection subject to conditions to secure the final details which have been recommended and 
further reports should infiltration be required. 

 
81. Concerns regarding the levels are noted, however these levels have not been approved and 

will be subject to further consideration which will in turn ensure that the development will not 
adversely affect the Oakwood Centre or any other neighbouring units. 
 
Ecology and BNG 

 

Page 48



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

82. A Preliminary Ecological Assessment (PEA) and Desk Study, Biodiversity Net Gain summary, 
a Breeding Bird Survey, Bat Activity Survey, Climbed Tree Survey for Area A, ECIA and eDNA 
test report have been produced and submitted with the application. 

 
83. The Bat Survey and additional climbing survey confirms that based on the information collected 

and the sensitive design of the masterplan, the proposed development is unlikely to impact 
significantly on the local bat populations and makes a number of recommendations which have 
been conditions  

 
84. The Breeding bird Survey found that the range of species is typical of the habitats found here 

and its position in the wider area. The Site supports the same broad range of habitats as at the 
time of the surveys by Argus Ecology and therefore the results, conclusions and 
recommendations of this survey work are still accurate and provide suitable baseline for further 
assessment and mitigation planning. On-going precautions are recommended and these have 
been conditioned  

 
85. There will be some impacts resulting from habitat loss (of a mix of grassland and scrub) from 

the site and the lag-time between loss and re-creation on or off-site. This will result in a short 
term, reversible negative impact acting on birds and bats at a local scale and at a district level 
for kestrel, willow warbler, common whitethroat, sedge warbler, wren and bullfinch and at a 
county level in respect of grasshopper warbler.  

 
86. The results of the Great Crested Newts have shown that the risk of GCN being present on Site 

is negligible and further survey or specific mitigation is not considered necessary.  
 
87. The site supports some suitable habitat for this Harvest Mouse however evidence shows they 

have not colonised this site, but proportionate precautions in relation to the outside chance of 
it colonising should be part of the Site’s CEMP (biodiversity) which has been secured as a 
recommended condition.  

 
88. In terms of Invasive Non-Native Species, Cotoneaster spp. was noted however is not 

considered to be an issue in relation to spread of this species into the wild and additional 
precaution is not required at this stage.    Due to the nearby presence of giant hogweed, this 
will need to be a consideration in progressing development on the site and suitable precautions 
should be taken.  This will be set out in the site’s CEMP.  

 
89. Mitigation and enhancement measures have been recommended within the preliminary 

ecological assessment, and as set out in the report with these secured , the proposals would 
comply with relevant policy and legislation relating to wildlife and ecology  

 
90. Whilst comments in relation to the use of this land for recreation are noted, this land is an 

allocated site in the local plan and its informal use by residents would not be a reason to refuse 
the application. 

 
91. With regards to Biodiversity Net Gain, the works include a BNG assessment.  In recognition 

that phased development can often be implemented over a long period of time, the purpose of 
the Overall Biodiversity Gain Plan is to confirm that there is a clear upfront framework for how 
the biodiversity gain objective of at least a 10% gain is expected to be met across the entire 
development. Each Phase Biodiversity Gain Plan will subsequently set out a phase’s 
contribution to biodiversity net gain and confirm progress towards the overall biodiversity gain 
objective for the development once clear proposals for each phase have been developed. In 
this context the online planning policy guidance (PPG) highlights that a phased development 
must meet the biodiversity gain objective of at least 10% net gain. In doing so the guidance 
makes clear that the net gain objective of 10% applies to the overall development (not each 

Page 49



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

phase). The contribution of each phase to achieving net gain may vary, providing a net gain of 
at least 10% is achieved for the overall development at the time of its completion. 

 
92. Given this mandatory requirement for  a 10% gain a condition has been recommended to 

secure these details in the form of an Overall Biodiversity Gain Plan along with a Habitat 
Monitoring and Management Plan.   

 
Land Contamination  

 
93. A preliminary investigation report was submitted which identified the need for Intrusive Ground 

Investigation and further reports to be submitted. This high-level investigation has confirmed 
that there is a low risk to the site geotechnically and from land contamination The results have 
confirmed that ground gas protection may be required within future structures. Further targeted 
monitoring and an updated assessment is recommended once development layouts are 
confirmed and further investigation is recommended targeting specific footprints and design 
requirements. 
 

94. The Contaminated Land Officer has considered the submitted information and raised no 
objection subject to condition which has been recommended. 

 
Other Matters 

 

95. Policy ENV1 addresses ‘Energy Efficiency’ with the Council encouraging all developments to 
minimise the effects of climate change through meeting the highest possible environmental 
standards during construction and occupation. Whilst the application does not include any built 
form, a condition has ben recommended to ensure the policy requirements are met.  

 
96. Comments from Cleveland Police and Cleveland Fire Brigade are noted, these matters will ne 

considered at reserved matters stage or where appropriate through the building regulation 
process 

 
97. Comments regarding Devaluation are noted but cannot be considered as part of the 

application. 
 

CONCLUSION 

 
98. It is recommended that the application be Approved with Conditions for the reasons specified 

above. 
 
Director of Finance, Development and Business Services 
Contact Officer Elaine Atkinson   Telephone No  01642 526062   
 
WARD AND WARD COUNCILLORS 
Ward    Eaglescliffe East 
Ward Councillor  Councillor Stefan Houghton 
Ward Councillor  Councillor Jim Taylor 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Financial Implications: In order to unlock the site for redevelopment the Council is contributing 
£3million of Indigenous Growth funding to deliver the infrastructure. This funding needs to be 
committed by the 31st March 2026.  
 
Environmental Implications: See Report  
 

Page 50



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Human Rights Implications: The provisions of the European Convention of Human Rights 1950 
have been taken into account in the preparation of this report. 
 
Community Safety Implications: The provisions of Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
have been taken into account in the preparation of this report 
 
Background Papers 
National Planning Policy Framework 
Stockton on Tees Local Plan Adopted 2019 and Supplementary Planning Documents  
Application File  
 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 52



Application 25/0672/FUL 

Appendix 1 – Location Plan  

 

Hybrid planning application comprising; 
1. Full application for access and infrastructure works including provision of part of internal estate road and earthworks 

associated with re-profiling of existing site levels for creation of development plateaus, drainage works, utilities 
infrastructure and temporary top soil storage.  

2, Outline application with all matters reserved other than access for erection of employment buildings (Use Class E(g)(ii & 
iii), B2/B8 including ancillary offices Use Class E(g)(i)) and service yard areas, ancillary railway sidings and associated works. 

Land East Of Durham Lane, Eaglescliffe, Stockton On Tees 

 

 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 54



Application 25/0672/FUL 

Appendix 2 – Plan showing the Infrastructure Works 

 

Hybrid planning application comprising; 
1. Full application for access and infrastructure works including provision of part of internal estate road and earthworks 

associated with re-profiling of existing site levels for creation of development plateaus, drainage works, utilities 
infrastructure and temporary top soil storage.  

2, Outline application with all matters reserved other than access for erection of employment buildings (Use Class E(g)(ii & 
iii), B2/B8 including ancillary offices Use Class E(g)(i)) and service yard areas, ancillary railway sidings and associated works. 

Land East Of Durham Lane, Eaglescliffe, Stockton On Tees 

 

 

 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 56



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 

 

DELEGATED AGENDA NO 

 PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 10 SEPTEMEBER 2025  

 REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF 

INCLUSIVE GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT  

 
 
24/0977/OUT  
Little Maltby Farm, Low Lane, High Leven 
Outline Planning Application (with all matters reserved except access) comprising a 
convenience foodstore and a parade of 4no convenience facilities (Use Class E) and 
associated outdoor terrace area.  Erection of retirement living apartments (use class C3) or 
residential care accommodation (use class C2) of approx. 60 bed spaces. Erection of 4no self 
build residential plots (Use Class C3). Highway access to/from the A1104 Low Lane via 
Welwyn Road and Melandra Road connecting to northeast boundary, with associated 
landscaping, open space and associated works.  
 
Expiry Date:   9 September 2024 
Extension of Time Date: 12 September 2025 
 
SUMMARY 
 
Outline Planning permission (with all matters reserved except access) is sought for the comprising 
a convenience foodstore and a parade of 4no convenience facilities (Use Class E) and associated 
outdoor terrace area.  Erection of retirement living apartments (use class C3) or residential care 
accommodation (use class C2) of approx. 60 bed spaces. Erection of 4no self build residential plots 
(Use Class C3). with associated landscaping, open space and associated works. Since the original 
scheme was submitted, the 40 apartments have been removed 
 
The principle of a local centre within this area has previously been accepted through earlier outline 
approvals and the site is allocated for Housing in the Local Plan.  The development has attached a 
number of objections which have been considered in full and there are no planning reasons to refuse 
the development. 
 
The proposal is considered to be acceptable in planning terms in all other regards and is 
recommended for approval subject to those conditions detailed within the report.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
That planning application 24/0977/OUT be approved subject to the following conditions and 
informatives; 
 
01 Reserved Matters - Time Period for submission  
Application for the approval of reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning Authority before 
the expiration of 3 years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: By virtue of the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
02 Period for Commencement 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of 3 years from the 
date of this permission, or before the expiration of 2 years from the date of approval of the last of the 
reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the latest. 

Page 57

Agenda Item 6



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Reason: By virtue of the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
03 Reserved Matters – Details 
Notwithstanding the submitted plans, approval of the details of the Appearance, Landscaping, Layout 
and Scale of the development known as the ‘Reserved Matters’ shall be obtained in writing from the 
Local Planning Authority before the development is commenced. The development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved plans 
 
Reason: To reserve the rights of the Local Planning Authority with regard to these matters   
 
04 Approved Plans 
The development hereby approved shall be in accordance with the following approved plan(s);  
 

Plan Reference Number Date Received   

P19-2015_Figure 3.3 11 August 2025   

230040-3DR-ZZ-00-DR-A-080001-P04 14 July 2025   

    

Reason:  To define the consent. 
 
05 Scope 
The development shall be implemented in general conformity with the approved Illustrative 
Masterplan submitted with the planning application. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the Reserved Matters for the appearance, layout and scale of the buildings 
and landscaping to be submitted are in accordance with the master plan on which the development 
has been considered and to enable the Local Planning Authority to satisfactorily control the 
development. 
 
06 Control over extent of convenience shop; 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
Order, the convenience store hereby approved shall not exceed a net retail sales area of 280sqm.  
  
Reason: To define the extent of the retail unit to ensure that its scale remain appropriate within the 
development of a local centre and accord with Sunday Trading Laws . 
 
07 Existing and Proposed Site levels; 
Notwithstanding the information submitted as part of the application, for each phase details of the 
existing and proposed site levels and finished floor levels shall be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development.  
  
Reason: To define the consent and to ensure that the development does not adversely impact on 
the visual amenities of the area 
 
08  Accessible and adaptable homes  
Notwithstanding the submitted plans two of the proposed dwellings shall meet Building Regulation 
M4 (2).  
  

Reason: In the interests of promoting accessible and adaptable homes.  
 
09 Sustainable Surface Water Drainage Scheme  
The development hereby approved shall not be commenced on site, until a scheme for ‘the 
implementation, maintenance and management of a Sustainable Surface Water Drainage Scheme 
has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme 

Page 58



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

shall be implemented and thereafter managed and maintained in accordance with the approved 
details, the scheme shall include but not be restricted to providing the following details; 
I. Detailed design of the surface water management system; (for each phase of the 
development). 
II. A build programme and timetable for the provision of the critical surface water drainage 
infrastructure;  
III. A management plan detailing how surface water runoff from the site will be managed during 
the construction phase; 
IV. Details of adoption responsibilities 
  
Reason:  To ensure the site is developed in a manner that will not increase the risk of surface water 
flooding to site or surrounding area, in accordance with the Local Plan Policies SD5 & ENV4 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
10 Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy 
The development permitted by this planning permission shall only be carried out in accordance with 
the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) & Drainage Strategy Revision D dated 08th August 
2025 and the following mitigation measures detailed within the FRA; 

• Discharge to the watercourse restricted to 6.7l/s 

• 546m3 of storage to be provided. 
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation and subsequently in 
accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any 
period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local planning authority. 
 
Reason:  To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of / disposal of surface water from 
the site and to reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants. 
 
11 Discharge of Surface Water: pre-occupation 
The buildings hereby approved shall not be brought into use until:- 
I. Requisite elements of the approved surface water management scheme for the 
development, or any phase of the development are in place and fully operational to serve said 
building 
II. The drawings of all Suds features have been submitted and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, the drawings should highlight all site levels, including the 30year and 100year+cc 
flood levels and confirmation of storage capacity    
III. A Management and maintenance plan of the approved Surface Water Drainage scheme has 
been submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, this should include the 
funding arrangements and cover the lifetime of the development 
 
Reason:  To reduce flood risk and ensure satisfactory long-term maintenance are in place for the 
lifetime of the development.    
  
12 Foul Drainage 
Development shall not commence on each phase until a detailed scheme for the disposal of foul 
water from the development hereby approved has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority in consultation with Northumbrian Water and the Lead Local Flood 
Authority. Thereafter the development shall take place in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding from any sources in accordance with the NPPF. 
 
13; Archaeology 
No development shall commence until a programme of archaeological work for each phase including 
a Written Scheme of Investigation has been submitted to and approved by the local planning 
authority in writing. The scheme shall include an assessment of significance and research questions; 
and:  

Page 59



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1. The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording  
2. The programme for post investigation assessment  
3. Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and recording  
4. Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis and records of the site 
investigation  
5. Provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and records of the site investigation  
6. Nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to undertake the works set out within 
the Written Scheme of Investigation.  
 
B) No development shall take place other than in accordance with the Written Scheme of 
Investigation approved under condition (A).  
 
C) The development shall not be occupied until the site investigation and post investigation 
assessment has been completed in accordance with the programme set out in the Written Scheme 
of Investigation approved under condition (A) and the provision made for analysis, publication and 
dissemination of results and archive deposition has been secured.  
 
Reason:  To ensure the archaeological interest of the site is fully investigated and recorded where 
necessary  
 
14 Ecology and Biodiversity  
Works shall be undertaken in accordance with the recommendations as detailed in the submitted 
June 2025.  Any works on site that require clearing areas of scrub and vegetation in advance of any 
proposed development should be completed during the period September to February to avoid any 
disturbance to breeding birds between 1st March and 31st August. Where clearance does take place 
during the bird breeding season, a pre-clearance check of the area should be carried out by a 
suitability qualified ecologist. 
 
Reason: To conserve protected species and their habitat where necessary 
 
15 Ecology Survey 
If work does not commence on each phase within 2 years from the date of the submitted ecology 
survey, a maximum of three months before works commencing on site a suitably qualified ecologist 
shall undertake a checking survey to ensure that no protected species or their habitat are present 
on site.  The results of the survey shall be submitted and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority and identify any additional or revised mitigation measures required  

 
Reason: To conserve protected species and their habitat where necessary 
 
16 Nitrate Mitigation 
Other than the local centre, no development shall commence until the applicant has satisfactorily 
demonstrated to the Local Planning Authority that they have completed the purchase of the allocated 
Nutrient Credits in Accordance with the submitted Option Agreement. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not adversely impact on the Teesmouth 
and Cleveland Coast Special Protection Area through increased nutrient pollution. 
 
17 BNG  
Prior to the commencement of work a Biodiversity Gain Plan,  must be submitted to and approved 
by the planning authority before the development can begin; and thereafter a Biodiversity Gain Plan 
for each reserved matter in relation to layout must be submitted to and approved by the planning 
authority before the development of that phase can begin and ensure that there is a minimum 10% 
net gain in biodiversity within a 30 year period as a result of the development 
 

Page 60



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Reason: In the interests of ensuring measurable net gains to biodiversity and allow the LPA to 
discharge its duties under the NPPF (2023) 
 
18 Biodiversity Management and Monitoring Plan 
No development shall commence until a Biodiversity Management and Monitoring Plan to ensure 
that there is a minimum 10% net gain in biodiversity within a 30 year period as a result of the 
development has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
Biodiversity Management Plan shall include 30 year objectives, management responsibilities, 
maintenance schedules and a methodology to ensure the submission of monitoring reports. 
 
Monitoring reports will be submitted to the Council during years 2, 5, 7, 10, 20 and 30 from 
commencement of development unless otherwise stated in the Biodiversity Management Plan, 
demonstrating how the BNG is progressing towards achieving its objectives, evidence of 
arrangements and any rectifying measures needed. 
 
Reason: In the interests of ensuring measurable net gains to biodiversity and allow the LPA to 
discharge its duties under the NPPF (2023) 
 
19 Construction Environmental Management Plan 
No part of the development hereby approved shall commence until a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority for each phase. The CEMP shall set out, as a minimum, site specific measures to control 
and monitor impact arising in relation to noise and vibration, dust and air pollutants (in broad 
accordance with the Revised Air Quality Assessment June 2025), land contamination and ecology.  
The CEMP shall include measures to effectively control dust emissions from the site works, in 
accordance with an impact assessment undertaken in accordance with the IAQM guidance, this shall 
address earth moving activities, control and treatment of stockpiles. It shall also set out 
arrangements by which the developer shall maintain communication with businesses and residential 
premises in the vicinity of the site, and by which the developer shall monitor and document 
compliance with the measures set out in the CEMP. The development shall be carried out in full 
accordance with the approved CEMP at all times. 

Reason: In the interests of protecting the environment. 

20 Construction Traffic Management Plan  
Other than site preparation works, prior to the commencement of development, a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan shall be submitted and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority for 
each phase and shall provide details of  the routing of all HGVs movements associated with the 
construction phases, parking for use during construction and measures to protect any existing 
footpaths and verges, vehicle movements, wheel cleansing, sheeting of vehicles, offsite dust/odour 
monitoring and communication with local residents.   Work shall be undertaken in accordance with 
the agreed details. 
 
Reason: To ensure the impact of the development is sufficiently controlled and to mitigate any 
adverse impact from the development 
 
21 Servicing Plan  
Notwithstanding the submitted Servicing Plan, final details of servicing arrangements for the 
commercial units shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior 
to first use of any of the commercial units. The Servicing Plan shall include details of deliveries, 
refuse collection, and measures to mitigate noise arising from, and not limited to, vehicle movements. 
The development thereafter shall be operated in accordance with the approved Servicing Plan.  
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and residential amenity 

Page 61



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
22 Preliminary Risk Assessment 
No development approved by this planning permission (or such other date or stage in development 
as may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority), shall take place until a scheme that 
includes the following components to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site 
shall each be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the local planning authority: 
A preliminary risk assessment which has identified all previous uses; potential contaminants 
associated with those uses; a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and 
receptors and potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site. 

• A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed assessment of the 
risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site. 

• The results of the site investigation and detailed risk assessment referred to in (2) and, based on 
these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation 
measures required and how they are to be undertaken. 

• A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to demonstrate that 
the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete and identifying any requirements 
for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency 
action. 

Any changes to these components require the express written consent of the local planning authority. 
The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 
 
Reason: National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraph 109 states that the planning system 
should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by preventing both new and 
existing development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely 
affected by unacceptable levels of water and land pollution.  
 
23 Cycle Storage 
Prior to the occupation of each building/block, a scheme for cycle parking, in broad accordance with 
SPD3 (Parking Provision for New developments) shall be submitted and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented in full and retained for the life of the 
development. 
 
Reason: in the interests of providing sustainable travel options for the site. 
 
24 Electric Vehicle Charging 
Notwithstanding the submitted details, a scheme for the provision of electrical charging points for the 
charging of electrical motor vehicles, shall be submitted and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority.  The charging points shall be in place prior to the occupation of the buildings. 
 
Reason:-to ensure a satisfactory form of development 
 
25 Waste Storage 
Prior to the occupation of each building/unit, a scheme for secure refuse storage shall be submitted 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented in full and 
retained for the life of the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development. 
 
26 Lighting;  
Prior to commencement of works on each phase, other than site clearances and preparation works, 
details of the external appearance of all external lighting, including colour and luminance shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority before such lighting is erected. 
The lighting shall be installed in accordance with the agreed details and be in place prior to 
occupation.  

Page 62



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Reason: To avoid light pollution in the interests of the visual amenities of the area  
 
27 Means of Enclosure 
Prior to installation, details of the means of enclosure shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  Such means of enclosure shall be erected before the development 
hereby approved is occupied.   
 
Reason:  In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality  
 
28 Energy Efficiency  
Prior to the erection of any buildings, other than the individual dwellings,  an Energy Statement shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The statement shall identify 
the predicted energy consumption, the associated CO2 emissions and how the energy hierarchy has 
been applied to the development, including an investigation into the feasibility and viability of 
connection to decentralised energy networks for heat and power and the achievement of a “Very 
Good” BREEAM rating for the scheme. The statement shall set out the feasibility and viability of 
achieving a minimum 10% reduction in CO2 emissions from the development, over and above 
current Building Regulations Part L requirements, or a minimum of 10% of the total predicted energy 
requirements of the development will be generated from renewable energy sources. Development 
shall be carried out thereafter in a manner that incorporates any feasible and viable measures 
identified. 
 
Reason: Reason: In the interests of promoting sustainable development in accordance with the 
requirements of Local Plan Policies ENV1 and ENV3. 
 
29 Noise disturbance from New Plant Air Conditioning/ /Odour control  
Prior to the installation of any air conditioning units/ plant equipment / means of mechanical 
ventilation and/or a ventilation and fume extraction system in the car facility or local centre, full details 
shall first be submitted to and be agreed in writing by the Local planning Authority. Such details shall 
including a full technical specification by a suitably qualified technical professional person, details of 
the position of any A/C unit, plant and/or ventilation, fume or flue outlet points and the type of filtration 
or other odour treatment which shall be installed and used at the premises. Thereafter the equipment 
shall be installed in accordance with the agreed details prior to the development being brought into 
use and shall be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s recommendations, including the 
frequency of replacement of any filters, for the lifetime of the development.  
 
The rating level of sound emitted from [any fixed plant and/or machinery associated with the 
development] [industrial activities at the use hereby approved] shall not exceed background sound 
levels by more than 5dB (A) between the hours of 0700-2300 (taken as a 1 hour LA90 at the nearest 
sound sensitive premises) and shall not exceed the background sound level between 2300-0700 
(taken as a 15 minute LA90 at the nearest sound sensitive premises). All measurements shall be 
made in accordance with the methodology of BS4142: 2014 (Methods for rating and assessing 
industrial and commercial sound) and/or its subsequent amendments. Where access to the nearest 
sound sensitive property is not possible, measurements shall be undertaken at an appropriate 
location and corrected to establish the noise levels at the nearest sound sensitive property. Any 
deviations from the LA90 time interval stipulated above shall be agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. Reason: In the interest of protecting future occupiers’ amenity in accordance with 
local plan policy SD8 and the NPPF 
 
Reason: To protect the amenities of nearby residents.  
 
 
 
 

Page 63



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

30  Construction Noise  
No construction/building works or deliveries shall be carried out except between the hours of 8.00am 
and 6.00pm on Mondays to Fridays and between 9.00am and 1.00pm on Saturdays. There shall be 
no construction activity including demolition on Sundays or on Bank Holidays.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development does not prejudice the enjoyment of neighbouring 
occupiers of their properties. 
 
31 Unexpected Land Contamination  
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved development 
that was not previously identified, works must be halted on that part of the site affected by the 
unexpected contamination and it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning 
Authority.  An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken to the extent specified by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to resumption of the works. Following completion of measures 
identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification report must be submitted in writing and 
approval by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure any unknown contaminative features encountered during the development are 
investigated and remediated to an acceptable standard. 
 
32 Use of the Units  
The premises in the local centre hereby permitted shall be used only for uses falling within use class 
E (a, b, c, d, e and f) of the Town and Country Planning Act (Use Classes) Order as subsequently 
amended and only one unit shall be operated as a E(b) use. 
  
Reason: To define the consent and in the interests of securing the development to meet the local 
needs. 
 
33 Hot food takeaways and fast food outlets 
The buildings hereby approved shall not be occupied by hot food takeaways and/or fast food outlets. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of health and wellbeing in accordance with the NPPF. 
 
34 No subdivision/ Amalgamation  
The premises shall not be sub-divided or combined into independent units without the prior written 
consent of Local Planning Authority and shall therefore be retained as such notwithstanding the 
provisions of Part 3 of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that order).  
 
Reason: To define the consent and in the interests of securing the development to meet the local 
needs. 
 
35 Hours of Operation  
The hereby approved units shall not operate outside the hours of 
7.00 - 23.00 Monday to Saturday and 10.00 – 16.00  Sundays or Bank holidays ((except for any unit 
operating under Use Class E(b)) 
Any units operating under a Class E(b) use the hours shall be restricted to 7.00 to 22.00hrs Monday 
to Saturday and 09.00 – 19.00 on Sundays/Bank Holidays 
The outdoor food and beverage terrace shall only be used between the hours of 9.00 – 18:00hrs.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the future neighbouring residential premises. 
 
36 Deliveries  
No deliveries shall be taken at or dispatched from the site outside the hours of 09:00Hrs and 
18:00Hrs Monday - Saturday with no deliveries Sundays or Bank Holidays. 

Page 64



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Reason: To adequately control the level of activity from the premises in the interests of protecting 
the residents amenity.  
 
INFORMATIVE OF REASON FOR PLANNING APPROVAL 
 
Informative: Working Practices 
The Local Planning Authority has worked in a positive and proactive manner and sought solutions 
to problems arising in dealing with the planning application by seeking a revised scheme to overcome 
issues and by the identification and imposition of appropriate planning conditions. 
 
Informative: Reserved matters  
When submitting the application(s) for reserved matters; the reserved matters should include the 
following details 
"access", means the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms 
of the positioning and treatment of access and circulation routes and how these fit into the 
surrounding access network; where "site" means the site or part of the site in respect of which outline 
planning permission is granted or, as the case may be, in respect of which an application for such a 
permission has been made; 
"layout" means the way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within the development are 
provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other and to buildings and spaces outside the 
development;  
"appearance" means the aspects of a building or place within the development which determines 
the visual impression the building or place makes, including the external built form of the 
development, its architecture, materials, decoration, lighting, colour and texture;  
"scale" means the height, width and length of each building proposed within the development in 
relation to its surroundings; 
"landscaping", in relation to a site or any part of a site for which outline planning permission has been 
granted or, as the case may be, in respect of which an application for such permission has been 
made, means the treatment of land (other than buildings) for the purpose of enhancing or protecting 
the amenities of the site and the area in which it is situated and includes— 
(a) screening by fences, walls or other means; 
(b) the planting of trees, hedges, shrubs or grass; 
(c) the formation of banks, terraces or other earthworks; 
(d) the laying out or provision of gardens, courts, squares, water features, sculpture or public art; 
and 
(e) the provision of other amenity features; 
 
Informative Use Class E. Definition 
Commercial, Business and Service Use, or part use, for all or any of the following purposes—  
(a) for the display or retail sale of goods, other than hot food, principally to visiting members of the 
public,  
(b) for the sale of food and drink principally to visiting members of the public where consumption of 
that food and drink is mostly undertaken on the premises,  
(c) for the provision of the following kinds of services principally to visiting members of the public— 
(i) financial services, (ii) professional services (other than health or medical services), or (iii) any 
other services which it is appropriate to provide in a commercial, business or service locality,  
(d) for indoor sport, recreation or fitness, not involving motorised vehicles or firearms or use as a 
swimming pool or skating rink, principally to visiting members of the public,  
(e) for the provision of medical or health services, principally to visiting members of the public, 
except the use of premises attached to the residence of the consultant or practitioner,  
(f) for a creche, day nursery or day centre, not including a residential use, principally to visiting 
members of the public,  
(g) for— (i) an office to carry out any operational or administrative functions, (ii) the research and 
development of products or processes, or (iii) any industrial process, being a use, which can be 

Page 65



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

carried out in any residential area without detriment to the amenity of that area by reason of noise, 
vibration, smell, fumes, smoke, soot, ash, dust or grit. 
 
BACKGROUND 

 
1. The site is allocated in the local plan as a housing commitment.  The area identified as IB3 is 

for 1,155 dwellings and IB7, the adjacent site is for 66 dwellings giving a total of 1221 across 
the Low Lane site.  There is an approval on land not within the allocation for 9 dwellings.  
 

2. The site has previously benefited from planning permissions for a total of 970 dwellings and a 
local centre up to 2500m2, albeit this scheme was not implemented. 

 
SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 
3. The application site is the southern end of Ingleby Barwick.  The site is accessed from Low 

Lane via Welwyn Road to the west and Melandra Road to the south. 
 
4. To the north of the site is an area allocated for open space and to the west is Ingleby Manor 

Free School.   
 
5. Newly Built residential properties are located to the south and further developments are 

ongoing to the north east.  To the immediate east of the site is Little Maltby Farm (a grade 2 
listed building) and The Haybarn.  

 
PROPOSAL 
 
6. Outline Planning Application (with all matters reserved except access) is sought for 
 

• A convenience food store and a parade of 4no convenience facilities (Use Class E) and 
associated outdoor terrace area.  The supporting information states that the local centre is 
proposed at the heart of the Low Lane/ Ingleby Manor development area. This will provide 
for day to day convenience shopping needs of residents and school students.  The local 
centre is proposed to be located directly along Welwyn Road with an additional pedestrian 
and vehicular access from Melandra Road. 

 

• Erection of retirement living apartments (use class C3) or residential care accommodation 
(use class C2) of approx. 60 bed spaces. The care home / retirement living for people who 
require extra care and want to remain in the area of Ingleby Barwick.  
 

• Erection of up to 4no self build residential plots (Use Class C3).  
 
7. The original proposal included 40 apartments, but this has been removed from the scheme  
 
CONSULTATION 
 
8. Consultees were notified and the following comments were received. 
 
9. Highways Transport & Design Manager 

The proposals are outline with all matters reserved except for access therefore the comments 
provided only relate to the traffic impact and access arrangements of the proposals as the 
internal layout and car parking provision will be considered at reserved matters should this 
application be approved.  The applicant has submitted a Transport Statement (TS) and a 
Proposed Masterplan (Drwg No. 230040-3DR-ZZ-00-DR-A-070005 Rev P12) in support of the 
proposals. 

Page 66



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Traffic Impact: As set out in the TS the site has previously benefited from planning permissions 
for a total of 970 dwellings and a local centre up to 2500m2.  The TS also demonstrates that, 
based on the current proposed level of housing on the site, which is circa 854 dwellings, the 
traffic associated with the current proposals would fall within the level previously agreed and 
accepted.  Taking the above into account it cannot be demonstrated within the context of the 
NPPF that the residual cumulative impacts on the road network of the proposals would be 
severe. Therefore, a highways objection cannot be raised in relation to the impact of the 
proposals on the local road network. 
 
Access Arrangements: Tracking drawings have been provided for the proposed site access, 
taken from Welwyn Road, which will potentially serve a car park and service yard however, as 
set out above the internal layout of the development is not being considered at this stage. 
The tracking drawings have demonstrated that it is possible to provide an access from Welwyn 
Road which allows for sufficient space and intervisibility between vehicles to avoid a conflict 
between a delivery vehicle and a visitor to the development which is considered to be 
acceptable. 
The two proposed simple T junctions taken from Melandra Road to serve the development are 
also acceptable.  Therefore, subject to a construction traffic management plan being secured 
by condition there are no highways objections to the proposals. 

  
10. Flood Risk Management 

The applicant has provided sufficient information to satisfy the Local Lead Flood Authority that 
a surface water runoff solution can be achieved without increasing existing flood risk to the site 
or the surrounding area. However the applicant has not provided a detailed design for the 
management of surface water runoff from the proposed development and this information 
should be secured by condition. 
 

11. Environmental Health Unit 
I have checked the documentation provided, have found no grounds to object to the principle 
of this development however, I would make some additional comments for recommendations 
should this application be successful. 
Contaminated Land: I have read the Phase 1 Desk Study ref EMS3627 DS dated 2012 and 
although I agree with the conclusions and recommendations to complete further investigation, 
as they may have been at that time, It is my professional opinion that this report needs to be 
updated and checked to ensure nothing further has changed since the initial site walk over 
was carried out over 12 years ago. 
Noise Assessment: I have read and understood the Noise Assessment Report reference: 
NJD24-0027-002R and I am in full agreement of their overall assessment process and their 
recommendations, however, SBC would usually like the initial monitoring period to be over a 
7days period rather than just the 24 hours as in the report, and my recommendation would be 
to ensure their mitigation measures are put in place and that the expected outcomes are 
demonstrated through a validation report which should be completed and agreed prior to any 
residential premises being occupied.  As for the commercial premises, I would be 
recommending restrictions be put in place for operating hours and delivery hours until the 
individual unit's use is identified, at this stage I would be recommending operating hours 07:00-
23:00 Monday - Saturday 10:00- 16:00 Sundays with delivery times between 09:00- 18:00 
Monday - Saturday with no deliveries Sundays or Bank Holiday Mondays. 
Air Quality Assessment: I have read and understood the Air Assessment Report reference: 
Report Reference: NJD24-0027-001R and I am in full agreement of their overall assessment 
process and their recommendations, however, I would like to see further considerations to dust 
and particulates during the construction phase being addressed within a Construction 
Management Plan, where stockpile heights, wheel wash facilities and continuous dust 
monitoring are controlled and undertaken to ensure this doesn't affect the residential properties 
in the vicinity. 

 

Page 67



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

12. Cleveland Police  
With regards to your recent outline planning application 24/0977/OUT for Convenience 
Facilities, Retirement/Care Facilities & Residential at Little Maltby Farm, High Leven.  
Cleveland Police encourages applicants to build/refurbish developments incorporating the 
guidelines of Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED).  I would like to make 
you aware that Cleveland Police operate the “Secured by Design” initiative. This is a scheme 
which promotes the inclusion of architectural crime prevention measures into new projects and 
refurbishments. 
Should permission be granted, I recommend applicant actively seek Secured by Design 
accreditation; full information is available within the SBD Residential and Non-Residential 
Guides 2025 Guide at www.securedbydesign.com.  I encourage contact from applicant/agent 
at earliest opportunity, if SBD Certification is not achievable you may incorporate some of the 
measures to reduce the opportunities for crime and anti-social behaviour. 
Once a development has been completed the main opportunity to design out crime has gone. 
The local Designing Out Crime Officer should be contacted at the earliest opportunity, prior to 
submission and preferably at the design stage. 
The Secured by Design Residential Guide highlights that the concepts and approach adopted 
within this guide can be used to influence strategic planning policies, in support of Paragraph 
102a of the NPPF. 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2024 paragraph 96(b), which states that Planning 
policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive, and safe places which are safe 
and accessible, so that crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality 
of life or community cohesion… 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2024, paragraph 135(f) which states that “Planning 
policies and decisions should ensure that developments create places that are safe, inclusive 
and accessible… and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the 
quality of life or community cohesion and resilience”. 
Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council Local Plan, Policy SD8 includes the following... All 
proposals will be designed with public safety and the desire to reduce crime in mind, 
incorporating, where appropriate, advice from the Health and Safety Executive, Secured by 
Design, or any other appropriate design standards. 
Supplementary Planning Guide, Local Design Guide Section 3.6 and Sustainable Design 
Guide Section 4.9 also refer to Security & Safety.  Another material consideration is Section 
17 of The Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  Further information on the Secured By design initiative 
can be found on www.securedbydesign.com 
Although not an SBD requirement, Stockton along with many other areas nationwide suffers 
from occurrences of metal theft. These include copper piping, boilers, cables, and lead 
flashing. Buildings under construction are particularly vulnerable. I recommend that alternative 
products be utilized where possible. Many new builds are now using plastic piping where 
building regulations allow and alternative lead products. Strong consideration should also be 
given in relation to the provision of On-Site Security throughout the lifespan of the 
development. There is information contained within the Construction Site Security Guide 2021 
also on the SBD website that may assist. 
In addition to the above and having viewed the proposal I would also add the following 
comments and recommendations; again, should permission be granted. 
Residential: All doors and windows are recommended to be to tested and certified 
PAS24:2022/2016 standards (or equivalent) This includes garage doors. These must be dual 
certified for both fire and security.  
With regards to the proposed retirement/care building, all communal doors are recommended 
to be to be accredited LPS1175: A1 standards, (or equivalent) as a minimum.  Any door 
entry/access control systems should form part of the overall scope of testing as a door-set in 
its entirety. Fire doors should be devoid of external furniture and be suitably alarmed. 
Compartmentation within this element of the proposal is also a prime consideration together 
with cctv installation. Dusk to dawn lights are recommended to each elevation with an external 

Page 68

http://www.securedbydesign.com/


 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

door-set. This also includes any proposed garage doors and side in curtilage parking areas, 
particularly those that are 50% or more of the length of side elevation of plot it serves. . 
ALL roadways’ pathways and parking areas , adopted or otherwise, are recommended to be 
to BS5489-1:2020 standards with a uniformity preferably to Secured by Design recommended 
one of 40%, as a minimum 25%. 
Neighbourhood permeability… is one of the community level design features most reliably 
linked to crime rates.  Excessive permeability should be eliminated.  All proposed side and rear 
treatments onto public realm are recommended to be to 2.0m in height.  Those to rear/rear 
side of Plots backing onto open space recommended to be increased to minimum of 2.2m 
preferably 2.4m.  Defensive planting to external façade of boundary treatments backing onto 
open space should be considered also. Locate all side boundary treatments as for forward to 
the front elevations of the properties as possible to eliminate recesses.  Boundary treatments 
between rear gardens are recommended to be 1.8m in height.  When these rear side 
treatments are proposed to be lower-level post and rail, this option offers neither security or 
privacy and I would recommend against it.  Defensible space to each plot is an important 
consideration. 
Ginnel access serving several rear gardens should be avoided where possible If they are 
deemed necessary, a lockable gate is required at initial access point as well as each individual 
garden. Any proposed PROW, informal pathways, cycle lanes etc. are to be incorporated into 
active street frontages to avoid creating potential crime generators.  This is not the proposal in 
this instance, and I would strongly recommend against the existing PROW running to the rear 
of the proposed developments, this could become a crime generator and in fact design in 
opportunities for  crime and ASB to occur.  Any proposed links to existing or future phases of 
development are to be afforded maximum surveillance, be formalised and be fronted onto. 
Vehicles should either be parked in locked garages or on a hard standing within the dwelling 
boundary. Where communal parking areas are necessary, bays shall be sited in small groups, 
close and adjacent to homes, be within view of active rooms and clearly marked, so that it is 
obvious which parking spaces belong to which dwellings.  The word ‘active’ in this sense 
means rooms in building elevations from which there is direct and regular visual connection 
between the room and the street or parking court. Such visual connection can be expected 
from rooms such as kitchens and living rooms, but not from more private rooms, such as 
bedrooms and bathrooms. Rear parking courtyards are discouraged for the following reasons: 
They introduce access to rear elevations, which may leave dwellings vulnerable to burglary. In 
private developments, such areas are open and unlit and therefore increase the fear of crime 
Ungated courtyards provide areas of concealment which can encourage anti-social behaviour. 
Where rear parking courtyards are considered absolutely necessary, they must be protected 
by a gate, the design of which shall be discussed with the DOCO at the earliest possible 
opportunity. Where gardens abut the parking area an appropriate boundary treatment should 
be discussed and agreed by the DOCO.  Again, the above lighting specification standards 
apply. 
Convenience/Retail - All doors, ground floor and easily accessible windows and proposed 
roller shutters to the units are recommended to be to tested and accredited LPS1175:A1 (or 
equivalent) rating as a minimum.  Fire doors are recommended to be devoid of external 
furniture.  The parking areas and pathways are recommended to be column lit to BS5489-
1:2020 standards with a minimum uniformity of 25%.  It is recommended to have alarm 
provision provided. 
CCTV provision is recommended within proposal.  A suitable 2.4m boundary treatment, 
including gates is recommended to protect rear delivery area. This should be of either a 
weldmesh or expanded metal type. Careful consideration should be given in relation to the 
types of retail premises and hours of operation to minimise opportunities for ASB to occur, the 
proximity of the supported living development is a strong consideration in this as some retail 
outlets can attract higher levels of ASB.  

 
13. Northern Gas Networks 

Page 69



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Northern Gas Networks has no objections to these proposals, however there may be apparatus 
in the area that may be at risk during construction works and should the planning application 
be approved, then we require the promoter of these works to contact us directly to discuss our 
requirements in detail. Should diversionary works be required these will be fully chargeable. 

 
14. Northumbrian Water Limited 

The proposed development on our assets and assesses the capacity within our network to 
accommodate and treat the anticipated flows arising from the development. We do not offer 
comment on aspects of planning applications that are outside of our area of control. 
It should also be noted that, following the transfer of private drains and sewers in 2011, there 
may be assets that are the responsibility of Northumbrian Water that are not yet included on 
our records. 
Care should therefore be taken prior and during any construction work with consideration to 
the presence of sewers on site. Should you require further information, please visit 
https://www.nwl.co.uk/developers.aspx.  At this time the planning application does not provide 
sufficient detail with regards to the management of foul water from the development for 
Northumbrian Water to be able to assess our capacity to treat the flows from the development. 
We therefore request a condition and informative. 

 
15. Tees Archaeology 

Thank you for the consultation on this application. We note the submission of a geophysical 
survey' however, not only are the figures missing but the report does not actually examine the 
proposed development site.  We note that the planning statement references the 
archaeological condition (condition 18) placed on outline application 12/2517/OUT. This 
condition states: 'No development shall take place in any particular phase of the development 
until a programme of archaeological work for the phase concerned, including a written scheme 
of investigation, and a timetable, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The archaeological work shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.' As far as we are aware, the phase of development that was proposed for 
the plot of land covered by this current outline application has not taken place, and the 
archaeological condition on 12/2517/OUT remains valid.  As well as the geophysical survey 
on the site in question (Event 948), a number of archaeological investigations have been 
carried out around the proposed development site, all of which demonstrate the high potential 
of the area. A Bronze Age cremation (HER 4028) was uncovered less than 20m from the south-
west corner of the proposed development site, while an Iron Age/Romano-British boundary 
ditch (HER 8692) was recorded c. 45m to the south. Roughly 100m to the south-west of the 
proposed development site, numerous prehistoric and Romano-British finds (HERs 4027, 
8832, 8904, 9607, and 9608), including a settlement and Bronze Age Barrow, have been 
recorded. Just over 110m to the north-west of the proposed development site, an Iron Age 
enclosure was recorded during archaeological works, along with additional prehistoric remains 
including some dating to the Neolithic period (HERs 9493 & 9627)  
Aerial imagery shows that there has been vehicle movement on the site over the years and 
LiDAR imagery indicates that there are spoil heaps/mounds on the proposed development site. 
Despite the use of the site for spoil heaps and storage, it is considered that there is still the 
potential for archaeological remains to be present on site. We can only confirm the presence 
or absence of archaeological remains through field evaluation, and request that trial trenching 
of the site is carried out. However, the requested trial trenching will need to be undertaken 
once these have been reduced down to ground level under the supervision of an archaeologist. 
As this is an outline application, we are willing to secure the evaluation works with an 
appropriately worded condition; any further mitigation works can then be covered by the 
reserved matters applications. 
 

16. Chief Fire Officer (Cleveland Fire Brigade) 
Cleveland Fire Brigade offers the following representations regarding the development as 
proposed.  The dead-end access routes to the proposed care home exceed 20m, therefore 

Page 70

https://www.nwl.co.uk/developers.aspx


 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

turning facilities should be provided in line with ADB Vol 2 para 15.10 and diagram 15.3.   The 
dead-end access route to the proposed Local centre via Melandra Road exceeds 20m, 
therefore turning facilities should be provided in line with ADB Vol 2 para 15.10 and diagram 
15.3.  
Access and Water Supplies should meet the requirements as set out in Approved Document 
B Volume 2 :2019, Section B5 for buildings other than Dwellings.  It should be noted that 
Cleveland Fire Brigade now utilise a Magirus Multistar Combined Aerial Rescue Pump (CARP) 
which has a vehicle weight of 18 tonnes.  This is greater than the specified weight in AD B Vol 
2 Section B5 Table 15.2.   Cleveland Fire Brigade also utilise Emergency Fire Appliances 
measuring 3.5m from wing mirror to wing mirror. This is greater than the minimum width of 
gateways specified in AD B Vol 2 Section B5 Table 15.2. 
Cleveland Fire Brigade is fully committed to the installation of Automatic Fire Suppression 
Systems (AFSS) in all premises where their inclusion will support fire safety, we therefore 
recommend that as part of the submission the client consider the installation of sprinklers or a 
suitable alternative AFS system.  Further comments may be made through the building 
regulation consultation process as required. 

 
17. SBC Place Development Manager 

Thank you for consulting with Place development on this application . The application seeks 
outline consent with all matters reserved except access, for convenience facilities including a 
food store; as well as residential care accommodation and 4 self-build plots. The comments 
provided are aimed to guide positive developments and we are happy to discuss the nature of 
our comments with the applicant.  The Stockton-on-Tees Local Design Guide was adopted in 
March 2023 and presents an 'design process' to ensure the design response of a proposal has 
been robustly considered. This process begins with a contextual analysis and site appraisal 
which are utilised to develop a strategic framework plan for a site. From this proposals can be 
developed and refined. The Local Design Guide can be viewed at Supplementary planning 
documents - Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council.  Should the application move forward to 
detailed design, the following comments are provided to shape development and ensure 
positive outcomes: 
The built form, scale, massing and materiality should be carefully considered to integrate the 
local centre and retirement facility into the residential setting.  
The use of landscaping will soften the scheme into the setting further. It is noted that a design 
and access statement has been provided and establishes high level principles are addressed. 
It is recommended that the design and access statement is developed into the detailed stage 
to ensure high quality scheme is achieved, taking into account the Local Design Guide SPD. 
The detailed design of the development should ensure an "outward facing" development, 
proving active frontages onto the surrounding streets, green spaces, and pedestrian routes.  
The detailed design of development and the open space need to be considered as one 
comprehensive proposal. 

 
PUBLICITY 

 
18. Neighbours were notified and 35 letters of objection were received from the addresses detailed 

below with the main objections summarised below.  The full details of the objections can be 
viewed online at http://www.developmentmanagement.stockton.gov.uk/online-applications/ 
 
Objections Summarised  

• Loss of green open space will reduce the amenity value to the local community. 

• Advised when purchasing this would always be open space  

• The bridleway is popular with dog walkers, nature etc and this land would be affected by 
overuse of the public. 

• The creation of retail units is not necessary given the sites proximity to other facilities 

• The additional traffic created is likely to be detrimental to the are  

Page 71



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

• The proposal will create even more traffic and congestion adding to the school traffic.  

• Insufficient Car Parking  

• Melandra Road Unsuitable for on street parking or primary access route 

• Access unsuitable for emergency services  

• The retail units will to an increase in littering  

• The change in location does not benefit local residents and instead, looks to capitalise 
on children spending money whilst going to and leaving school, which in itself, poses 
moral/ethical questions  

• No requirement for apartments or nursing home  

• The current plans shows that the Public Bridleway will no longer be a suitable path but a 
road 

• where are local horse riders to go? 

• I could not see any lighting or landscaping proposals with the submission, soft 
landscaping to offset the parking areas and lighting positioning and timing would be 
concern for Melandra Road residents and needs to be considered. 

• Ingleby Barwick is not in need of more apartments. The council seems fixated on the 
younger generation but no thought is being put into the older generation. Ingleby Barwick 
has an aging population. Due to lack of appropriate housing for older people residents 
are remaining in their larger homes. The council should be backing schemes to build 
bungalows or retirement communities in the area. 

• Limited School Places and Lack of Services  

• Loss of Privacy, overlooking and Over shadowing  

• Anti social behaviour. 

• The noise assessment was flawed  

• The proximity of class E outlets which will include fast food / takeaway is too close to the 
school,  

• The retail units will to an increase in littering  

• No retail impact assessment has been submitted as required under NPPF §90, 

• safeguarding concerns, including increased footfall from non-residents, loitering, and 
potential exposure to age-inappropriate interactions Limited School Places 

• Planning Precedent - Wynyard Refusal 

• a major application was refused on grounds of cumulative harm to local amenity and 
infrastructure, setting a relevant precedent  

• Devalution 

• Lack of Consultation 

• Impact on Wildlife 
 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
19. Where an adopted or approved development plan contains relevant policies, Section 38(6) of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that an application for planning 
permissions shall be determined in accordance with the Development Plan(s) for the area, 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  In this case the relevant Development Plan 
is the Stockton on Tees Borough Council Local Plan 2019. 

 
20. Section 143 of the Localism Act came into force on the 15 January 2012 and requires the Local 

Planning Authority to take local finance considerations into account, this section s70(2) Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended requires in dealing with such an application the 
authority shall have regard to a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to 
the application, b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application and c) 
any other material considerations. 

 
21. National Planning Policy Framework 

Page 72



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development. Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three 
overarching objectives, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually 
supportive ways. These are economic social and environmental objectives. 

 
So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the heart of the Framework 
is a presumption in favour of sustainable development (paragraph 11) which for decision 
making means approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 
plan without delay; or where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies 
which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission 
unless the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.  

 
22. Local Planning Policy 

The following planning policies are considered to be relevant to the consideration of this 
application. 

 
Strategic Development Strategy Policy 1 (SD1) - Presumption in favour of Sustainable 
Development 
1. In accordance with the Government's National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), when 
the Council considers development proposals it will take a positive approach that reflects the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the NPPF. It will always work 
proactively with applicants jointly to find solutions which mean that proposals for sustainable 
development can be approved wherever possible, and to secure development that improves 
the economic, social and environmental conditions in the area. 
2. Planning applications that accord with the policies in this Local Plan (and, where relevant, 
with polices in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
3. Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of date at 
the time of making the decision then the Council will grant permission unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise - taking into account whether: 
- Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole; or, 
- Specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be restricted. 
 
Strategic Development Strategy Policy 2 (SD2) - Strategic Development Needs 
1. The following strategic growth needs have been identified for the period 2017/18 to 2031/32, 
which will be met through new sustainable development and infrastructure provision that 
integrates positively with the natural, built and historic environment of the Borough. 
Housing 
2. To meet the housing requirement of 10,150 new homes over the plan period a minimum of: 
a. 720 dwellings (net) will be delivered per annum from 2017/18 to 2021/22. 
b. 655 dwellings (net) will be delivered per annum from 2022/23 to 2031/32. 
3. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment for Stockton-on-Tees Borough identifies that 
there are specific needs with regard to housing type and tenure. This includes delivering homes 
to meet the needs of the ageing population. 
Other Development Needs 
7. Where other needs are identified, new developments will be encouraged to meet that need 
in the most sustainable locations having regard to relevant policies within the Local Plan. 
 
Strategic Development Strategy Policy 3 (SD3) - Housing Strategy 
1. The housing requirement of the Borough will be met through the provision of sufficient 
deliverable sites to ensure the maintenance of a rolling five year supply of deliverable housing 

Page 73



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

land. Should it become apparent that a five year supply of deliverable housing land cannot be 
identified at any point within the plan period, or delivery is consistently falling below the housing 
requirement, the Council will work with landowners, the development industry and relevant 
stakeholders and take appropriate action in seeking to address any shortfall. 
2. The following are priorities for the Council: 
a. Delivering a range and type of housing appropriate to needs and addressing shortfalls in 
provision; this includes the provision of housing to meet the needs of the ageing population 
and those with specific needs. 
b. Providing accommodation that is affordable. 
c. Providing opportunities for custom, self-build and small and medium sized house builders. 
3. The approach to housing distribution has been developed to promote development in the 
most sustainable way. This will be achieved through: 
a. Supporting the aspiration of delivering housing in the Regenerated River Tees Corridor (as 
identified on the Policies Map) in close proximity to Stockton Town Centre. Key regeneration 
sites which provide major opportunities for redevelopment include: 
Queens Park North, Victoria Estate, Tees Marshalling Yard and Land off Grangefield Road 
b. Supporting residential development on sites within the conurbation as defined by the limits 
to development which comprises the main settlements of Stockton, Billingham, Thornaby, 
Ingleby Barwick, Eaglescliffe and Yarm. 
c. Creating a Sustainable Urban Extension to West Stockton. 
d. Promoting major new residential development at Wynyard leading to the area becoming a 
sustainable settlement containing general market housing and areas of executive housing in a 
high-quality environment. 
e. Supporting residential development in villages (as shown on the Policies Map) through the 
recognition of existing commitments and new build within the limits to development where the 
land is not allocated for another purpose. 
 
Strategic Development Strategy Policy 4 (SD4) - Economic Growth Strategy 
1. Economic development needs will be directed to appropriate locations within the Borough 
to ensure the delivery of sustainable economic growth. 
2. Proposals for the redevelopment of previously developed land, in particular prominent sites 
which have been derelict for a significant period of time, will be supported. 
Town Centres 
10. Stockton Primary Shopping Frontage will be the main location for new retail development 
to 2032, whilst the wider town centre will be the main location for new leisure and evening 
economy uses. 
11. Proposals for new town centre uses will be directed to suitable and available sites and 
premises in the centres within the following Town Centres Hierarchy: 

 
12. The following locations are designated as Local Centres: 
a. Billingham Green, Billingham       b. Mill Lane, Billingham 
c. High Grange, Billingham               d. The Stables, Wynyard 
e. Wolviston Court, Billingham          f. Orchard Parade, Eaglescliffe 
g. Healaugh Park, Yarm                   h. Sunningdale Drive, Eaglescliffe 
i. Myton Way, Ingleby Barwick          j. Elm Tree Centre, Stockton 
k. Hanover Parade, Stockton            l. Harper Parade, Stockton 
m. High Newham Court, Stockton    n. Oxbridge Lane, Stockton 
o. Redhill Road, Stockton 
 Should any planning application proposals for main town centre uses in edge or out-of-centre 
locations emerge, such proposals will be determined in accordance with the Sequential and 
Impact tests set out in Policy EG3 alongside prevailing national planning policy, having regard 
to the catchment area of the proposal. 
16. Small scale convenience facilities which are intended to meet the needs of a 
neighbourhood will be permitted in suitable and available commercial premises in 
undesignated shopping parades, in accordance with Policy EG6. 

Page 74



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Strategic Development Strategy Policy 5 (SD5) - Natural, Built and Historic Environment 
To ensure the conservation and enhancement of the environment alongside meeting the 
challenge of climate change the Council will: 
 
1. Conserve and enhance the natural, built and historic environment through a variety of 
methods including: 
a) Ensuring that development proposals adhere to the sustainable design principles identified 
within Policy SD8. 
b) Protecting and enhancing designated sites (including the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast 
Special Protection Area and Ramsar) and other existing resources alongside the provision of 
new resources. 
c) Protecting and enhancing green infrastructure networks and assets, alongside the 
preservation, restoration and re-creation of priority habitats, ecological networks and the 
protection and recovery of priority species. 
d) Enhancing woodlands and supporting the increase of tree cover where appropriate. 
e) Supporting development of an appropriate scale within the countryside where it does not 
harm its character and appearance, and provides for sport and recreation or development 
identified within Policies SD3 and SD4. 
f) Ensuring any new development within the countryside retains the physical identity and 
character of individual settlements. 
g) Directing appropriate new development within the countryside towards existing underused 
buildings on a site for re-use or conversion in the first instance. Only where it has been 
demonstrated to the satisfaction of the local planning authority that existing underused 
buildings would not be appropriate for the intended use should new buildings be considered. 
h) Supporting the conversion and re-use of buildings in the countryside where it provides 
development identified within Policies SD3 and SD4, and meets the following criteria: 
i. The proposed use can largely be accommodated within the existing building, without 
significant demolition and rebuilding;  
ii. Any alterations or extensions are limited in scale; 
iii. The proposed use does not result in the fragmentation and/or severance of an agricultural 
land holding creating a non-viable agricultural unit;  and  
iv. Any associated outbuildings/structures are of an appropriate design and scale. 
i) Considering development proposals within green wedges against Policy ENV6. 
j) Ensuring development proposals are responsive to the landscape, mitigating their visual 
impact where necessary. Developments will not be permitted where they would lead to 
unacceptable impacts on the character and distinctiveness of the Borough's landscape unless 
the benefits of the development clearly outweigh any harm. Wherever possible, developments 
should include measures to enhance, restore and create special features of the landscape. 
k) Supporting proposals within the Tees Heritage Park which seek to increase access, promote 
the area as a leisure and recreation destination, improve the natural environment and 
landscape character, protect and enhance cultural and historic assets, and, promote 
understanding and community involvement. 
l) Preventing both new and existing development from contributing to or being put at 
unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of ground, air, 
water, light or noise pollution or land instability. Wherever possible proposals should seek to 
improve ground, air and water quality. 
m) Encouraging the reduction, reuse and recycling of waste, and the use of locally sourced 
materials. 
2. Meet the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change through a variety of 
methods including: 
a. Directing development in accordance with Policies SD3 and SD4. 
b. Delivering an effective and efficient sustainable transport network to deliver genuine 
alternatives to the private car. 
c. Supporting sustainable water management within development proposals. 

Page 75



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

d. Directing new development towards areas of low flood risk (Flood Zone 1), ensuring flood 
risk is not increased elsewhere, and working with developers and partners to reduce flood risk. 
e. Ensuring development takes into account the risks and opportunities associated with future 
changes to the climate and are adaptable to changing social, technological and economic 
conditions such as incorporating suitable and effective climate change adaptation principles. 
f. Ensuring development minimises the effects of climate change and encourage new 
development to meet the highest feasible environmental standards. 
g. Supporting and encouraging sensitive energy efficiency improvements to existing buildings. 
h. Supporting proposals for renewable and low carbon energy schemes including the 
generation and supply of decentralised energy. 
3. Conserve and enhance the historic environment through a variety of methods including: 
a. Celebrating, promoting and enabling access, where appropriate, to the historic environment. 
b. Ensuring monitoring of the historic environment is regularly undertaken. 
c. Intervening to enhance the historic environment especially where heritage assets are 
identified as being at risk. 
d. Supporting proposals which positively respond to and enhance heritage assets. 
e. Recognising the area's industrial heritage, including early history, railway and engineering 
heritage and the area's World War II contribution. 
4. Priorities for interventions to conserve and enhance the historic environment include the 
conservation areas of Stockton and Yarm, assets associated with the route of the Stockton & 
Darlington railway of 1825, the branch line to Yarm and associated structures, and assets 
identified as being at risk. These assets, along with Preston Park, are also the priorities for 
celebrating the historic environment. 
 
Economic Growth Policy 3 (EG3) - Protecting Centres 
1. Subject to the scale and catchment of the proposal, retail (A1 use class) development will 
be directed to suitable and available sites and premises in defined centres, as identified on the 
Policies Maps, in the following sequence: 
a. Stockton Town Centre Primary Shopping Area; then, 
b. Sites within the boundaries of Stockton Town Centre; then, 
c. Sites within the ground floor shopping frontages of the District Centres; then, 
d. Sites within the boundaries of the District Centres; then, 
e. Sites on the edge of Stockton Town Centre which have the opportunity to connect to the 
defined Primary Shopping Area; then, 
f. Sites on the edge of the District Centres which have the opportunity to connect to the District 
Centre's main shopping areas or frontages; then, 
g. Sites within the Local Centres; and finally, 
h. Sustainable out-of-centre locations within the limits to development. 
2. Other main town centre uses will be directed to suitable and available sites and premises in 
the following locations, subject to the scale and catchment of the proposal: 
a. Town and District Centres, and for office development only, Principal Office Locations; then, 
b. Sites on the edge of the Town and District Centres, which are well served by public transport 
and have a high likelihood of forming links with the centre; then, 
c. Within the boundaries of the Local Centres; then, 
d. Sustainable out-of-centre locations within the limits to development. 
3. Proposals will only be supported in sequentially less preferable locations where it has been 
demonstrated that there are no available and suitable sites or premises in sequentially 
preferable locations, and that a flexible approach to scale and format has been applied. 
4. Town centre use proposals on out-of-centre sites, which demonstrate that the format and 
scale of the development means it cannot be located in a town centre location, will be the 
subject of restrictive conditions to protect the future vitality and viability of the Boroughs town 
centres. 
5. Convenience retail proposals in excess of 500 square metres (net), comparison retail 
proposals in excess of 1,000 square metres (net) and all other new retail development likely 
to have a significant adverse impact upon existing centres by virtue of its nature, location or 

Page 76



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

likely turnover, will be required to submit a proportionate impact assessment. Such 
development will only be supported outside of the town centre hierarchy where it will not have 
a significant adverse impact, both individually and cumulatively, on: 
a. Existing, committed and planned public and private investment in a centre or centres in the 
catchment area of the proposal; and 
b. The vitality and viability of existing centres in the catchment area of the proposal, including 
local consumer choice and trade in the centre and wider centre up to five years from when the 
application is made (for major schemes, up to ten years from when the application is made). 
6. Development proposals in out-of-centre or edge-of-centre locations for leisure uses will 
require an impact assessment where there is potential for the proposal to have a significant 
adverse impact upon either the vitality and viability of existing defined centres (including 
comparable facilities therein) or investment which is existing, planned or committed in town, 
district and local centres, by virtue of their scale, nature, format location and/or accessibility. 
 
Economic Growth Policy 6 (EG6) - Small Scale Facilities 
1. Proposals for small-scale town centre uses and hot food takeaways designed to meet a 
localised catchment will be directed to defined town, district and local centres first, and then if 
no suitable premises are available, to existing available and suitable premises in other existing 
shopping parades in the catchment area of the proposal. 
2. Within strategic residential, and general employment developments, where no similar 
facilities exist within reasonable walking distance, developers should provide new shopping, 
service and community facilities of a scale which meet the day-to-day needs of future 
occupiers, subject to taking into account the range, choice and accessibility of existing local 
provision. 
3. Support will only be given to the development of, or change of use to, small-scale (under 
150sq m) town centre uses which would meet a local need outside of defined town, district, 
and local centres and shopping parades where they: 
a. Are of a scale and function intended to serve a localised catchment area; 
b. Do not have a significant adverse impact upon the vitality and viability of any designated 
centre; and 
c. Are situated within the limits to development. 
4. Outside of town, district and local centres, development proposals for new hot-food-
takeaways, betting offices or public houses, will be resisted where they result in a harmful over-
concentration of those uses. 
 
Natural, Built and Historic Environment Policy 1 (ENV1) - Energy Efficiency 
1. The Council will encourage all development to minimise the effects of climate change 
through meeting the highest possible environmental standards during construction and 
occupation.  
The Council will: 
a. Promote zero carbon development and require all development to reduce carbon dioxide 
emissions by following the steps in the energy hierarchy, in the following sequence: 
    i. Energy reduction through 'smart' heating and lighting, behavioural changes, and use of 
passive design measures; then, 
    ii. Energy efficiency through better insulation and efficient appliances; then, 
    iii. Renewable energy of heat and electricity from solar, wind, biomass, hydro and 
geothermal sources; then 
    iv. Low carbon energy including the use of heat pumps, Combined Heat and Power and 
Combined Cooling Heat and Power systems; then 
    v. Conventional energy. 
b. Require all major development to demonstrate how they contribute to the greenhouse gas 
emissions reduction targets set out in Stockton-on-Tees' Climate Change Strategy 2016; and 
c. Support and encourage sensitive energy efficiency improvements to existing buildings. 
2. Proposals are encouraged where development: 

Page 77



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

a. Incorporates passive design measures to improve the efficiency of heating, cooling and 
ventilation; and 
b. Includes design measures to minimise the reliance on artificial lighting through siting, design, 
layout and building orientation that maximises sunlight and daylight, passive ventilation and 
avoids overshadowing. 
Non domestic 
4. All new non-residential developments up to and including 499 sq m of gross floor space will 
be completed to a Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method 
(BREEAM) minimum rating of 'very good' (or any future national equivalent). 
5. All new non-residential developments of 500 sq m and above of gross floor space will be 
required to: 
a. Submit an energy statement demonstrating how the energy hierarchy has been applied to 
make the fullest contribution to CO2 reduction; and 
b. Be completed to a Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method 
(BREEAM) minimum rating of 'very good' (or any future national equivalent). 
 
Natural, Built and Historic Environment Policy 4 (ENV4) - Reducing and Mitigating Flood Risk 
1. All new development will be directed towards areas of the lowest flood risk to minimise the 
risk of flooding from all sources, and will mitigate any such risk through design and 
implementing sustainable drainage (SuDS) principles. 
3. Site specific flood risk assessments will be required in accordance with national policy. 
4. All development proposals will be designed to ensure that: 
a. Opportunities are taken to mitigate the risk of flooding elsewhere; 
b. Foul and surface water flows are separated; 
c. Appropriate surface water drainage mitigation measures are incorporated and Sustainable 
Drainage Systems (SuDS) are prioritised; and 
d. SuDS have regard to Tees Valley Authorities Local Standards for Sustainable Drainage 
(2015) or successor document. 
5. Surface water run-off should be managed at source wherever possible and disposed of in 
the following hierarchy of preference sequence: 
a. To an infiltration or soak away system; then, 
b. To a watercourse open or closed; then, 
c. To a sewer. 
6. Disposal to combined sewers should be the last resort once all other methods have been 
explored. 
7. For developments which were previously developed, the peak runoff rate from the 
development to any drain, sewer or surface water body for the 1-in-1 year rainfall event and 
the 1-in-100 year rainfall event should be as close as reasonably practicable to the greenfield 
runoff rate from the development for the same rainfall event, but should never exceed the rate 
of discharge from the development prior to redevelopment for that event. For greenfield 
developments, the peak runoff rate from the development to any highway drain, sewer or 
surface water body for the 1-in-1 year rainfall event and the 1-in-100 year rainfall event should 
never exceed the peak greenfield runoff rate for the same event. 
8. Within critical drainage areas or other areas identified as having particular flood risk issues 
the Council may: 
a. Support reduced run-off rates. 
b. Seek contributions, where appropriate, towards off-site enhancements directly related to 
flow paths from the development, to provide increased flood risk benefits to the site and 
surrounding areas. 
9. Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) should be provided on major development 
(residential development comprising 10 dwellings or more and other equivalent commercial 
development) unless demonstrated to be inappropriate. The incorporation of SuDS should be 
integral to the design process and be integrated with green infrastructure. Where SuDS are 
provided, arrangements must be put in place for their whole life management and 
maintenance. 

Page 78



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

10. Through partnership working the Council will work to achieve the goals of the Stockton-on-
Tees Local Flood Risk Management Strategy and the Northumbria Catchment Flood 
Management Plan. This will include the implementation of schemes to reduce the risk of 
flooding to existing properties and infrastructure. Proposals which seek to mitigate flooding, 
create natural flood plains or seek to enhance and/or expand flood plains in appropriate 
locations will be permitted. 
11. To reduce the risk of flooding the Council is working in partnership with the Environment 
Agency to deliver a Flood Alleviation Scheme on Lustrum Beck. 
 
Natural, Built and Historic Environment Policy 5 (ENV) - Preserve, Protect and Enhance 
Ecological Networks, Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
 
1. The Council will protect and enhance the biodiversity and geological resources within the 
Borough. Development proposals will be supported where they enhance nature conservation 
and management, preserve the character of the natural environment and maximise 
opportunities for biodiversity and geological conservation particularly in or adjacent to 
Biodiversity Opportunity Areas in the River Tees Corridor, Teesmouth and Central Farmland 
Landscape Areas.  
2. The Council will preserve, restore and re-create priority habitats alongside the protection 
and recovery of priority species. 
3. Ecological networks and wildlife corridors will be protected, enhanced and extended. A 
principal aim will be to link sites of biodiversity importance by avoiding or repairing the 
fragmentation and isolation of natural habitats. 
5. Development proposals should seek to achieve net gains in biodiversity wherever possible. 
It will be important for biodiversity and geodiversity to be considered at an early stage in the 
design process so that harm can be avoided and wherever possible enhancement achieved 
(this will be of particular importance in the redevelopment of previously developed land where 
areas of biodiversity should be retained and recreated alongside any remediation of any 
identified contamination). Detrimental impacts of development on biodiversity and geodiversity, 
whether individual or cumulative should be avoided. Where this is not possible, mitigation and 
lastly compensation, must be provided as appropriate. The Council will consider the potential 
for a strategic approach to biodiversity offsetting in conjunction with the Tees Valley Local 
Nature Partnership and in line with the above hierarchy. 
6. When proposing habitat creation it will be important to consider existing habitats and species 
as well as opportunities identified in the relevant Biodiversity Opportunity Areas. This will assist 
in ensuring proposals accord with the 'landscape scale' approach and support ecological 
networks. 
7. Existing trees, woodlands and hedgerows which are important to the character and 
appearance of the local area or are of nature conservation value will be protected wherever 
possible. Where loss is unavoidable, replacement of appropriate scale and species will be 
sought on site, where practicable. 
 
Natural, Built and Historic Environment Policy 7 (ENV7) - Ground, Air, Water, Noise and Light 
Pollution 
1. All development proposals that may cause groundwater, surface water, air (including odour), 
noise or light pollution either individually or cumulatively will be required to incorporate 
measures as appropriate to prevent or reduce their pollution so as not to cause unacceptable 
impacts on the living conditions of all existing and potential future occupants of land and 
buildings, the character and appearance of the surrounding area and the environment. 
2. Development that may be sensitive to existing or potentially polluting sources will not be 
sited in proximity to such sources. Potentially polluting development will not be sited near to 
sensitive developments or areas unless satisfactory mitigation measures can be 
demonstrated. 
3. Where development has the potential to lead to significant pollution either individually or 
cumulatively, proposals should be accompanied by a full and detailed assessment of the likely 

Page 79



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

impacts. Development will not be permitted when it is considered that unacceptable effects will 
be imposed on human health, or the environment, taking into account the cumulative effects 
of other proposed or existing sources of pollution in the vicinity. Development will only be 
approved where suitable mitigation can be achieved that would bring pollution within 
acceptable levels. 
4. Where future users or occupiers of a development would be affected by contamination or 
stability issues, or where contamination may present a risk to the water environment, proposals 
must demonstrate via site investigation/assessment that: 
a. Any issues will be satisfactorily addressed by appropriate mitigation measures to ensure 
that the site is suitable for the proposed use, and does not result in unacceptable risks which 
would adversely impact upon human health and the environment; and 
b. Demonstrate that development will not cause the site or the surrounding environment to 
become contaminated and/or unstable. 
5. Groundwater and surface water quality will be improved in line with the requirements of the 
European Water Framework Directive and its associated legislation and the Northumbria River 
Basin Management Plan. Development that would adversely affect the quality or quantity of 
surface or groundwater, flow of groundwater or ability to abstract water will not be permitted 
unless it can be demonstrated that no significant adverse impact would occur or mitigation can 
be put in place to minimise this impact within acceptable levels. 
6. To improve the quality of the water environment the Council will: 
a. Support ecological improvements along riparian corridors including the retention and 
creation of river frontage habitats; 
b. Avoid net loss of sensitive inter-tidal or sub-tidal habitats and support the creation of new 
habitats; and 
c. Protect natural water bodies from modification, and support the improvement and 
naturalisation of heavily modified water bodies (including de-culverting and the removal of 
barriers to fish migration). 
 
Housing Policy 1 (H1) - Housing Commitments and Allocations 
1. To deliver the housing requirement and to maintain a rolling five year supply of deliverable 
housing land, the Council have allocated sites identified within this policy. The majority of the 
new homes will be delivered through existing commitments (sites with planning permission 
identified within point 2) with the remainder of new homes being delivered through allocations 
at: 
a. Various sites within the Regenerated River Tees Corridor. 
b. Various sites within the conurbation. 
c. West Stockton Sustainable Urban Extension. 
d. Wynyard Sustainable Settlement. 
The total number of dwellings set out in this policy is not the same as the housing requirement.  
This is because some commitments have already delivered a proportion of the dwelling 
numbers identified and some sites will likely deliver dwellings beyond the plan period, after 
2032. 
Commitments 
2. Residential development is proposed at the following main sites, which benefit from planning 
permission. These sites are re-affirmed for residential development and are illustrated on the 
Policies Map: 
Site Location/Name                             Area (ha)        Total Dwellngs          Remaining Supply 

                                                                                             (approx)                       at April 2018 
         IB3 Little Maltby Farm, Low Lane            35                     1155                               1085 
 

Housing Policy 4 (H4) - Meeting Housing Needs 
1. Sustainable residential communities will be created by requiring developers to provide a mix 
and balance of good quality housing of appropriate sizes, types and tenures which reflects 
local needs and demand, having regard to the Strategic Housing Market Assessment, its 
successor documents or appropriate supporting documents. 

Page 80



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

2. Support will be given to higher density development within areas with a particularly high 
level of public transport accessibility. Elsewhere housing densities will be considered in the 
context of the surrounding area in accordance with Policy SD8. 
3. The Council require 20% of new homes to be affordable on schemes of more than 10 
dwellings or with a combined gross floorspace of above 1000sqm. 
4. Where an applicant considers that the provision of affordable housing in accordance with 
the requirements of this policy would make the scheme unviable, they must submit a full 
detailed viability assessment to demonstrate the maximum level of affordable housing that 
could be delivered on the site. The applicant will be expected to deliver the maximum level of 
affordable housing achievable. 
5. Affordable housing will normally be provided on-site as part of, and integrated within housing 
development to help deliver balanced communities. This provision should be distributed across 
sites in small clusters of dwellings. Off-site affordable housing or a commuted sum will only be 
acceptable where: 
a. All options for securing on-site provision of affordable housing have been explored and 
exhausted; or 
b. The proposal is for exclusively executive housing, where off-site provision would have wider 
sustainability benefits and contribute towards the creation of sustainable, inclusive and mixed 
communities; or 
c. The proposal involves a conversion of a building which is not able to accommodate units of 
the size and type required; or 
d. Any other circumstances where off-site provision is more appropriate than on-site provision. 
6. Where off-site affordable housing or a commuted sum is considered acceptable, the amount 
will be equivalent in value to that which would have been viable if the provision was made 
onsite and calculated with regard to the Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning 
Document 8 or any successor. 
7. The Council will support proposals for specialist housing, including extra care and supported 
housing to meet identified needs. Accommodation will seek to deliver and promote 
independent living. 
9. To ensure that homes provide quality living environments for residents both now and in the 
future and to help deliver sustainable communities, from the 1st April 2019 the following 
Optional Standards will apply, subject to consideration of site suitability, the feasibility of 
meeting the standards (taking into account the size, location and type of dwellings proposed) 
and site viability: 
a. 50% of new homes to meet Building Regulation M4 (2) "Category 2 - accessible and 
adaptable dwellings". 
b. 8% of new dwellings to meet Building Regulation M4(3) "Category 3 - Wheelchair User 
Dwellings". Where the local authority is responsible for allocating or nominating a person to 
live in that dwelling, homes should meet building regulation M4 (3) (2) (b). When providing for 
wheelchair user housing, early discussion with the Council is required to obtain the most up-
to-date information on specific need in the local area. 
10. To widen the overall housing offer, the Council will support the delivery of custom and 
selfbuild housing. The Council will: 
a. Regularly monitor the demand for custom and self-build housing and assist in facilitating the 
delivery of land/sites, where appropriate. 
b. Encourage applicants to consider incorporating plots for custom and self-build housing 
within larger housing developments. 
 
Historic Environment Policy 2 (HE2) - Conserving and Enhancing Stockton's Heritage Assets 
1. In order to promote and enhance local distinctiveness, the Council will support proposals 
which positively respond to and enhance heritage assets. 
2. Where development has the potential to affect heritage asset(s) the Council require 
applicants to undertake an assessment that describes the significance of the asset(s) affected, 
including any contribution made by their setting. Appropriate desk-based assessment and, 
where necessary, field evaluation will also be required where development on a site which 

Page 81



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

includes or has the potential to include heritage assets with archaeological interest. Applicants 
are required to detail how the proposal has been informed by assessments undertaken. 
3. Development proposals should conserve and enhance heritage assets, including their 
setting, in a manner appropriate to their significance. Where development will lead to harm to 
or loss of significance of a designated or non-designated heritage asset the proposal will be 
considered in accordance with Policy SD8, other relevant Development Plan policies and 
prevailing national planning policy. 
6. The following are designated heritage assets: 
a. Scheduled Monuments - Castle Hill; St. Thomas a Becket's Church, Grindon; Barwick 
Medieval Village; Round Hill Castle Mound and Bailey; Larberry Pastures Settlement Site; 
Newsham Deserted Medieval Village; Stockton Market Cross and Yarm Bridge 
b. Registered Parks and Gardens - Ropner Park and Wynyard Park 
c. Conservation Areas - Billingham Green; Bute Street; Cowpen Bewley; Eaglescliffe with 
Preston; Egglescliffe, Hartburn; Norton; Stockton Town Centre; Thornaby Green; Wolviston 
and Yarm 
d. Listed Buildings 
11. Where archaeological remains survive, whether designated or not, there will be a 
presumption in favour of their preservation in-situ. The more significant the remains, the greater 
the presumption will be in favour of this. The necessity for preservation in-situ will result from 
desk-based assessment and, where necessary, field evaluation. Where in-situ preservation is 
not essential or feasible, a programme of archaeological works aimed at achieving 
preservation by record will be required. 
12. Any reports prepared as part of a development scheme will be submitted for inclusion on 
the Historic Environment Record. 

 
MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 

 
Principle of Development 

23. Policy SD2 of the Local Plan identifies the housing delivery requirement for Stockton Borough 

Council over the plan period and Policy SD3 Housing Strategy sets out the Council’s approach 

in achieving the delivery of housing.  Policy H1 recognises the site (ref. IB3) as a housing 

commitment.  

 

24. Our five-year housing land supply position has recently been published. Revisions to national 

policy published on 12th December 2024 meant that the Government’s methodology for 

calculating Local Housing Need has been amended, with a significant increase now applicable 

to Stockton-on-Tees Borough.  Consequently, the Council is only able to demonstrate 4.33 

years supply of deliverable housing sites over the period covered by this assessment. 

 

25. As such, this current planning application for the approx. 60 bedspace residential care 
accommodation or extra care facility could represent a key benefit for the Council to assist in 
the five-year supply of deliverable housing land, in accordance with Policy SD3 and H1 outlined 
above, should the scheme become an extra care facility.  It should be noted that the 60 
bedspaces are in outline and the proposal is to allow flexibility in the product proposed.  Early 
Discussions have taken place with Adults Health and Wellbeing over the Councils position in 
terms of demand and need. 

 
26. The four houses proposed are on an allocated site and therefore the Principle of this form of 

development is acceptable.  Conditions to ensure 2 of the homes are accessible and adaptable 
have been recommended. 

 
27. In terms of the local centre, whilst the site is located ‘out of centre’, Policy EG6 sub-paragraph 

2, of the SBC Local Plan relates to small scale community facilities and states: “Within strategic 
residential, and general employment developments, where no similar facilities exist within 

Page 82



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

walking distance, developers should provide new shopping, service and community facilities 
of a scale which meet the day-to-day needs of future occupiers, subject to taking into account 
the range, choice and accessibility of existing local provision.”   

 
28. The nearest defined Local Centre is at Ingleby Barwick located to the north-west of the Site 

approximately approx. 1.2km (as the crow flies) from the site. A Neighbourhood Centre at 
Beckfields is located approx. 0.75km to the north of the Site and also a Convenience store at 
the Petrol Filling station, approx. 0.25km to the south. 

 
29. Whilst there are facilities in reasonable walking distance, the Beckfields to the north is across 

Bassleton Beck and the filling station to the north is a small retail convenience goods facility.  
The application has requested a general E class which can include a wide range of services 
such as a hairdressers, bakery, dentists and other such uses.  All of these services provide 
sustainable accessible services to the local community. 

 
30. Generally, in Ingleby Barwick most ‘villages’ have a neighbourhood or local centre which 

follows the general ethos of the original master plan which stated that each village would 
contain its own local centre with primary school, village greens, local shops, public houses and 
community facilities. It is also noted that the principle of developing a local centre in this general 
location to support the sustainability of this housing development has already been accepted 
by the Planning inspectorate and granted planning consent, albeit this scheme has now 
expired. 

 
31. Applying Policy EG6(2) to this Site, it is clearly located within strategic residential development 

(Site IB3) and in this regard the proposals would support and enhance the sustainability of the 
current and future planned housing development surrounding the site and help to reduce the 
need for people to drive out of the site to access such shops and services.  

 
32. In view of the above, it is considered that the local centre proposals comply with the principle 

and objectives of Policy EG6(2) by providing new retail facilities which will support and enhance 
the sustainability of this residential community.  

 
33. Paragraph 97 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should refuse applications for 

hot food takeaways and fast food outlets: a) within walking distance of schools and other places 
where children and young people congregate, unless the location is within a designated town 
centre; or b) in locations where there is evidence that a concentration of such uses is having 
an adverse impact on local health, pollution or anti-social-behaviour and therefore any change 
of use would be refused in line with national policy.  The use class applied for is E class and 
not a hot food takeaway, however this would include a café/restaurant offering fast food such 
as MacDonalds and therefore a condition has been recommended to prevent the units being 
use for hot food takeaways and fast food outlets. 

 
34. Overall it is considered that that the principle of the development as proposed is acceptable 

and there are no policy reasons to refuse the application. 
 

35. Comments in relation the master plan are noted however this appears to be a plan provided 
by the housing developers to prospective purchasers and carries no weight in the 
determination of this application. 

 
Impact on the character and appearance of the area 

 
36. The application is in outline and indicative plans have been submitted to show how the site 

can be laid out and an indicative plan of the proposed care facility.  
 

Page 83



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

37. The proposed development is indicated to be a single storey retail facility, two storey residential 
dwellings and a 2.5 storey care facility.  It is considered that these details can be considered 
in detail at the reserved matters stage and that a scheme can be achieved that will not 
adversely affect the character and appearance of the area. 

 
38. Landscaping is shown along the main spine road and within the site and the final details can 

be secured in the reserved matters stage along with the comments from Cleveland Police in 
terms of Secure by Design. 

 
39. Whilst this is an outline application it is considered that a scheme could be delivered that would 

not have a significant adverse impact on the character and appearance of the area.   
 

Heritage and Archaeology  
 

40. Whilst there are no designated heritage assets on the application site itself, there is a Grade II 
listed building located east of the application site boundary, Little Maltby Farm. The farmhouse 
is an early 19th-century Late Georgian farmhouse of small bricks, now whitewashed with first 
floor band. The 2.5 storey care home / retirement living is proposed to be set back from The 
two storey Little Maltby Farm by 28m minimum and by 40m from The Haybarn. 
 

41. Where views are available these hold significance in providing a visual connection between 
the farm and its former historic landscape setting. However, this has been compromised by 
the residential and modern developments to the north, and immediate west and south. 
Nonetheless, the historic setting and appearance of the farm can still be appreciated from the 
south and south-west. Having regard to the extent to which the setting of the farm has been 
altered by such development, it is considered that the harm arising from the development will 
be less than substantial and would not be a reason to refuse the application  

 
42. In terms of archaeology, Tees Archaeology have considered the scheme and have 

recommended that further investigation take place and this has been secured by condition. 
 
Impact on neighbours 

 
43. The application is accompanied by an indicative master plan.  These buildings are shown to 

be able to achieve adequate separation distances and screening in the form of landscaping 
which can be secured by condition. 

 
44. The local centre could give rise to noise and disturbance and therefore a condition has been 

recommended to control the hours of operation along with the timing of the deliveries.  With 
these conditions in place, it is not considered that the scheme would give rise to significant 
noise and disturbance.   

 
45. Use Class E(b) includes units for food to be eaten on the premises and a condition has been 

recommended to control this further as this may give rise to more noise and disturbance.  The 
proposal includes a terrace and the hours of use have been secured by condition to minimise 
external noise and ensure its use are at reasonable hours.  

 
46. The houses to the north would provide natural surveillance across the open space and the 

positioning would not adversely affect the privacy or amenity of any neighbouring residential 
properties. 

 
47. Overall it is considered that a scheme can be delivered that will not adversely affect the 

neighbouring residential properties.  
 

 

Page 84



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Noise  

48. A noise assessment accompanies the application, and the report has shown that the proposed 
residential elements of the site will require alternative means of ventilation to achieve the 
guidance noise levels.  This can be considered further at the reserved matters stage and 
through the building regulation process. 

 
49. In terms of noise and disturbance from the local centre, in accordance with BS4142, indicative 

noise limits have been proposed for the rating noise level of external plant, and this can be 
controlled via condition. 

 
50. The assessment has shown that noise impact from deliveries is expected to reside at or below 

the “Lowest observable adverse effect level” (LOAEL) in accordance with the PPG for Noise 
and Noise Policy Statement for England.   Nonetheless a condition has been recommended 
to control the hours for deliveries. 

 
51. The assessment for noise associated with the car parking areas found that noise is likely to 

result in an overall Negligible impact in both the short-term and long-term, when assessed 
against the respective measured baseline noise levels.  
 

52. Environmental Health have recommended a validation report to be submitted however it is 
considered the condition as proposed will secure the noise mitigation once the scheme has 
been fully designed. 

 
53. Overall, it is concluded that subject to the recommend mitigation measures being implemented 

for the proposed development, noise should not have an adverse impact.   
 
Air Quality  

 
54. An Air Quality Assessment accompanies the application which does indicate a high to medium 

risk of dust soiling impacts and a low risk of increases in particulate matter concentrations, due 
to unmitigated construction activities. However, through good site practice and the 
implementation of the recommended mitigation measures, the effects of dust and PM10 
releases would be significantly reduced and considered to be not significant. A CEMP will 
ensure that these measures are implemented which will address the comments from the EHO. 

 
55. In addition, based on the development traffic flows predicted to be less than 500 AADT once 

distributed on the local road network and low background concentrations, the Proposed 
Development itself will have a not significant impact on local air quality. 

 
Traffic and Transport  

 
56. A Transport Statement (TS) has been submitted with the application.  The site is accessibly 

located within walking and cycling distance of nearby residential areas. There are nearby bus 
stops which provide a bus services to the wider area.  The TS concludes that the development 
proposals provide safe and suitable access arrangements for all modes. 

 
57. The TS also concludes that the forecast trip impact associated with the development proposals 

will not have a significant impact on the local highway network or the SRN. It should be noted 
that the total forecast trip numbers will be lower than what was originally anticipated overall for 
the housing allocation.  It is concluded that there are no highway or transportation reasons 
which should prevent the proposed development of the site. 

 

Page 85



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

58. The site is to be accessed from both Melandra Way and Welwyn Way.  The accesses have 
been reviewed by the Highways Transport and Design Manager who considered the accesses 
suitable.   

 
59. Whilst comments in relation to inconsiderate or on street parking relating to the school are 

noted it is not the responsibility of this developer to resolve existing issues. The indicative plans 
also show sufficient car parking can be achieved to serve the development and this will be 
considered further once the reserved matters application has been received.   

 
60. Comments have been received in relation to the bridleway are noted however this will not 

change and still be available for use and ‘overuse’ would not be a reason to refuse the 
application.  The proposals also include a footpath to the north to the east of the open space 
to link the wider residential areas. 

 
Flood Risk  

 
61. A flood risk assessment and drainage strategy accompany the application.  Surface water 

runoff will mimic the existing undeveloped site but will apply QBar as the rate restriction during 
all events. Applying a restricted discharge rate at 6.7l/sec in this way results in a reduction from 
predevelopment rates during extreme rainfall events which result in flooding / flood risk. 
Therefore, development of the site results in a reduction in flood risk in the area. 

 
62. The plans show a SuDS detention basin which will attenuate surface water flows prior to 

discharge into the adjacent watercourse.   All new adoptable standard surface water drainage 
is to be designed in accordance with ‘Sewerage Sector Guidance’. A 45% increase in rainfall 
due to climate change has been considered.  

 
63. It is proposed to discharge foul flows to foul sewers. All new adoptable foul sewerage is to be 

designed in accordance with ‘Sewerage Sector Guidance’. 
 
64. The LLFA and NWL have reviewed the plans and raised no objections subject to conditions 

which have been recommended.  
 
65. Overall, it is considered that the applicant has provided information to show that the proposed 

development can be implemented without increasing existing flood risk to the site and there 
are no objections to the development from a flood risk / drainage aspect, subject to a number 
of conditions which have been recommended. 

 
Ecology and Biodiversity  

 
66. An Ecological Impact Assessment accompanies the application and concludes that “Based on 

the nature of the site no further survey work is recommended as the grassland is considered 
to have been heavily disturbed following its used as a storage area”. The EcIA considered the  
use of the site by bats, birds, GCN, badgers and other species but the site is considered to be 
low value to these species.  The site has been used for the construction compound in the past 
and has been covered in spoil and is of low ecological value. 

 
67. Whilst this is noted the EcIA makes a number of standard mitigation and compensatory 

measure recommendations to be incorporated into the final scheme, to avoid impacts on 
wildlife. These recommendations will be taken forward as part of any future reserved matters 
application and the EcIA report has been conditioned  

 
68. The application is also accompanied by a Biodiversity Net Gain Feasibility Study which sets 

out the requirements to achieve a 10% biodiversity net gain. A detailed planting strategy will 

Page 86



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

need to be secured at Reserved Matters stage which can help replace, mitigate and enhance 
any habitat lost on site.  A condition has been recommended accordingly  

 
Nutrient Neutrality 

 
69. A Shadow Habitat Regulations Assessment (sHRA) and Nutrient Budget Calculator 

accompanies the application confirming 81.06 Nutrient Credits are required to mitigate the 
81.06kg TN/year nutrient budget for the development.  

 
70. These credits have been sourced from ‘BioMark’ a registered third-party provider, accredited 

by Natural England, at their Nutrient Mitigation Site in the Tees Catchment. This will ensure 
the development will achieve Nutrient Neutrality. 

 
Contaminated Land 

 
71. The desk study for the site has revealed some localised potentially active pollutant linkages. 

The most notable of these is a former fuel station in the south of the site which is considered 
a relatively high risk potential contaminant source. The known history of the remainder of site 
(as farmland) indicates only a limited potential for soil contamination. No sources of ground 
gas have been identified by the desk study.   Based on the findings of the desk study an 
intrusive investigation will be required.  This information has been secured via condition.  

 
Other matters  
 

72. Concerns were raised in relation to lack of consultation however 60 neighbours were 
consulted, a site notice erected on Welwyn Way and advertise in the local press.  It is therefore 
considered that sufficient consultation has been undertaken in accordance with the 
requirements of the General Development Procedure Order. 
 

73. Safeguarding concerns, including increased footfall from non-residents, loitering, and potential 
exposure to age-inappropriate interactions in relation to the school are noted but there are 
many schools near business premises and this would not be a reason to refuse the application.  
Other legislation is available should any concerns be raised or should inappropriate behaviour 
be witnessed.  This is the same for any anti social behaviour that may occur.   
 

74. Concerns over a loss of property value, are not a material planning consideration and carries 
no weight in the determination of this application.  
 

75. Concerns over increased litter are acknowledged and appropriately worded condition in 
relation to refuse storage has been recommended. 

 
CONCLUSION 
 
76. It is recommended that the application be Approved with Conditions for the reasons specified 

above. 
 
Director of Finance, Development and Business Services 
Contact Officer Elaine Atkinson   Telephone No  01642 526062   
 
WARD AND WARD COUNCILLORS 
Ward   Southern Villages 
Ward Councillor  Councillor Elsi Hampton 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 

Page 87



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Financial Implications: None  
 
Environmental Implications: See Report 
 
Human Rights Implications: 
The provisions of the European Convention of Human Rights 1950 have been taken into account in 
the preparation of this report. 
 
Community Safety Implications: 
The provisions of Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 have been taken into account in 
the preparation of this report 
 
Background Papers 
National Planning Policy Framework 
Stockton on Tees Local Plan Adopted 2019 
Application File 

Page 88



 
Application 24/0977/OUT Little Maltby Farm, Low Lane, High Leven 

Appendix 1 Location  Plan   

 

Outline Planning Application (with all matters reserved except access) comprising a convenience foodstore and a 
parade of 4no convenience facilities (Use Class E) and associated outdoor terrace area.  Erection of retirement living 

apartments (use class C3) or residential care accommodation (use class C2) of approx. 60 bed spaces. Erection of 4no 
self build residential plots (Use Class C3). Highway access to/from the A1104 Low Lane via Welwyn Road and 

Melandra Road connecting to northeast boundary, with associated landscaping, open space and associated works.  

 

 

 
 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 90



 
Application 24/0977/OUT Little Maltby Farm, Low Lane, High Leven 

Appendix 2 Illustrative Master Plan  

 

Outline Planning Application (with all matters reserved except access) comprising a convenience foodstore and a 
parade of 4no convenience facilities (Use Class E) and associated outdoor terrace area.  Erection of retirement living 

apartments (use class C3) or residential care accommodation (use class C2) of approx. 60 bed spaces. Erection of 4no 
self build residential plots (Use Class C3). Highway access to/from the A1104 Low Lane via Welwyn Road and 

Melandra Road connecting to northeast boundary, with associated landscaping, open space and associated works.  

 

 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 92



 
Application 24/0977/OUT Little Maltby Farm, Low Lane, High Leven 

Appendix 3 Access and Tracking Details  

 

Outline Planning Application (with all matters reserved except access) comprising a convenience foodstore and a 
parade of 4no convenience facilities (Use Class E) and associated outdoor terrace area.  Erection of retirement living 

apartments (use class C3) or residential care accommodation (use class C2) of approx. 60 bed spaces. Erection of 4no 
self build residential plots (Use Class C3). Highway access to/from the A1104 Low Lane via Welwyn Road and 

Melandra Road connecting to northeast boundary, with associated landscaping, open space and associated works.  

 

 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 94



 
Application 24/0977/OUT Little Maltby Farm, Low Lane, High Leven 

Appendix 4 Parameters Plan   

 

Outline Planning Application (with all matters reserved except access) comprising a convenience foodstore and a 
parade of 4no convenience facilities (Use Class E) and associated outdoor terrace area.  Erection of retirement living 

apartments (use class C3) or residential care accommodation (use class C2) of approx. 60 bed spaces. Erection of 4no 
self build residential plots (Use Class C3). Highway access to/from the A1104 Low Lane via Welwyn Road and 

Melandra Road connecting to northeast boundary, with associated landscaping, open space and associated works.  

 

 

 
 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 96



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 

 

DELEGATED AGENDA NO 

 PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 10 September 2025 

 REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF 

INCLUSIVE GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT  

 
 
23/1111/COU  
9 Portchester Close, Ingleby Barwick, Stockton-on-Tees 
Change of use from residential (C3) to mixed use Commercial and Residential to allow for 
home business  
 
Expiry Date:   13 September 2023 
Extension of Time Date: 12 September 2025 
 
 
SUMMARY 
Following the Planning Committee meeting held on 6th August 2025, further searches by Officers 
have been conducted into other potential registered firearms dealers operating from residential 
properties within the Borough. 
 
The search identified that there have been no planning applications made to accommodate the sale 
of firearms or ammunition operating from their home address within the Borough. Applications have 
been made and accepted in relation to workshops for the manufacture and/or repair of guns on the 
periphery of the conurbation in the 1990’s.  
 
In some cases, pre-application advice has been provided in relation to gun repairs, servicing and 
sales. In all these instances planning permission was deemed to not be required, as sales were 
either not taking place at the home address or it was indicated as being limited to a maximum of two 
visits per week. With the overall level of activity being significantly less than proposed in this 
application.  
 
Additional comments have been received by the Designing out Crime Officer and the Firearms 
Licensing Manager within Cleveland Police. Again, their comments do not alter the original 
recommendation of refusal. For ease the original recommendation for refusal is reiterated below;  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Planning application 23/1111/COU be Refused for the following reason(s): 
 
Reason One: Character  
In the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, the proposed change of use would introduce a 
commercial use which is considered to be fundamentally at odds with the established residential 
character of the area due to the heightened fear of crime associated with the development. In 
addition, the introduction of a retail business for the sale of firearms and the associated security 
infrastructure required for the business is considered to erode the residential character of the area. 
It is considered that this would result in a discordant and inappropriate use that fails to respect the 
prevailing pattern of development. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy SD8 of the Stockton 
on-Tees Local Plan and paragraphs 96(b) and 135(f) of the NPPF which seeks to ensure that 
development decisions to achieve safe places which are safe and accessible, so that the fear of 
crime does not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion.  
 

Page 97

Agenda Item 7



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Reason Two: Impact on the amenity of surrounding residents  
In the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, the proposed development is considered to introduce 
a use which would erode the perception of safety and is therefore detrimental to the amenity of the 
surrounding residents. The proposed use is therefore inappropriate in a residential context and would 
be contrary to Policy SD8 of the Stockton-on-Tees Local Plan and paragraphs 96(b) and 135(f) of 
the NPPF, which seeks to ensure that development decisions to achieve safe places which are safe 
and accessible, so that the fear of crime does not undermine the quality of life or community 
cohesion. 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Cleveland Police  
Designing Out Crime Officer (DOCO) (11.08.2025) - With regards to this application, I can confirm I 
reiterate those comments originally made by G. McBride and recommend approval not be given. 
The reasons of concern are as stated by G. McBride. 
 
Firearms Licensing Manager (28.08.2025) - As promised I have looked and Mr Takhar has submitted 
a business case. It lacks the necessary detail I would expect before a formal decision could be made 
however this is something we would discuss with him and is open to amendment and re-submission 
to ensure the planned activity meets the relevant criteria.  
 
Therefore, my view is that it would not be appropriate for Firearms Licensing specifically to make 
any formal objection to the planning application as this may prejudice the decision we have yet to 
make with regards to his application for registration as a firearms dealer. In order to make such a 
decision we would assess the suitability of the applicant, the security arrangements at the premises 
and whether the proposed business case meets the criteria for registration. This is strict and defined 
process of assessment under the Firearms Act of 1968 and is supported by the Statutory Guidance 
for Chief Officers of Police on Firearms Licensing including liaison with the relevant local authority.  
 
The application for Porchester Close has been on hold since January 2023 when initial checks with 
the local authority raised the requirement for planning permission as a potential issue. No formal 
assessment of the application has since followed whilst we await the planning decision. The decision 
on whether Mr Takhar should be granted registration as a firearms dealer should remain distinct 
from any decision that is required by planning law. The planning application should be considered 
first as the firearms act does not allow for a conditional decision. 
 
This should not prevent Cleveland Police more generally from holding a view based on other 
specialist knowledge more closely associated with planning decisions. 
 

 
MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
Following the Planning Committee meeting held on 6th August 2025, further searches by Officers 
have been conducted into other potential registered firearms dealers operating from residential 
properties within the Borough. Upon completing the search, there have been no planning 
applications made to accommodate the sale of firearms or ammunition operating from their home 
address within the Borough. Applications have been made and accepted in relation to workshops for 
the manufacture and/or repair of guns on the periphery of the conurbation in the 1990’s.  
 
In some cases pre-application advice has been provided in relation to gun repairs, servicing and 
sales. In all these instances where planning permission was deemed to not be required, sales were 
either not taking place at the home address or it was indicated as being limited to a maximum of two 
visits per week. In contrast the applicant who indicates 2-3 visits per day, equating to circa 12-18 
visits per week (based on the applicants opening hours). No complaints or allegations have been 
received in relation to these properties which suggests that they continue to operate as stated within 
the original enquiries.  

Page 98



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 
 
For transparency, the Applicant has enquired for pre-application advice at this and another 
residential address within the Borough. On both occasions, due to the level of activity proposed and 
how the business would operate, Officers advised planning permission was required and would likely 
be unsupported.  
 
With regards to how this business will operate, during the course of the assessment of the planning 
application, Officers queried how the sales aspect would occur following a critique of the Applicant’s 
submitted information, this has included a visit to the premises and further explanation from the 
Applicant. The Applicant has advised that typically sales of guns and ammunition would occur from 
the property. Initially a customer would attend the address, show the required documentation to 
prove they are authorised members of gun clubs as required by police licensing and then place an 
order either through browsing a physical or an internet catalogue. Once the order is placed, firearms 
will be delivered to 9 Portchester close where they will await collection by the customer. Ammunition 
can also be purchased from the address.   
 
In summary, the searches for other alike businesses operating from residential properties are not 
considered to be comparable and as a consequence do not affect the recommendation set out in 
the original committee report. 
 
Following the committee meeting in August, additional comments have also been sought by the case 
officer from Cleveland Police including the Designing Out Crime Officer (DOCO) and the Firearms 
Licensing Manager.  
 
The DOCO has reiterated the overall stance of Cleveland Police maintaining an objection to the 
development, citing that it is an inappropriate development for a residential area and that criminality 
may be attracted to such a use and therefore represents an increased danger to the public. 
 
The Firearms Licensing Manger has reviewed the case, and comments on the two separate 
processes. Nevertheless, what the Local Planning Authority and the Police Licensing Authority 
consider when reviewing an application are different. An LPA considers whether the proposed 
change of use is acceptable in terms of policy compliance, impact on the character of the area, 
residential and local amenity, highways and parking, and any other relevant material considerations. 
Whereas the Police Licensing Authority assess the suitability of the applicant, the security 
arrangements at the premises and whether the proposed business case meets the criteria for 
registration.  
 
In view of these associated comments, and for those reasons set out within the original committee 
report, the proposed use is considered inappropriate for this area and the application is 
recommended for refusal.  
 
CONCLUSION 
It is therefore recommended that the application be Refused for the reasons specified above. 
 
 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 100



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 

 

DELEGATED AGENDA NO 

 PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 Wednesday 6th August 

 REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF 

INCLUSIVE GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT  

 
 
23/1111/COU 9 Portchester Close, Ingleby Barwick, Stockton-on-Tees 
Change of use from residential (C3) to mixed use Commercial and Residential to allow for 
home business  
 
Expiry Date:   13 September 2023 
Extension of Time Date: 8 August 2025 
 
 
SUMMARY 
The application relates to No.9 Portchester Close, which is a substantial two storey detached 
residential dwelling located within an established residential area of Ingleby Barwick. 
 
Planning permission is sought for the change of use of part of No.9 Portchester Close to be used 
for the sale of firearms and ammunition.  The change of use would allow for a designated reception 
room to be used as a secured sales area. The rest of the property would remain as a residential 
dwelling. 
 
Sales of firearms would be by pre-arranged appointment only to persons approved by the Police 
Licensing Authority, and not to the general public. Customers would have to provide evidence of 
membership of shooting clubs, or being holders of Firearm or Shotgun Certificates. The business 
would operate only between the hours of 10:00 to 18:00 Monday to Saturday, with only one 
customer visiting the property at any one time, and it is anticipated that there would be a maximum 
of 2-3 customers per day. 
 
The property benefits from secure storage for firearms and ammunition, and the exterior of the host 
property is covered by security cameras and has a 24 hour a day monitored alarm system. There 
are no external alterations proposed to the property, and the business would not have any external 
signage or indication of the type of business which would operate from the premises. 
 
Following the consultation process there have been 52no letters of objection received. The 
objections relate to highway issues including increase in the volume of traffic and off-street parking, 
public safety, anti-social behaviour/crime, unsuitable location for such a commercial use, and 
impact on residential amenity by way of noise disturbance and impact on privacy. There have also 
been 29no letters of support received. 
 
Given the scale of the proposed business, which would operate by pre-arranged appointment only 
to persons approved by the Police Licensing Authority, and not to the general public, during 
daytime hours with only one customer visiting at any one time and a maximum of 3 appointments 
per day, the proposal is not considered to have a significant adverse impact on centre locations. 
 
Due to the measures required to make the business safe, the pre-conceptions and connotations 
attached to the nature of the business proposed and the vagueness of how the business will 
operate, has, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, caused a heightened sense of fear of 
crime regarding the proposal which completely undermines the residential character of the area 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7

Page 101



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

and the perception of safety for the surrounding neighbouring residents, to their detriment. The 
proposal is not considered to result in a significant impact on highway safety due to the off-street 
parking provided on the Site. 
 
The proposed development would therefore be contrary to Local Plan Policy SD8(3) and National 
Planning Policies 96(b) and 135(f) which seek development decisions to achieve safe places which 
are safe and accessible, so that the fear of crime does not undermine the quality of life or community 
cohesion. 
 
The application is therefore recommended for refusal. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Planning application 23/1111/COU be Refused for the following reason(s) 
 
Reason One: Character  
In the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, the proposed change of use would introduce a 
commercial use which is considered to be fundamentally at odds with the established residential 
character of the area due to the heightened fear of crime associated with the development. In 
addition, the introduction of a retail business for the sale of firearms and the associated security 
infrastructure required for the business is considered to erode the residential character of the area. 
It is considered that this would result in a discordant and inappropriate use that fails to respect the 
prevailing pattern of development. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy SD8 of the Stockton-
on-Tees Local Plan and paragraphs 96(b) and 135(f) of the NPPF which seeks to ensure that 
development decisions to achieve safe places which are safe and accessible, so that the fear of 
crime does not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion. 
 
Reason Two: Impact on the amenity of surrounding residents 
In the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, the proposed development is considered to introduce 
a use which would erode the perception of safety and is therefore detrimental to the amenity of the 
surrounding residents. The proposed use is therefore inappropriate in a residential context and would 
be contrary to Policy SD8 of the Stockton-on-Tees Local Plan and paragraphs 96(b) and 135(f) of 
the NPPF, which seeks to ensure that development decisions to achieve safe places which are safe 
and accessible, so that the fear of crime does not undermine the quality of life or community 
cohesion. 
 
Informative: Working Practice  
The Local Planning Authority considers the submitted details unsatisfactory but fully explored 
whether the scheme could be modified to be considered acceptable and thereby worked in a positive 
and proactive manner in dealing with the planning application. 
 
SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
1. The application relates to 9 Portchester Close, which is a substantial two storey detached 

residential dwelling located within an established residential area of Ingleby Barwick. 
 

2. The property is set back from the highway to the front, with the front boundary treated by way 
of a 2-metre-high brick wall and gates. To the front of the property there is a detached 1.5 
storey garage building and a substantial driveway which provides off street parking for the 
dwelling. 

 
PROPOSAL 
3. Planning permission is sought for the change of use of part of 9 Portchester Close to be used for 

the sale of firearms.  The change of use would allow for a designated reception room to be used 
as a secured sales area. The rest of the property would remain as a residential dwelling. 

 

Page 62Page 102



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

4. Sales of firearms will be by pre-arranged appointment only to persons approved by the Police 
Licensing Authority, and not to the general public. Customers will have to provide evidence of 
membership of shooting clubs, or being holders of Firearm or Shotgun Certificates. 

 
5. The business will operate only between the hours of 10:00 to 18:00, with only one customer 

visiting the property at any one time, and it is anticipated that there will be a maximum of 2-3 
customers per day. 

 
6. The property benefits from secure storage for firearms and ammunition, and is fully covered by 

external security cameras and has a 24 hour a day monitored alarm system. There are no 
external alterations proposed to the property, and the business will not have any external signage 
or indication of the type of business which would operate from the premises. 

 
CONSULTATIONS 
7.  Consultees were notified and the following comments were received. 
 
Highways Transport & Design Manager - The Highways, Transport and Design Manager has no 
objection to this application. 
 
Adequate parking for the proposed change of use, has been provided. There are no highway 
objections. 
 
Environmental Health Unit - I have checked the documentation provided, have found no grounds 
for objection in principle to the development and do not think that conditions need to be imposed 
from an Environmental Health perspective. 
 
Cleveland Police - I note the applicants 'business plan' and 'Design and Access Statement' 
registered on the planning portal. 
 
I have looked at the property, where the proposed business is expected to operate from, on Google 
Maps. It's on the edge of a large housing development that backs onto the River Tees.  
 
The applicant does highlight in the supporting material, that attendance to the property would be by 
appointment only, however, I'm not sure how that might be adequately controlled, and suspect that 
people might, simply turn up unannounced. 
 
The applicant mentions that alarms in use at the property are approved by Cleveland Police, 
however, that statement is not completely accurate, it's the supplier of the alarms who is a member 
of a trade body, that is recognised by the police nationally. We recognise this fact, not endorse them 
or the system. 
 
I recommend the Council reject the change of use application, because it's proposed that the 
business will operate from a residential property on a housing estate, which I consider inappropriate, 
for the type of business being considered. There is a road traffic safety element to consider too, with 
people unfamiliar with the location, creating additional traffic. I also fear that the nature of the 
business, may attract criminality to it, and therefore may represent an increased danger to the public. 
 
PUBLICITY 
8. Local residents have been individually notified of the application.  Letters of objection were 

received from the following addresses and a summary of the comments received are set out 
below. 52 objections were received in total.  

 

• 2 Portchester Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 4 Portchester Close Ingleby Barwick 

Page 63Page 103



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

• 7 Portchester Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 8 Portchester Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 11 Portchester Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 12 Portchester Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 19 Portchester Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 31 Portchester Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 2 Lufton Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 7 Lufton Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 2 Ingram Grove Ingleby Barwick 

• 12 Avens Way Ingleby Barwick 

• 11 Goodrich Way Ingleby Barwick 

• 18 Penderyn Crescent Ingleby Barwick 

• 29 Port Way Ingleby Barwick 

• 5 Fosse Court Ingleby Barwick 

• 10 Farrier Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 1 Piddington Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 11 Cragside Court Ingleby Barwick 

• 29 Condercum Green Ingleby Barwick 

• 1 Arennig Court Ingleby Barwick 

• 17 Portchester Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 31 Stainforth Gardens Ingleby Barwick 

• 11 Beacons Lane Ingleby Barwick 

• 59 Lullingstone Crescent Ingleby Barwick 

• 28 Binchester Court Ingleby Barwick 

• 27 Whernside Crescent Ingleby Barwick 

• 37 The Orchard Ingleby Barwick 

• 6 Woodchester Grove Ingleby Barwick 

• 1 Kirkbride Way Ingleby Barwick 

• 12 Lufton Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 8 Potto Close Yarm 

• 19 Rothbury Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 8 Enterpen Close Yarm 

• 51 Bader Avenue Thornaby 

• 15 Ickworth Court Ingleby Barwick 

• 24 Cradoc Grove Ingleby Barwick 

• 3 Lufton Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 36 Mastiles Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 20 Hillmorton Road Ingleby Barwick 

• 10 Rochester Court Ingleby Barwick 

• 25 Portchester Close Ingleby Barwick 

•  3 Lufton Close Ingleby Barwick 

•  2 Portchester Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 39 Poppy Lane Stockton-on-Tees 

• 5 Portchester Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 39 Pembroke Drive Ingleby Barwick 

• 3 Usk Court Ingleby Barwick 

• 6 Portchester Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 15 Rowen Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 87 mulberry wynd Stockton 

• 18 Stamford St Middlesbrough 
 
9. The main concerns raised are: - 

Page 64Page 104



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

• Impact on public safety 

• Increase in crime and anti-social behaviour in the area 

• Increase in noise disturbance as a result of the proposed use 

• Increase in on street parking pressures in the area 

• Detrimental impact on highway safety 

• Impact on privacy, safety and quality of life. 

• Inappropriate location for commercial use 
 
10. 29 letters of support have been received:  
 

• 11 Keswick Grove Middlesbrough 

• 5 St Lukes Avenue Thornaby 

• 11 Heslop Street Thornaby 

• 20 Debruse Avenue Yarm 

• 2 Bamburgh Court Ingleby Barwick 

• 12 Albany street Middlesbrough 

• 88 Priorwood Gardens Ingleby Barwick 

• 5 Camelon Street Thornaby 

• 5 Cawthorne Place Wynyard 

• 8 Berrington Gardens Ingleby Barwick 

• 2 Duke of Wellington Gardens Wellington Gardens 

• 1 Otter Way Ingleby Barwick 

• 18 Portchester Close Ingleby Barwick 

• 1 Chalk Walk Stockton-on-Tees 

• 3 Chalk Walk Stockton-on-Tees 

• 5 Chalk Walk Stockton-on-Tees 

• 66 Langley Avenue Thornaby 

• 72 Langley Avenue Thornaby 

• 76 Langley Avenue Thornaby 

• 78 Langley Avenue Thornaby 

• 96 Langley Avenue Thornaby 

• Flat B 36 Heslop Street 

• 109 Priorwood Gardens Ingleby Barwick 

• 56 Canon Grove Yarm 

• 1 Cragside Court Ingleby Barwick 

• 134 Mansfield Avenue Thornaby 

• 2 Duke of Wellington Gardens Wellington Gardens 

• 31 Northallerton Road Thornaby 

• 35 Clarendon Road Thornaby 
 
11. The main reasons for support are: 

 
- Will not raise any safety issues 
- There are no parking problems in the street 
- Property benefits from adequate off street parking to serve the business operations 
- Precedent has been set by a similar business being run from a residential property elsewhere 

in the locality 
- The business will operate safely and by appointment only 
- Business will comply with strict regulatory framework 
- Only licensed holders will be able to use the business 
- Business will operate using enhanced security measures 
- Economic impact/job creation 

Page 65Page 105



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
PLANNING POLICY 
12. Where an adopted or approved development plan contains relevant policies, Section 38(6) of the 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that an application for planning 
permissions shall be determined in accordance with the Development Plan(s) for the area, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.  In this case the relevant Development Plan is the 
Stockton on Tees Borough Council Local Plan 2019. 

 
13. Section 143 of the Localism Act came into force on the 15 January 2012 and requires the Local 

Planning Authority to take local finance considerations into account, this section s70(2) Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended requires in dealing with such an application the 
authority shall have regard to a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the 
application, b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application and c) any 
other material considerations. 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 
14. The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 

development. Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three 
overarching objectives, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive 
ways. These are economic social and environmental objectives. 

 
15. So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the heart of the Framework is 

a presumption in favour of sustainable development (paragraph 11) which for decision making 
means;   

• approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without 
delay; or 

• where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:  

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or  

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.  

 
Paragraph 85. Planning policies and decisions should help create the conditions in which 
businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be placed on the need to support 
economic growth and productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider 
opportunities for development. The approach taken should allow each area to build on its strengths, 
counter any weaknesses and address the challenges of the future. This is particularly important 
where Britain can be a global leader in driving innovation, and in areas with high levels of productivity, 
which should be able to capitalise on their performance and potential. 
 
Paragraph 91. Local planning authorities should apply a sequential test to planning applications for 
main town centre uses which are neither in an existing centre nor in accordance with an up-to-date 
plan. Main town centre uses should be located in town centres, then in edge of centre locations; and 
only if suitable sites are not available (or expected to become available within a reasonable period) 
should out of centre sites be considered. 
 
Paragraph 96. Planning policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe 
places which:  

b) are safe and accessible, so that crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not 
undermine the quality of life or community cohesion – for example through the use of well-
designed, clear and legible pedestrian and cycle routes, and high quality public space, which 
encourage the active and continual use of public areas. 

 
Paragraph 135. Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments:  

Page 66Page 106



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but 
over the lifetime of the development;  
b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective 
landscaping;  
c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built environment 
and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change 
(such as increased densities);  
d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, 
building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, 
work and visit;  
e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and 
mix of development (including green and other public space) and support local facilities and 
transport networks; and  
f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-
being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where crime and 
disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion 
and resilience. 

 
Local Planning Policy 
16. The following planning policies are considered to be relevant to the consideration of this 

application. 
 
Strategic Development Strategy Policy 1 (SD1) - Presumption in favour of Sustainable 
Development  
1. In accordance with the Government's National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), when the  
Council considers development proposals it will take a positive approach that reflects the  
presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the NPPF. It will always work  
proactively with applicants jointly to find solutions which mean that proposals for sustainable  
development can be approved wherever possible, and to secure development that improves the  
economic, social and environmental conditions in the area.  
2. Planning applications that accord with the policies in this Local Plan (and, where relevant, with  
polices in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay, unless material considerations  
indicate otherwise.  
3. Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of date at the  
time of making the decision then the Council will grant permission unless material considerations  
indicate otherwise - taking into account whether:  

- Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole; or,  

- Specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be restricted.  
 
Strategic Development Strategy Policy 4 (SD4) - Economic Growth Strategy 
1. Economic development needs will be directed to appropriate locations within the Borough to 
ensure the delivery of sustainable economic growth. 
Town Centres 
10. Stockton Primary Shopping Frontage will be the main location for new retail development to 
2032, whilst the wider town centre will be the main location for new leisure and evening economy 
uses. 
11. Proposals for new town centre uses will be directed to suitable and available sites and premises 
in the centres within the following Town Centres Hierarchy: 
 
Centre Tier                                 Location               Role and Function 
Primary Shopping Area                  a. Stockton            The largest shopping centre within the  
/Town Centre                                                                Borough containing the Primary Shopping  
                                                                                     Area, an administrative function and evening  
                                                                                     economy. 

Page 67Page 107



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

District Centre                                b. Billingham          District centres will generally comprise  
                                                       c. Thornaby           groups of shops often containing at least one 
                                                       d. Yarm                 supermarket or superstore, and a range of  
                                                       e. Norton               non-retail services, such as banks, building  
                                                                                     societies and restaurants, as well as local  
                                                                                     public facilities such as a library. 
Local Centre                                See SD4.12           Centres which serve a small catchment and,  
                                                       (below)                  typically include a small supermarket/  
                                                                                     convenience store and a range of other small  
                                                                                     shops, services and community facilities. 
 
12. The following locations are designated as Local Centres: 
a. Billingham Green, Billingham       b. Mill Lane, Billingham 
c. High Grange, Billingham               d. The Stables, Wynyard 
e. Wolviston Court, Billingham          f. Orchard Parade, Eaglescliffe 
g. Healaugh Park, Yarm                   h. Sunningdale Drive, Eaglescliffe 
i. Myton Way, Ingleby Barwick          j. Elm Tree Centre, Stockton 
k. Hanover Parade, Stockton            l. Harper Parade, Stockton 
m. High Newham Court, Stockton    n. Oxbridge Lane, Stockton 
o. Redhill Road, Stockton 
13. Should any planning application proposals for main town centre uses in edge or out-of-centre 
locations emerge, such proposals will be determined in accordance with the Sequential and Impact 
tests set out in Policy EG3 alongside prevailing national planning policy, having regard to the 
catchment area of the proposal. 
16. Small scale convenience facilities which are intended to meet the needs of a neighbourhood will 
be permitted in suitable and available commercial premises in undesignated shopping parades, in 
accordance with Policy EG6. 
 
Strategic Development Strategy Policy 8 (SD8) - Sustainable Design Principles  
1. The Council will seek new development to be designed to the highest possible standard, taking  
into consideration the context of the surrounding area and the need to respond positively to the:  

a. Quality, character and sensitivity of the surrounding public realm, heritage assets, and 
nearby buildings, in particular at prominent junctions, main roads and town centre gateways;  
b. Landscape character of the area, including the contribution made by existing trees and  
landscaping;  
c. Need to protect and enhance ecological and green infrastructure networks and assets;  
d. Need to ensure that new development is appropriately laid out to ensure adequate 
separation between buildings and an attractive environment;  
e. Privacy and amenity of all existing and future occupants of land and buildings;  
f. Existing transport network and the need to provide safe and satisfactory access and parking 
for all modes of transport;  
g. Need to reinforce local distinctiveness and provide high quality and inclusive design 
solutions, and  
h. Need for all development to be designed inclusively to ensure that buildings and spaces 
are accessible for all, including people with disabilities.  

2. New development should contribute positively to making places better for people. They should be 
inclusive and establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive 
and comfortable places to live, work and visit.  
3. All proposals will be designed with public safety and the desire to reduce crime in mind, 
incorporating, where appropriate, advice from the Health and Safety Executive, Secured by Design, 
or any other appropriate design standards.  
4. New development will seek provision of adequate waste recycling, storage and collection facilities, 
which are appropriately sited and designed.  
 
Economic Growth Policy 3 (EG3) – Protecting Centres 

Page 68Page 108



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1. Subject to the scale and catchment of the proposal, retail (A1 use class) development will be 
directed to suitable and available sites and premises in defined centres, as identified on the Policies 
Maps, in the following sequence: 

a. Stockton Town Centre Primary Shopping Area; then, 
b. Sites within the boundaries of Stockton Town Centre; then, 
c. Sites within the ground floor shopping frontages of the District Centres; then, 
d. Sites within the boundaries of the District Centres; then, 
e. Sites on the edge of Stockton Town Centre which have the opportunity to connect to the 
defined Primary Shopping Area; then, 
f. Sites on the edge of the District Centres which have the opportunity to connect to the District 
Centre’s main shopping areas or frontages; then, 
g. Sites within the Local Centres; and finally, 
h. Sustainable out-of-centre locations within the limits to development. 

2. Other main town centre uses will be directed to suitable and available sites and premises in the 
following locations, subject to the scale and catchment of the proposal: 

a. Town and District Centres, and for office development only, Principal Office Locations; 
then, 
b. Sites on the edge of the Town and District Centres, which are well served by public 
transport and have a high likelihood of forming links with the centre; then, 
c. Within the boundaries of the Local Centres; then, 
d. Sustainable out-of-centre locations within the limits to development. 

3. Proposals will only be supported in sequentially less preferable locations where it has been 
demonstrated that there are no available and suitable sites or premises in sequentially preferable 
locations, and that a flexible approach to scale and format has been applied. 
4. Town centre use proposals on out-of-centre sites, which demonstrate that the format and scale of 
the development means it cannot be located in a town centre location, will be the subject of restrictive 
conditions to protect the future vitality and viability of the Boroughs town centres. 
 
Economic Growth Policy 6 (EG6) - Small Scale Facilities 
1. Proposals for small-scale town centre uses and hot food takeaways designed to meet a localised 
catchment will be directed to defined town, district and local centres first, and then if no suitable 
premises are available, to existing available and suitable premises in other existing shopping 
parades in the catchment area of the proposal. 
2. Within strategic residential, and general employment developments, where no similar facilities 
exist within reasonable walking distance, developers should provide new shopping, service and 
community facilities of a scale which meet the day-to-day needs of future occupiers, subject to taking 
into account the range, choice and accessibility of existing local provision. 
3. Support will only be given to the development of, or change of use to, small-scale (under 150sq 
m) town centre uses which would meet a local need outside of defined town, district, and local 
centres and shopping parades where they: 

a. Are of a scale and function intended to serve a localised catchment area; 
b. Do not have a significant adverse impact upon the vitality and viability of any designated 
centre; and 
c. Are situated within the limits to development. 

4. Outside of town, district and local centres, development proposals for new hot-food-takeaways, 
betting offices or public houses, will be resisted where they result in a harmful over-concentration of 
those uses. 
 
Transport and Infrastructure Policy 1 (TI1) - Transport Infrastructure  
11. To assist consideration of transport impacts, improve accessibility and safety for all modes of  
travel associated with development proposals, the Council will require, as appropriate, a Transport  
Statement or Transport Assessment and a Travel Plan.  
12. The Council and its partners will seek to ensure that all new development, where appropriate,  
which generate significant movements are located where the need to travel can be minimised,  
where practical gives priority to pedestrian and cycle movements, provides access to high quality  

Page 69Page 109



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

public transport facilities and offers prospective residents and/or users with genuine sustainable  
transport options. This will be achieved by seeking to ensure that:  

e. New development incorporates safe and secure layouts which minimises conflict between 
traffic, cyclists or pedestrians. 

 
MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
17. The main planning considerations of this application are the principle of the development, 

impacts on the character of the area, amenity of neighbouring occupiers and highway safety. 
 
Principle of the development 
18. The Site is located within a principally residential area within the defined development limits of 

Ingleby Barwick, outside of the defined retail centre. Planning policies EG2 and EG3 of the Local 
Plan seek to protect and maintain the vitality and viability of the Boroughs defined centres. 
Consequently, as set out within the Policy EG3 and the NPPF, a sequential assessment should 
be provided to assess whether potential available and suitable premises within existing centres 
could be considered as alternative sites to locate the proposal. However, planning policy EG6 
states that support will only be given to the development of, or change of use to, small-scale 
(under 150sqm) town centre uses which would meet a local need outside of defined town, district, 
and local centres and shopping parades where they: 

a. Are of a scale and function intended to serve a localised catchment area; 
b. Do not have a significant adverse impact upon the vitality and viability of any designated 
centre; and 
c. Are situated within the limits to development. 

 
19. The business would operate principally out of a small room on the first floor of the host property, 

with appointments initially taking place in a reception room of the ground floor. The business 
would operate between 10:00 and 18:00 Monday to Saturday and would be by appointment only, 
with a maximum of 3 appointments per day. Over the course of a month, this would equate to 
approximately 90 visits. The applicant has not provided a sequential assessment, however the 
nearest local centre would be approximately 1.5km at Myton Way with wider district and town 
centres being more than approximately 2.5km as the crow flies.  

 
20. It seems reasonable given the nature and scale of the proposal that it would not adversely impact 

upon the vitality and viability of the existing commercial units at Myton Way due to the limited 
opening hours, number of appointments per day which would not be any more than a busy 
residential dwelling and the specialist nature of the service it would provide. Therefore, on 
balance, it is considered it would be unlikely to undermine the overall vitality and viability of the 
defined centres. Accordingly, there is no direct conflict with the policies of the Local Plan or the 
NPPF and the development is considered to be sustainable in this respect and overall, the 
principle of development is considered to be acceptable. 

 
Impact on Character 
21. Paragraph 135(f) of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure that developments 

create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, 
with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where crime and disorder, and 
the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience. 
Whilst policy SD8 sets out that the Council will seek new development to be designed to the 
highest possible standard, taking into consideration the context of the surrounding area and the 
need to respond positively to the quality, character and sensitivity of the surrounding public realm. 
Further to this SD8(3) states that all proposals will be designed with public safety and the desire 
to reduce crime in mind, incorporating, where appropriate, advice from the Health and Safety 
Executive, Secured by Design, or any other appropriate design standards. 
 

22. Cleveland Police have objected to the proposed change of use due to the type of business 
being proposed, citing it is unsuitable for a residential area. In addition, a number of concerns 

Page 70Page 110



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

have been raised by local residents with regards to the change of use in respect of impact on 
public safety, crime and anti-social behaviour.  

 
23. It is acknowledged that the proposed business use has resulted in a heightened fear of crime 

from neighbouring residents in relation to public safety. It is considered that in this case the 
perception of fear is heightened due to the specific goods on offer, and the pre-conceptions and 
connotations attached to such goods. 

 
24. It is understood that the sale of firearms is heavily regulated and monitored by the police with 

regard to safety by the firearms regulations and there is the requirement to be licenced by 
Cleveland Police who consider issues such as the safety of the building. In terms of physical 
alterations, the supporting statements clarify that the host building does benefit from secure 
storage for firearms and ammunition, external security cameras and a 24 hour a day monitored 
alarm system. There are no additional external alterations proposed to the host property, and the 
business would not have any external signage or indication of the type of business which would 
operate from the premises. 

 
25. Whilst the systems already in place would not necessarily require planning permission in their 

own right, it is considered that the need for this level of security camera, alarm and storage 
system in connection with the proposed use creates the perception that the proposal is unsafe 
and unsuitable for a residential dwelling. In the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, the need 
to provide security cameras, alarms, and secure storage to this degree and to be strictly 
controlled by Cleveland Police only highlights the significant issues and the heightened fear of 
crime which is completely at odds with, and undermines the residential character of the area. It 
is considered that this proposal would be more suitable in a secure location away from residential 
areas. 

 
26. Given the objections made to this application by Cleveland Police and the heightened fear of 

crime by the nature of goods on offer, it is considered that the proposal is contrary to Local Plan 
Policy SD8 and NPPF paragraphs 96(b) and 135(f). 

 
Impact on Amenity 
27. It is noted that within the supporting statements, the business would operate by pre-arranged 

appointment only to persons approved by the Police Licensing Authority, and not to the general 
public, with customers having to provide evidence of membership of shooting clubs or being 
holders of Firearm or Shotgun Certificates. 

 
28. The business is proposed to operate only between the hours of 10:00 to 18:00 Mondays to 

Saturdays, with only one customer visiting the property at any one time. The supporting 
information submitted as part of the application states that it is envisaged that there would be a 
maximum of 2-3no customers per day.  

 
29. Customers would attend a pre-arranged appointment to the host property to order from a 

catalogue, or from an internet website, with the main purpose of the initial and pre-arranged 
meeting being to view Firearm Certificates. The desired item by the customer would then be 
ordered by the Applicant for delivery to the host property. It is indicated within the supporting 
statements that deliveries would be stored at the property for a maximum of 1no day, however, 
in practice this is likely to be unachievable in all circumstances as it would rely on each customer 
travelling to the Site to collect their order within 24 hours of the product arriving at the host 
property, and within the proposed opening hours of 10:00 to 18:00. This would also rely on the 
Applicant or delivery service notifying the customer that the order had arrived and is ready for 
collection in a timely manner. 

 
30. In practice, the Applicant has provision on Site to store multiple firearms, ammunition and related 

paraphernalia and some of the supporting information attempting to explain or justify the proposal 

Page 71Page 111



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

appears vague and at times contradictory, which when handling a planning application of this 
nature, it is essential to have an acute understanding of how the business is proposed to operate 
in order to assess and understand safety related concerns or if there is potential for the public to 
be at risk. It is not considered that the submission sufficiently mitigates concern from Officers. 

 
31. This proposal, its associated documents and planning report are in the public domain. There is 

concern raised due to the fact that the business would be public knowledge and that there would 
be a high likelihood of multiple firearms and ammunition being stored at the host property at any 
given time which potentially could make the Site subject to being targeted by gangs or other ill-
intentioned groups which is not a welcomed positioned for immediately surrounding residents.  

 
32. Therefore, regardless of the sale of guns being strictly controlled by other legislation and cannot 

be controlled through the planning system and the perception of fear in this instance is 
considered sufficient to warrant a refusal of this application as it is considered that the proposal 
is contrary to Local Plan Policy SD8 and NPPF paragraphs 96(b) and 135(f). 

 
Highway Safety 
33. A number of concerns have been raised with regards to parking issues as a result of the 

proposed use, and subsequent highway safety implications. However, as set out earlier within 
the report, there will be no more than one customer visiting the property at anyone time, and this 
will be by appointment only. The number of appointments will be limited to a maximum of three 
per day, and as such there would only be a maximum of one customer vehicle at the property at 
any one time, and a maximum of three over the course of a day. The property can provide off 
street parking to accommodate this amount of customers. Furthermore, the Highways, Transport 
and Design Manager has raised no objection to the proposed business use. As such, it is 
considered that there is sufficient off street parking provision available to serve the proposed 
business use, and the proposal would not have a detrimental impact upon highway safety within 
the area. 

 
CONCLUSION 
It is recommended that the application be Refused for the reasons specified above. 
 
Director of Finance, Development and Business Services 
Contact Officer Joe Port   Telephone No 01642 524362   
 
WARD AND WARD COUNCILLORS 
Ward   Ingleby Barwick North 
Ward Councillor  Councillor Ted Strike 
Ward Councillor  Councillor Alan Watson 
Ward Councillor  Councillor Sally Ann Watson 
 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Financial Implications: 
 
Environmental Implications:  
 
Human Rights Implications: 
The provisions of the European Convention of Human Rights 1950 have been taken into account in 
the preparation of this report. 
 
Community Safety Implications: 
The provisions of Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 have been taken into account in 
the preparation of this report 

Page 72Page 112



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Background Papers 
Stockton on Tees Local Plan Adopted 2019 

 
 
 
 

Page 73Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 74Page 114



Page 75Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 76Page 116



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

DELEGATED AGENDA NO 

 PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 10 September 2025 

 REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF 

INCLUSIVE GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT  

 
 
25/1665/LA  
Sponsored Roundabout Junction Council of Europe Boulevard, University Boulevard, 
Thornaby 
Erection of a 1.50 metre brick/concrete base including placement of a Coffee Pot Engine atop 
(Planting of perimeter boundary hedge)  
 
Expiry Date:   6 October 2025 
 
SUMMARY 
 
Planning permission is sought for the erection of a brick plinth with a smooth concrete  top to be 
used as a base for the siting of the “Coffee Pot” steam locomotive, currently in storage at Preston 
Park Museum. This is to be sited in the centre of the sponsored roundabout on the junction of Council 
of Europe Boulevard and University Boulevard, Thornaby. 
 
One letter of support has been received from the Friends of the Stockton and Darlington Railway . 
No objections have been raised by consultees. 
 
In accordance with the Council’s scheme of delegation, the application  is to be determined by 
Planning Committee as it falls outside of the types of “minor” Council development that can be 
determined under delegated powers. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
That planning application 25/1665/LA be approved subject to the following conditions and 
informative. 
 
Time Limit 
01 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 

the date of this permission. 
 

Reason: By virtue of the provision of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended). 

 
Approved Plans 
02  The development hereby approved shall be in accordance with the following approved 

plan(s);  
 

Plan Reference Number Date Received   

25122-HL-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-1600-S4-P03 11 August 2025  

25122-HL-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-2100-S4-P04 11 August 2025  

SBC0001 7 August 2025 

  

Reason:  To define the consent. 
 

Page 117

Agenda Item 8



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

INFORMATIVE OF REASON FOR PLANNING APPROVAL 
Working Practices 
The Local Planning Authority found the submitted details satisfactory subject to the imposition of 
appropriate planning conditions and has worked in a positive and proactive manner in dealing with 
the planning application. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. This application has been submitted as part of the Stockton & Darlington Railway Celebrations. 

The “Coffee Pot” engine was initially built in 1870 and is one of only three such engines that 
remain. It was built by the Head Wrightson’s Iron Foundry and used to shunt materials around 
the site. The engine was retired and in 1970, it was loaned to Stockton Borough Council and 
sited on the junction of Bridge Road and St John’s Crossing. It was then moved into Preston 
Park in 2012 and has recently been moved into a non-public workshop yard within the museum.  
 

2. The Head Wrightson’s site closed in the late 1980s and in the early 1990s, became the site of 
the Teesdale Business Park developed by the former Teesside Development Corporation (TDC).  

 
3. To celebrate the Bicentennial of the railways, and to bring the engine back into the public realm, 

this application has been submitted. 
   
SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 
4. The application site is a four-way roundabout leading to various offices, educational 

establishments, and dwellings, including Dunedin House.  It is on the Council of Europe 
Boulevard and University Boulevard.  It is a wide, open, flat grassed roundabout. There are 
statutory traffic signs on it and a single pole which holds a CCTV camera. There is one CP Media 
sign on it which seeks advertisements. The area is overtly commercial in its character, however 
owing to its origins as a development by TDC, the area has an open and spacious character with 
wide grass verges, pedestrian footways, well established trees and a uniformity in the style, 
design and form of the buildings and street furniture. 
 

5. The nearest dwellings are those in Anchorage Mews, approximately 150m to the east. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
6. This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a 1 brick/concrete base and 

the placement of the “Coffee Pot” engine on top of it. Details of a 1.2m perimeter boundary hedge 
have also been provided, but this does not, in itself require planning permission and no further 
consideration of it will be made. The base will be concrete, faced with red bricks in a Flemish 
Bond pattern and there will be a smooth, chamfered concrete top on that. A set of rails and 
sleepers will be installed, and the engine will be put on top of that. The engine will not be 
illuminated, and access will be limited owing to the hedge. 
 

7. The roundabout has been selected as a suitable location as it will be within the former Head 
Wrightson’s site, where the engine was used and would thus provide a visual link to the past, 
and will also celebrate the town’s important railway heritage through the Bicentennial of the 
Stockton and Darlington Railway.  

 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
8. Consultees were notified, and the following comments were received. 

 
9. Friends Of Stockton and Darlington Railway - We are delighted to offer full support to see the 

Coffee Pot engine return home to the site of Head Wrightson. 

Page 118



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
10. Environmental Health Unit – There are no grounds for objection in principle to the development 

but would recommend conditions relating to hours of work and unexpected land contamination  
 

11. Canal & River Trust – No comment 
 

PUBLICITY 
 
12. Neighbours were notified, and to date no comments have been received. 

 
 

PLANNING POLICY 
 

13. Where an adopted or approved development plan contains relevant policies, Section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that an application for planning 
permissions shall be determined in accordance with the Development Plan(s) for the area, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.  In this case the relevant Development Plan is the 
Stockton on Tees Borough Council Local Plan 2019. 
 

14. Section 143 of the Localism Act came into force on the 15 January 2012 and requires the Local 
Planning Authority to take local finance considerations into account, this section s70(2) Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended requires in dealing with such an application the 
authority shall have regard to a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the 
application, b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application and c) any 
other material considerations. 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 
15. The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 

development. Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three 
overarching objectives, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive 
ways. These are economic social and environmental objectives. 
 

16. So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the heart of the Framework is 
a presumption in favour of sustainable development (paragraph 11) which for decision making 
means;   

 

• approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without 
delay; or 

• where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:  

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or  

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.  

 
Local Planning Policy 
17. The following planning policies are considered to be relevant to the consideration of this 

application. 
 
Strategic Development Strategy Policy 1 (SD1) - Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development 
1. In accordance with the Government's National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), when the 
Council considers development proposals it will take a positive approach that reflects the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the NPPF. It will always work 
proactively with applicants jointly to find solutions which mean that proposals for sustainable 

Page 119



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

development can be approved wherever possible, and to secure development that improves the 
economic, social and environmental conditions in the area. 
2. Planning applications that accord with the policies in this Local Plan (and, where relevant, with 
polices in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 
3. Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of date at the 
time of making the decision then the Council will grant permission unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise - taking into account whether: 
- Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole; or, 
 
- Specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be restricted. 
 
Strategic Development Strategy Policy 5 (SD5) - Natural, Built and Historic Environment 
To ensure the conservation and enhancement of the environment alongside meeting the challenge 
of climate change the Council will: 
1. Conserve and enhance the natural, built and historic environment through a variety of methods 
including: 
3. Conserve and enhance the historic environment through a variety of methods including: 
a. Celebrating, promoting and enabling access, where appropriate, to the historic environment. 
c. Intervening to enhance the historic environment especially where heritage assets are identified as 
being at risk. 
d. Supporting proposals which positively respond to and enhance heritage assets. 
e. Recognising the area's industrial heritage, including early history, railway and engineering heritage 
and the area's World War II contribution. 
4. Priorities for interventions to conserve and enhance the historic environment include the 
conservation areas of Stockton and Yarm, assets associated with the route of the Stockton & 
Darlington railway of 1825, the branch line to Yarm and associated structures, and assets identified 
as being at risk. These assets, along with Preston Park, are also the priorities for celebrating the 
historic environment. 
 
Strategic Development Strategy Policy 8 (SD8) - Sustainable Design Principles 
1. The Council will seek new development to be designed to the highest possible standard, taking 
into consideration the context of the surrounding area and the need to respond positively to the: 
a. Quality, character and sensitivity of the surrounding public realm, heritage assets, and nearby 
buildings, in particular at prominent junctions, main roads and town centre gateways; 
b. Landscape character of the area, including the contribution made by existing trees and 
landscaping; 
c. Need to protect and enhance ecological and green infrastructure networks and assets; 
d. Need to ensure that new development is appropriately laid out to ensure adequate separation 
between buildings and an attractive environment; 
e. Privacy and amenity of all existing and future occupants of land and buildings; 
f. Existing transport network and the need to provide safe and satisfactory access and parking for all 
modes of transport; 
g. Need to reinforce local distinctiveness and provide high quality and inclusive design solutions, and 
h. Need for all development to be designed inclusively to ensure that buildings and spaces are 
accessible for all, including people with disabilities. 
2. New development should contribute positively to making places better for people. They should be 
inclusive and establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive 
and comfortable places to live, work and visit. 
 
MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Principle of Development 
 

Page 120



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

18. Policy SD5 aims to conserve and enhance the natural, built and historic environment through a 
variety of methods, and part 3(e) recognises the areas industrial heritage including its railway 
and engineering heritage. 

 
19. The proposed development clearly recognises this, owing to its siting on the former Wright 

Headsons yard and the locomotive having been built at the site. It is fitting that it should be sited 
here. The siting of the locomotive here also celebrates the 200 years of the Railways which is an 
important part of Stockton’s heritage.  Accordingly, there is strong policy support for the proposal 
and the principle of development is therefore considered to be acceptable. 

 
Visual Impact 

20. Paragraph 131 of The National Planning Policy Framework states that the creation of high 
quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and 
development process should achieve.  

 
21. Paragraph 135 (d) goes on to stating that it requires new development to establish or maintain a 

strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, building types and materials to 
create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit. 

 
22. Moreover, planning polices SD3 and SD8 within the adopted Local Plan encourages high 

standards of design. They set out new development should be suitable to the context of the 
surrounding area and be of an appropriate style, proportion, and materials. Consideration should 
be given to the context of the surrounding area and the need to respond positively to the quality, 
character, and sensitivity of the surrounding public realm. 

 
23. The roundabout is an open, flat site within a commercial business area and there are no dwellings 

within close proximity.  It is considered that the siting of the engine here would significantly 
contribute to the sense of place of this area, as it would serve as an echo of the former industry 
of the area. It is considered that the development would introduce  an attractive and distinctive 
feature to the street scene, and one that wholly relates to its immediate history as the former 
Head Wrightson’s site and also, more generally as part of the 200 years of the railway 
celebrations. 

 
24. It is not unexpected to see roundabouts with sculptures and statues on them, there are others in 

the Borough for example the Spitfire at Thornaby, the Deer sculpture at Wynyard and the Anchor 
at the bottom of Prince Regent Street and they are all considered to be positive additions to the 
streetscapes of their areas. 

 
25. The erection of the plinth and the siting of the steam engine on top is considered to significantly 

enhance the character and appearance of this part of Thornaby.  
 
26. The proposal accords with Policies SD3 and SD8 of the Local Plan and guidance contained 

within the National Planning Policy Framework (2024) 
 

CONCLUSION 
27. In view of the above considerations, there is considered to be strong compliance with planning 

policies and the proposals will result in a positive contribution to the overall street scene. 
Consequently, it is recommended that the application be approved with conditions for the 
reasons specified in the report. 

 
Director of Finance, Development and Business Services 
Contact Officer Wendy Thompson   Telephone No    01642 528326 
 
WARD AND WARD COUNCILLORS 
 

Page 121



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Ward   Mandale & Victoria 
Ward Councillor  Councillor Richard Eglington 
Ward Councillor  Councillor Nathan Gale 
 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Financial Implications:  
No known implication other than the associated costs of implementation/maintenance.  
 
Environmental Implications: 
The proposed development will result in some positive visual improvements to the area as detailed 
within the report.   
 
Human Rights Implications: 
The provisions of the European Convention of Human Rights 1950 have been taken into account in 
the preparation of this report. 
 
Community Safety Implications: 
The provisions of Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 have been taken into account in 
the preparation of this report. 
 
Background Papers 
National Planning Policy Framework  
Stockton on Tees Local Plan Adopted 2019 
Application File  
 

Page 122



Appendix 1 – location Plan  
Application Number 25/1665/LA 

Erection of a 1.50 metre brick/concrete base including placement of a Coffee Pot Engine 
atop (Planting of perimeter boundary hedge) at Sponsored Roundabout Junction Council Of 
Europe Boulevard University Boulevard Thornaby 

 

 

 

 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 124



Appendix 2– Site Plan  
Application Number 25/1665/LA 

Erection of a 1.50 metre brick/concrete base including placement of a Coffee Pot Engine 
atop (Planting of perimeter boundary hedge) at Sponsored Roundabout Junction Council Of 
Europe Boulevard University Boulevard Thornaby 

 

 

 

 

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 126



Appendix 3– Proposed elevations  
Application Number 25/1665/LA 

Erection of a 1.50 metre brick/concrete base including placement of a Coffee Pot Engine 
atop (Planting of perimeter boundary hedge) at Sponsored Roundabout Junction Council Of 
Europe Boulevard University Boulevard Thornaby 

 

 

 

 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 128



Appendix 4– Image of Coffee Pot  
Application Number 25/1665/LA 

Erection of a 1.50 metre brick/concrete base including placement of a Coffee Pot Engine 
atop (Planting of perimeter boundary hedge) at Sponsored Roundabout Junction Council Of 
Europe Boulevard University Boulevard Thornaby 

 

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 130



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 
 

Appeal Decision  
Site visit made on 15 July 2025  
by L N Hughes BA (Hons) MSc MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 22nd August 2025  

 
Appeal Ref: APP/H0738/W/25/3362277 
Land south of Woodland View, The Green, Egglescliffe, Stockton-on-Tees 
TS16 9DB  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Ms Julie Henderson against the decision of Stockton-on-Tees Borough 
Council. 

• The application Ref is 24/1609/FUL. 

• The development proposed is the conversion of 2 existing barns to 1 detached dwelling and 1 
detached dwelling with attached annex, with demolition of existing huts. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. The application form site address refers to land ‘south of’ Woodland View, but the 
decision notice and appeal form refer to land ‘west of’. As the main portion of the 
site and the associated woodland mitigation area lie to the south of the dwelling of 
Woodland View, I have therefore used the application form address. 

3. The appellant’s appeal submission evidence included 3 plans not before the 
Council at the time of its determination1. They do not amend the proposal, but seek 
to clarify the relationships between the buildings, and with nearby consented sites. 
The Council has not objected to the acceptance of these plans.  

4. A Bat Risk Assessment Report2 was also only submitted at appeal stage. The 
Council stated that it has no further comment to make on this due to it being new 
information unavailable at the time of the decision. However, it is very common to 
include additional reports at appeal stage to attempt to overcome the reasons for 
refusal. The Council and interested parties have had the opportunity to comment 
upon all of the appellant’s appeal evidence. The Bat Report does not evolve the 
parameters of the scheme, and therefore accepting it would comply with paragraph 
16.1 of the ‘Procedural Guide: Planning appeals – England’. I have therefore 
accepted the new plans and Bat Report into the evidence, in accordance with the 
substantive and procedural tests of the Holborn Studios Ltd judgement3, with no 
parties prejudiced in the interests of natural justice. 

 
1 Combined Proposed South Elevation, 2083/APP/09, February 2025; Proposed Plot 1 Cross Section, 2083/APP/11, February 
2025; Location Plan Showing Previously Approved Schemes, 2083/APP/10'O', February 2025. 
2 Ecosurv Ltd, 23/01/2025 
3 Holborn Studios Ltd v The Council of the London Borough of Hackney [2017] EWHC 2823 (Admin) 

Page 131

Agenda Item 9

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0738/W/25/3362277

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Main Issues 

5. The main issues are the effect of the proposed development on: 

• the character and appearance of the area, with particular regard to the 
preservation or enhancement of the Egglescliffe Conservation Area; 

• biodiversity, with particular regard to the extent of Biodiversity Net Gain; 

• the living conditions of the new occupiers, with particular regard to privacy; and 

• the protected species of bats. 

Reasons 

Character and Appearance  

6. The site comprises a driveway alongside the dwelling and garden of Woodland 
View, one of a pair of semi-detached properties, with the main part of the site 
encompassing parts of a large paddock to its south. It contains a small group of 
agricultural buildings/outbuildings. Two of these would be demolished, with the 
main two buildings being converted to dwellings.  

7. The property lies within the Egglescliffe CA, and so I have a statutory duty under 
section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing its character 
or appearance. The Framework Section 16 also requires that great weight should 
be given to the conservation of designated heritage assets. The Stockton-on-Tees 
Borough Council Local Plan (LP) Policy HE2 reiterates the Framework guidance, 
and confirms that proposals should positively respond to and conserve and 
enhance heritage assets, in a manner appropriate to their significance. The 
Framework paragraph 135 also requires developments to be sympathetic to local 
character and history, and to maintain a strong sense of place.  

8. The significance of the CA arises from the village’s planned medieval origins, with 
original long, narrow plots still evident. It has largely escaped modernisation and 
redevelopment, allowing retention of its rural identity as an intact Georgian village 
around a central green surrounded by agricultural land. The Egglescliffe 
Conservation Area Appraisal4 identifies that the pleasant Georgian buildings, the 
mature trees on the green, and the tucked away location away from main roads, 
create one of the most pleasant villages in the North East. It contains numerous 
listed buildings. 

9. The CA is also different from most others because it includes a significant amount 
of green space surrounding the main built form. This includes the whole of the 
paddock within which the appeal site lies. These spaces contribute towards the CA 
significance in protecting its historic character and appearance.  

10. Much of this greenspace including the appeal site is also located within a ‘green 
wedge’ as identified on the LP Policies Map. The LP Policy ENV6(4)(b) identifies 
that development within green wedges will only be supported where it would not 
adversely impact on local character or the separate identity of communities.  

11. The barns are not locally listed. The appellant asserts that they meet local listing 
criteria, because historic mapping identifies barn 1 to date between 1898 and 

 
4 Ref 09-CO5, within ‘Supplementary Planning Document 4: Conservation Areas and Historic Environment Folder’ (2006) 

Page 132

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0738/W/25/3362277

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

1916, and barn 2 between 1939 and 1967, with a functional link to the 150 years of 
horticultural nursery use on the site and surrounds. 

12. Although in a reasonable state of preservation, and evidence of some relationship 
to traditional or historic industrial processes, no specific features other than their 
age have been identified to indicate this former nursery use. They are no longer 
surrounded by glasshouses, which appear to have been removed on the site itself 
by 1939. By 1967 the Woodland View dwelling and its conjoined neighbour were 
built, pig styes were added to barn 1, and a building consistent with the Nissan Hut 
was in place alongside barn 2. These factors do not indicate ongoing horticulture 
use. The 1972 CA designation does not infer that all buildings within it hold specific 
historic merit, especially because in this instance the boundary was broad to 
encompass the series of open fields. By 1982 there had been removal of all the 
glasshouses within the appeal site paddock, and some others to the north east. 

13. Numerous distinctive field patterns and layouts are still evident such that the rural 
history can be understood, even were the appeal site buildings to be removed. 
Furthermore, the conversions would use profile roof sheeting, not tiles as were 
originally present on barn 1. The cedral cladding does not link to any historic 
wooden facades identified, indeed, barn 2 had no sides until some point after 
1975. On this basis, I find no benefit to the CA or the wider character of the area 
from the proposal’s function in retaining the barns to avoid ongoing deterioration or 
loss. This is also the position taken by the Council’s Conservation Officer.  

14. I also concur with the Council that the other structures to be demolished are read 
within the context of the wider agricultural landscape, such that there would be no 
particular benefit from their removal.  

15. The new dwellings would retain strong agricultural design cues through their form 
and proposed materials. However, they would also introduce a modern material 
palette which would not reflect the existing CA buildings, and insert modern 
fenestration of a Juliette balcony and feature glazed entrance and rooflights. In 
periods of low light there would be internal light spill. Importantly, it would also 
introduce significant external domestic paraphernalia, including parked vehicles, 
garden equipment, lighting, and new boundaries, alongside significant 
hardstanding. This would amplify the incongruous change in character from the 
traditional rural landscape to one specifically modern and domestically urban.  

16. The dwellings would extend beyond the rear of the original planned plot. To some 
extent this would harm the legibility of the medieval plan, but would also act as 
piecemeal erosion into the green wedge, in being detached from the main built 
form of the village envelope and its rear domestic building line. As such, the 
proposal would compromise the village’s integrity and character. 

17. I acknowledge the recent approval of a dwelling to the north of plot 1 and 
immediately adjacent to the site’s access drive5. However, although this physically 
brings the appeal buildings closer to other residential development, that other site 
is north of the green wedge, and set within the historic domestic village envelope. 
The appellant also identifies two other CA sites which have each been recently 
approved for 4 dwellings6. However, they consolidate buildings within historic 
former farmsteads set within the main village envelope. Again therefore, I find their 

 
5 22/2292/FUL 
6 22/1656/FUL, 20/2296/FUL 

Page 133

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0738/W/25/3362277

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

context within the built form of the village and the CA to be sufficiently different 
such that they are not determinative in this case, and do not act to outweigh the 
direct harm I have identified.  

18. There is existing mature vegetation screening, and the proposal would incorporate 
additional further planting, with views across the site restricted to neighbouring 
properties and glimpses from vantage points further away. Nonetheless, this does 
not mitigate the occurrence of intrinsic harm to the CA.  

19. The nearest listed buildings lie approximately 80m to the north along Church 
Road/Butts Lane. I concur with the Council that the proposal would not cause 
harm to their respective settings, due to the intervening separation distance, and 
very limited views of the appeal site in any shared views.  

20. In totality, I find that the proposal would cause harm to the character and 
appearance of the area, and would fail to preserve or enhance the CA. As such it 
would conflict with the LP Policies SD8 and SD5, which together and amongst 
other matters specify that proposals should conserve and enhance the built and 
historic environment, respond positively to the character and sensitivity of heritage 
assets and the landscape character of the area, and reinforce local distinctiveness. 
It would also conflict with aspects of the LP Policies ENV6 and HE2 relating to the 
green wedge and the CA as a heritage asset, as already outlined above.  

21. The proposal would thus cause less than substantial harm to the significance of 
the CA as a designated heritage asset, within the upper range of that spectrum of 
harm to which the Framework paragraph 212 requires that I give great weight. The 
Framework paragraph 215 requires less than substantial harm to the significance 
of the CA to be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, also reiterated 
in the LP Policy HE2. I therefore return to this matter within my Planning Balance.  

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) 

22. The Planning Statement and Design and Access Statement identifies the proposal 
to be exempt from BNG requirements. This is firstly suggested because less than 
25sqm of on-site habitat would be impacted, with no on-site linear habitat impacts. 
However, the application form identifies the site area as 0.146ha. Although some 
of this comprises the buildings’ footprints, there is no clear indication that less than 
25sqm of the site’s grass cover would be affected. As such, the BNG de minimis 
exemption does not apply for this reason. 

23. Secondly, the development is suggested as exempt due to meeting the 
requirements of self-build and custom build. Only very minimal information was 
provided in support of this position, whereby the dwellings would be occupied by 
the two children and their families of the current residents of Woodland View, who 
themselves will occupy the dependant relatives’ annex. 

24. However, the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) clarifies that relevant authorities 
must be satisfied that the initial owner of the home will have primary input into its 
final design and layout7. Homes purchased prior to construction and without input 
into the design and layout from the buyer, are not considered to meet the self-build 
definition. Clause (A2) of the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 (‘the 
Act’) (as amended by the Housing and Planning Act 2016 and the Levelling Up 
and Regeneration Act 2023) also specifically identifies that self-build does not 

 
7 Paragraph: 016 Reference ID: 57-016-20210208, Revision date: 08 02 2021 

Page 134

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0738/W/25/3362277

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

include the building of a house on a plot acquired from a person, wholly or mainly 
to plans or specifications decided or offered by that person.  

25. Two dwellings are proposed as self-build, but there is only one appellant. As such, 
there is no evidence that occupants of both dwellings have had primary input into 
the final design, in order to meet the Act’s self-build definition. Furthermore, there 
is no mechanism such as a legal agreement to prevent the dwellings from being 
sold as market housing. Self-build is not referenced in the description of 
development, with market housing stated on the application form. Although I have 
no reason to doubt the appellant’s general intention in this regard, it is therefore 
insufficient for the purposes of the Act and for granting permission.  

26. As such, the proposal is statutorily required to demonstrate at least 10% BNG in 
mitigation, alongside general biodiversity protection and enhancement required by 
the Framework paragraph 187(d) and the LP Policy ENV5.  

27. The red line site area includes 0.13ha proposed as new woodland to address 
nutrient neutrality issues, which could therefore have a dual BNG purpose. There 
would also be new hedgerow planting incorporating new trees. However, although 
I could infer that this would provide higher biodiversity than the current grassed 
areas, no detailed information is before me, such as a pre-development 
biodiversity value, detailed future habitat plan, or statutory biodiversity metric. The 
PPG confirms such details should be provided8.  

28. A grant of permission would assume the statutory biodiversity gain condition would 
be in place, which would not be possible without the necessary information at this 
stage. It would therefore be an inappropriate approach to defer BNG consideration 
entirely to condition stage. Overall therefore, the proposal would demonstrate 
insufficient BNG. It would conflict with the statutory BNG requirements, the 
Framework paragraph 187(d), and the LP Policy ENV5. 

Living Conditions 

29. The Sustainable Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
paragraph 4.8.2 identifies an expectation for a minimum of 21.0m separation to be 
provided between the main habitable room windows on facing residential 
properties. The separation distance between the two dwellings would only be 
8.0m. However, the only fenestration on the relevant dwelling 2 elevation would be 
the main door and obscured glazing, such that no direct overlooking between the 
two dwellings would occur.  

30. The SPD also normally expects a gap of at least 11.0m where main habitable 
room windows will face a blank gable, which is effectively the scenario for dwelling 
1. However, its lounge, and the dining room and lounge of its annex, would also 
benefit from additional windows on other elevations. The snug and the study would 
only have small high level windows, but this is in some part a function of their 
purpose, and would also only comprise a small proportion of the overall habitable 
space. I therefore find there would be no issues of restricted outlook.  

31. The southern elevation of each dwelling would face their own main garden area. 
The SPD paragraph 4.8.1 states that private garden areas should not be subject to 
an inordinate level of overlooking from public spaces or neighbouring properties. 
The intervening rear boundary treatment proposes only a low timber post and rail 

 
8 Paragraph: 005 Reference ID: 74-005-20240214 

Page 135

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0738/W/25/3362277

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

fence, which would not allow for any garden privacy. However, this is 
understandable because the proposed occupants are at this point expected to be 
extended family members. Any other future occupants could very likely install 
boundary treatment of a more typical height and type. Subject to this, there would 
be no overlooking from ground floor height between neighbouring gardens.  

32. Dwelling 2 would have a Juliet style balcony with patio doors at first floor. 
Compared to a normal window, this arrangement would provide a wider expanse 
of view and a likely higher attractiveness of looking out of the window for longer 
periods of time. However, views across the neighbouring garden would be oblique, 
and would not all be readily seen due to the slight forward positioning of dwelling 
2. Oblique views over neighbouring gardens are typical for residential 
developments, and the separation distance is such that this would not be 
dominating or intrusive even for future unrelated occupants.  

33. Overall therefore, the proposal would provide acceptable living conditions for the 
new occupiers. It would comply with the LP Policy SD8(e) which requires 
development to respond positively to the privacy and amenity of all future 
occupants. 

Protected Species - Bats 

34. A previous application on the site9 was supported by a Bat Risk Assessment and 
Bat Survey Report dating from July 2020. An updated Bat Risk Assessment 
Report accompanied the appeal, as identified in my Preliminary Matters. 

35. The Bat Report assesses Building 2 as having negligible bat roost suitability. 
Building 1 was assessed as having low bat roost suitability, at the lower end of the 
spectrum covering opportunistic roosting at best. The majority of its features fall 
under the negligible category definition, of bats sometimes using unsuitable 
features on occasion. It concludes that in considering the previous bat activity 
survey which concluded no emergences from the building and so no risk to roosing 
bats, and the updated endoscope inspection, a further bat activity survey is 
unnecessary with regard to current guidance on structures assessed as having low 
bat roost suitability. A more proportionate approach would be to undertake any 
demolition or destructive works under a Precautionary Working Method Statement. 

36. The Council referenced that the 2020 Bat Report identified that the site was 
acknowledged to be a great foraging commute for common and soprano 
pipistrelles, such that mitigation measures were suggested. Although this was not 
highlighted in the Bat Report for the appeal, mitigation measures could similarly be 
imposed via conditions. 

37. Overall therefore, I see no reason to find contrary to the updated Bat Report. 
Subject to the imposition of relevant conditions relating to precautionary measures 
during construction works, bat sensitive lighting, and foraging mitigation measures, 
I find no harm to bats would arise. The proposal would therefore comply with the 
LP Policy ENV5 in this regard, which seeks amongst other matters to protect 
biodiversity and priority species. 

 
9 21/1436/FUL, Conversion of 2no existing outbuildings to 1no detached dwelling and 1no detached dwelling with attached annex 
(demolition of existing huts), refused February 2024. 

Page 136

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0738/W/25/3362277

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          7 

Other Matters 

38. The Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar 
site is afforded protection under the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 as amended (the Habitat Regulations). Permission may only be 
granted after having ascertained that the proposed development would not affect 
the integrity of this, or any other protected site. 

39. Only very limited conservation features of the sites have been provided, which 
would not enable me as the Competent Authority to undertake the required 
Appropriate Assessment, were I minded to allow this appeal. Moreover, the 
appellant did not respond to the Natural England query as to why their Nutrient 
Neutrality Budget Calculator departed from the default value for the ‘Wastewater 
treatment works N permit’ cell.  

40. Nonetheless, as I am dismissing the appeal on other grounds, the outcome of 
further consideration of the proposed nutrient neutrality mitigation would not be 
determinative. I therefore do not need to address any further whether the proposed 
woodland planting area and relevant planning conditions would adequately 
mitigate the proposal’s effect. 

Planning Balance and Conclusion 

41. The Council is only able to demonstrate 4.33 years supply of deliverable housing 
sites. This was publicised on the Council’s website on 3rd April 2025, after the 
appeal was submitted. However, I have already found above that the proposal 
would cause harm to a designated heritage asset. The Framework paragraph 
11(d)(i) footnote 7 refers that the application of the Framework policies that protect 
areas or assets of particular importance provides a strong reason for refusing a 
proposed development. I find the impact on the Egglescliffe CA would thus be 
such a reason. Accordingly, the proposal does not benefit from the Framework 
presumption in favour of sustainable development as a material consideration.  

42. Nonetheless, the benefits of the proposal’s contribution to the housing supply may 
still be capable of outweighing the harm when undertaking the planning balance. 
The Framework seeks to significantly boost the supply of homes and make 
effective use of land. The public benefits of the proposal include the contribution of 
2 dwellings towards the Borough’s housing supply, which is important, albeit 
small-scale. The Framework Paragraph 73 does further identify that small and 
medium sized sites can make an important contribution to meeting the housing 
requirement of an area, and gives specific support to the development of windfall 
sites. The principle of residential development would be generally in accordance 
with the LP Policy SD3, because the site lies within the village’s development 
limits. Overall, I give moderate weight to the benefits of the new dwellings. 

43. The appellant also suggests Framework paragraph 125 support in giving 
substantial weight to the value of using suitable brownfield land within settlements 
for homes. However, the site is an agricultural paddock, and the Framework Annex 
2 Glossary identifies that previously developed land excludes land last occupied by 
agricultural buildings. 

44. There would also be small-scale economic and social benefits associated with the 
construction and occupation of the dwellings. This would include the social 
benefits of allowing local families to move onto the one site, albeit this would in 

Page 137

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0738/W/25/3362277

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          8 

part be a private benefit, and would not be certain. In this regard I also note the 
letters of support from local residents, and who also identify they are keen to see 
the buildings restored to use. I give minor cumulative weight to these benefits. 

45. Overall, in applying the Framework paragraph 215, the great weight to which I give 
the less than substantial harm to the CA would outweigh the proposal’s public 
benefits. The proposal would therefore not preserve the significance of the 
Egglescliffe CA, and would cause considerable harm to the character and 
appearance of the area. It would thus conflict with several development plan 
policies as already identified above.  

46. I also found insufficient evidence that the 10% statutory BNG could be achieved. 
The PPG identifies the statutory provisions as an important material consideration, 
which represents the appropriate national approach towards, and benchmark for, 
biodiversity gains in planning10. There is a statutory and development plan conflict 
in this regard, and I give this matter significant weight. Even were I to accept that 
there would likely be some unquantified biodiversity benefit from the proposed 
planting, I can only afford this minor weight in favour. 

47. In conclusion therefore, the proposed development would conflict with the 
development plan as a whole. With no other material considerations outweighing 
this conflict, for the reasons given above I conclude that the appeal is dismissed. 

 

L N Hughes  

INSPECTOR 

 
10 Paragraph: 020 Reference ID: 74-020-20240214 

Page 138

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 

 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 8 August 2025 

by Mrs Chris Pipe BA(Hons), DipTP, MTP, MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 26 August 2025 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/H0738/D/25/3366240 
25 St. Brides Court, Ingleby Barwick, Stockton-on-Tees TS17 5HF 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 
against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr David Grange against the decision of Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council. 

• The application Ref is 24/2143/RET. 

• The development proposed is erection of 0.9 metre high fence to the front. 
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed, and planning permission is granted for the erection of 0.9 
metre high fence to the front at 25 St. Brides Court, Ingleby Barwick, Stockton-on-
Tees TS17 5HF in accordance with the terms of the application, Ref 24/2143/RET 
and the plans submitted with it. 

Procedural Matter 

2. The application made clear that the scheme had been submitted retrospectively, 
the development was in place at the time of my site visit I have dealt with the 
proposal accordingly. 

3. The Council changed the description of development from that referenced in the 
application form, I note that the appellant also uses this on the appeal submission.  
I have adopted a version of the revised description of development omitting 
reference to the proposal being retrospective. 

Main Issue 

4. The main issue in this appeal is the effect of the development on the character and 
appearance of the area. 

Reasons 

5. The appeal site is a detached two storey property within a predominantly residential 
area, which has an open plan appearance.  I understand that permitted 
development rights have been removed restricting the installation of boundary 
enclosures.   

6. The appeal site sits at the head of a cul-de-sac, with the fence located along the 
shared front boundary with the neighbouring property No. 23 St. Brides Court.  The 
fence is a simple black thin metal railing.  Due to the design, scale and location the 
fence does not restrict views and does not result in the diminishment of the open 
plan characteristics of the area.    

Page 139

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0738/W/25/3366240 

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

7. With regard to the potential precedent for similar proposals, should the proposed 
development be allowed.  Each development must be considered on its individual 
merits, and I have reached my conclusion based on the individual merit of the 
appeal proposal. 

8. I find that the development does not harm the character and appearance of the 
area.  There is no conflict with Policy SD8 of the Stockton-on-Tees Borough 
Council Local Plan (2019) which seeks amongst other things to ensure 
developments are of high-quality design having regard to the local context. 

9. There is also no conflict with the National Planning Policy Framework (2024) which 
seeks to ensure developments are of good design appropriate and sympathetic to 
their surroundings. 

Conclusion  

10. For the above reasons I conclude that this appeal should be allowed.  

11. Conditions relating to standard time limit for commencement of development, plans 
to be adhered to and materials to be used are not relevant or necessary as the 
development is complete. 

Chris Pipe 

INSPECTOR 

Page 140

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 
 

Appeal Decision  
Site visit made on 16 June 2025  
by J Symmons BSc (Hons) CEng MICE 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 31 July 2025 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/H0738/W/25/3358703 
Viewley Hill Farm, Old Mill Lane, Billingham, Stockton-on-Tees TS20 1PQ  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr and Mrs Kansal against the decision of Stockton-on-Tees Borough 
Council. 

• The application Ref is 22/1653/FUL. 

• The development proposed is described as ‘Conversion of existing stable block to 2no holiday lets to 
include solar panels, siting of 10no glamping pods to include associated access and the creation of 
hardstanding area to the rear’. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. The Council and the appellant have agreed an amended development description 
from that shown on the application form. I have used this amended description in 
the header above. I have however, removed the word ‘retrospective’ from the 
description as it is not an act of development. 

3. The appellant and the Council refer to parts of the development being 
retrospective. For clarity, as only a small element of the proposal has been detailed 
as being completed, I have considered the appeal as proposed development and 
on the drawings submitted. 

4. The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) was updated in 
December 2024. Insofar as it is directly relevant to the appeal, there are no 
substantive changes. As a result, I have determined the appeal on the information 
provided and the parties have not been prejudiced by this. However, for 
correctness I have used the paragraph numbering and any related changes in the 
update where applicable. 

5. The Council noted that the farmhouse annexe is not being used in accordance with 
its granted consent and indicated that this matter was being passed to its planning 
compliance to investigate. However, this is a matter for the Council and this appeal 
has been considered on the proposal before me. 
 
 
 
 

Page 141

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0738/W/25/3358703

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Main Issues 

6. The main issues in the determination of the appeal are: 

• whether or not the appeal site is an appropriate location for the proposed 
development, having regard to the development plan and other material 
considerations;  

• the effect the proposed development would have on the living conditions of the 
occupants of the neighbouring properties with regard to noise, nuisance and 
general disturbance; and 

• the effect the proposed development would have on the Teesmouth and 
Cleveland Coast Special Protection Area and Ramsar Site with regard to 
whether the scheme would achieve nutrient neutrality. 

Reasons 

Location 

7. The appeal site is an approximate 14-hectare farm stead located along an 
approximate 0.9 mile narrow lane. The Council advises that the surrounding area is 
principally open countryside, and the appellant has not disputed this. The 
farmstead consists of a farmhouse with annexe, outbuildings and some associated 
fields. It is confirmed that much of the farmstead is currently used for agricultural 
purposes with the outbuildings being used as general stores and stabling. The 
appeal site is located close to a network of bridleways and public rights of way and 
more distantly to a cycle network.  

8. The proposal would consist of the conversion of an existing stable building to the 
rear of the farmhouse to two holiday lets and the siting of ten glamping pods in the 
fields.    

9. Policy SD1 of the Stockton-on-Tees Local Plan (LP) details the Council’s approach 
to sustainable development. Policy SD4 of the LP sets out the Council’s Economic 
Growth Strategy and, amongst other matters, the approach to sustainable tourism. 
This policy identifies a range of appropriate economic growth developments which 
would be supported within the countryside, and which cannot be located within the 
limits to development or is of an appropriate scale and does not harm the character 
and appearance of the countryside. This policy, amongst other matters, supports 
‘tourism proposals requiring a rural location’. LP Policy EG7 also supports and 
promotes the sustainable growth and expansion of both new and existing rural 
land-based businesses and enterprises. 

10. These policies are broadly consistent with the Framework with, amongst other 
matters, Paragraph 88 supporting sustainable rural tourism and leisure 
developments which respect the character of the countryside. Furthermore 
Paragraph 89 of the Framework also recognises that sites to meet local business 
needs in rural areas may have to be found adjacent to or beyond existing 
settlements, and in locations that are not well served by public transport. However, 
in these circumstances it is also stated that it will be important to ensure that 
development is sensitive to its surroundings, does not have an unacceptable 
impact on local roads and exploits any opportunities to make a location more 
sustainable (for example by improving the scope for access on foot, by cycling or 
by public transport). 

Page 142

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0738/W/25/3358703

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

11. It is advised that the proposal would offer visitor accommodation in a tranquil 
location with opportunities to access outdoor recreation and visitor attractions in the 
Tees Valley and County Durham. However, notwithstanding this, even with its 
closeness to the network of bridleways and public rights of ways, the appellant only 
identifies a small number of visitor attractions that would be within walking distance, 
and would not discourage journeys by foot. This includes Wynyard Village and 
Wynyard Hall and Gardens and the urban services and facilities on Station Road 
and Norton High Street. As such, walking to other tourist attractions in the area 
would not be an attractive option except to the most dedicated walkers.  

12. While there is a cycle network in the surrounding area, the proposal’s location 
would require cyclists to have to deviate a significant distance from the designated 
cycle routes. It is therefore likely that this would deter all but the more serious 
cyclists from using this mode of transport. 

13. It is further advised that there is a regular public transport service to a range of local 
services. However, little detail of this is provided. The nearest bus stop to the 
proposal is approximately 38 minutes walk away and this would not likely be a 
particularly attractive mode of transport for visitors to use. 

14. Overall, while it would be feasible for some visitors to travel to the proposal and 
visit a variety of the visitor attractions in the area by walking, cycling and using 
public transport, in all probability these modes of transport would not be attractive 
or used by the majority of the visitors. With little evidence to the contrary, it is likely 
that the proposal would result in the majority of visitors using a private car to 
access the outdoor recreation and visitor attractions in the Tees Valley and County 
Durham. Consequently, the proposal would not represent a sustainable tourism 
development. 

15. While visitors would tend to be on weekend/holiday breaks when visiting the 
proposal, there is little compelling evidence presented to show this would be 
sufficient to encourage the majority of visitors to use the sustainable transport 
options in preference to using a private car. There is also little to suggest that the 
longer daylight hours in summer would also discourage visitors from using a private 
car. Indeed, these conditions would, in all likelihood encourage many visitors to 
travel to more distant visitor attractions and, due to the limitations of the sustainable 
transport options, the use of a private car.   

16. I acknowledge that tourist accommodation is a widely accepted form of 
development, the proposal would be only approximately 1 kilometre from the 
nearby urban areas and Paragraph 110 of the Framework states that opportunities 
to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary between urban and rural areas 
and this should be taken into account. However, the Framework does not state that 
sustainable transport solutions should be ignored when considering rural locations, 
and while it is contended that the proposal can promote and take up sustainable 
transport modes, no substantive evidence has been presented to show how this 
would be achieved.  

17. Reference is made to the DfT National Travel Survey 2018 which confirms that 
80% of all trips of less than a mile are carried out on foot. However, this supports 
my view that the majority of visitors using the proposal would in all likelihood use an 
alternative mode of transport in preference to walking when travelling to the 
proposal and more distant visitor attractions.  

Page 143

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0738/W/25/3358703

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

18. The health benefits from walking are appreciated. However, there is little to suggest 
that without the proposal, visitors would not continue to take walks elsewhere and 
get the health benefits from this.  

19. In conclusion the proposed development would not represent a sustainable tourism 
development. It would conflict with LP Policies SD1, SD4 and EG7. It would also 
conflict with the sustainable development objectives set out in the Framework 
including Paragraph 11. 

Living conditions - noise, nuisance and general disturbance  

20. The narrow access lane to the appeal site also serves a small number of 
neighbouring properties. However, other than the contention that the existing and 
proposed development’s vehicle movements would be low, no detailed information 
such as a noise assessment has been provided.  

21. While the number of proposed holiday lets would be modest, in comparison to the 
number of existing neighbouring properties, it would represent a significant 
increase in properties using the lane. This would increase traffic movements along 
the lane and would inevitably increase noise and disturbance to some of the 
neighbouring properties from the existing situation. With no substantive evidence to 
the contrary, there is little to suggest that the living condition of the occupants of 
these properties would not be significantly harmed.  

22. Although it is stated that the proposal’s traffic impacts would be limited by the 
expected occupancy rates for holiday lets being in the region of 60% to 70%, this 
would not be the case during the peak occupancy periods. Furthermore, little 
compelling evidence has been presented to show that the proposal’s noise and 
disturbance risk would be adequately mitigated through the intermittent use of the 
access throughout the day, the low vehicle speeds on the access or the proposal’s 
guests using other forms of sustainable modes of transport. As such these aspects 
do not change my view regarding the harm the proposal would have. 

23. Due to the uncertainty regarding this matter, and limitations in potential mitigation 
on third party land should it be found to be required, I am not satisfied that a 
condition could be imposed that would meet the enforceable, precise and 
reasonable tests1 set out in the Framework. As such a condition cannot be used to 
secure this matter. 

24. Consequently, the proposal would adversely affect the living conditions of some of 
the occupants of nearby neighbouring properties with regard to noise, nuisance and 
general disturbance. It would conflict with Policy SD8 of the LP and Paragraphs 
135 and 187 of the Framework. These seek, amongst other matters, for new 
development to respond positively to the amenity of all existing occupants of land 
and buildings and to prevent unacceptable levels of noise pollution. 

Nutrient neutrality 

25. The appeal site is within the catchment of the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast 
Special Protection Area and Ramsar Site. It is agreed between the main parties 
that the proposal would increase residential accommodation, and this would have a 
significant adverse effect on the integrity of the habitat sites. 

 
1 Paragraph 57 of the Framework 

Page 144

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0738/W/25/3358703

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

26. However, the proposal would include mitigation to achieve nutrient neutrality. This 
would be achieved by an approximate 1.16 hectares of ‘Lowland’ field margins 
owned by the appellant being taken out of agricultural use and converted to 
‘Greenspace’ where the application of fertiliser and grazing would not be permitted. 
Furthermore, the proposal would ensure the ‘Greenspace’ mitigation would be 
managed and maintained by the appellant for perpetuity as part of the wider 
maintenance requirements for the holiday lets. To secure the mitigation, the 
appellant has proposed a planning condition be used and provides suggested 
wording for consideration. 

27. Under the Habitat Regulations2, I am the Competent Authority for the appeal and, if 
I was minded to grant planning permission for the proposal, then I would, amongst 
other matters, be required to consider the proposed mitigation in detail and have 
beyond all reasonable scientific doubt, that it would not have an adverse effect on 
the integrity of the habitat sites.  

28. In relation to this, while there is little doubt the calculated area being proposed for 
‘Greenspace’ would achieve nutrient neutrality, full details on how this mitigation 
would be managed and maintained for perpetuity has not been presented. The 
proposed planning condition includes the requirement that a Nutrient Mitigation 
Management and Maintenance Plan shall be prepared and approved by the 
Council prior to commencement of the development. However, this information is 
critical to confirm the proposed mitigation would maintain the integrity of the habitat 
sites. Without such details on how the ‘Greenspace’ would be demarcated on-site 
and protected, what monitoring regime would be undertaken and how costs 
associated with these aspects would be funded for perpetuity, I am not able to 
have, beyond all reasonable scientific doubt, that the proposed mitigation would be 
sufficient and acceptable. The above findings are supported by comments provided 
by Natural England. 

29. It is contended that the use of a planning condition to secure this matter is similar in 
structure to that used in the standard Biodiversity Net Gain condition. However, in 
legislative and regulative terms these are not directly comparable, and little 
evidence is provided to show otherwise. As such, this does not change the fact that 
I am not able to have beyond all reasonable scientific doubt that the proposed 
mitigation would be sufficient and acceptable. 

30. Based on the above, the proposed planning condition is not adequate to provide 
the certainty needed regarding this matter. I shall return to this matter in the 
planning balance at the end of my decision. 

Other Matters 

31. At the application stage the appellant referred to the proposal being farm 
diversification as supported by Policy EG7 of the LP. However, in the appellant’s 
appeal statement farm diversification is not considered in any detail.  
Notwithstanding this, Policy EG7 of the LP states that proposals for farm 
diversification must be accompanied by a comprehensive whole farm diversification 
plan, which establishes how the proposed change will assist in retaining the viability 
of a farm and its agricultural enterprise. No such plan has been provided, and it is 
not possible to conclude that the proposal would be farm diversification. 
Accordingly, the proposal would conflict with this aspect of the policy.   

 
2 Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). 

Page 145

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0738/W/25/3358703

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

32. While reference is made to some of the network of bridleways and public rights of 
way being affected by closures and maintenance, little detailed evidence has been 
presented to show these would either be permanent closures or that alternative 
routes would not be provided. Furthermore, reference is made to some of the 
routes being unlit and unsafe. However, such routes are not uncommon in rural 
locations and as most are separated from vehicular traffic, there is little to suggest 
they would be unsafe. Nevertheless, while the routes would be available and safe, 
they do not change my view that the majority of the proposal’s visitors would be 
highly dependent on using a private car.     

Planning balance and conclusion 

33. Reference is made to the proposal supporting the aims of the Tees Valley 
Destination Management Plan 2021-2026. The proposal would create tourist 
accommodation which would support visitor stays. This would provide financial 
benefits through job creation, construction and visitor expenditure. However, due to 
the proposal’s size and no economic or viability details to the contrary, these social 
and economic benefits are likely to be modest and they would only weigh 
moderately in favour of the proposal.  

34. In spite of the benefits, the proposal would not represent a sustainable tourism 
development and would significantly harm the living conditions of some of the 
neighbouring occupants in terms of noise and disturbance. These would 
significantly weigh against the proposal, and they would not be outweighed by the 
identified moderate benefits.  

35. In relation to the effect the proposal may have on nutrient neutrality, on the basis 
that the proposal would be unacceptable for other reasons there is no need for it to 
be considered in any further detail or for an appropriate assessment to be carried 
out as it would not change the overall decision. 

36. For the reasons given above, and having had regard to the matters raised, I 
conclude that the appeal should be dismissed. 

J Symmons  

INSPECTOR 
 

 
 
 

Page 146

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

	Agenda
	1 Evacuation Procedure
	4 Planning Protocol
	5 25/0672/FUL Land East Of Durham Lane, Eaglescliffe, Stockton On Tees
	Appendix 1 - Location plan
	Appendix 2: Infrastructure works

	6 24/0977/OUT  Little Maltby Farm, Low Lane, High Leven
	Appendix 1 - Location Plan
	Appendix 2 - Masterplan
	Appendix 3 - Access and tracking
	Appendix 4 - Parameters plan

	7 23/1111/COU  9 Portchester Close, Ingleby Barwick, Stockton-on-Tees
	August Committee report
	7 23/1111/COU - 9 Portchester Close, Ingleby Barwick, Stockton-on-Tees, TS17 5LQ - Change of use from residential (C3) to mixed use Commercial and Residential to allow for home business

	Appendix 1 - Location plan
	7 23/1111/COU - 9 Portchester Close, Ingleby Barwick, Stockton-on-Tees, TS17 5LQ - Change of use from residential (C3) to mixed use Commercial and Residential to allow for home business
	Appendix 1 9 Portchester



	8 25/1665/LA  Sponsored Roundabout Junction Council of Europe Boulevard, University Boulevard, Thornaby
	Appendix 1 - Location Plan
	Appendix 2 - Site plan
	Appendix 3 - Proposed elevations
	Appendix 4 - Image of the 'Coffee Pot'

	9 Appeals
	Appeals - Final
	Appeals - Final


